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ABOUT CMC REIT
ARAmRAERETES

REIT PROFILE

CMC REIT

China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China
Merchants Commercial REIT” or “CMC REIT”) is a real estate
investment trust constituted by the trust deed (“Trust Deed”)
entered into between China Merchants Land Asset Management
Co., Limited, the manager of CMC REIT (“REIT Manager” or
“Manager”), and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, the trustee
of CMC REIT (“Trustee”), on 15 November 2019. The units of
CMC REIT (“Units”, and each a “Unit”) were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 10
December 2019 (“Listing Date”).

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong on 22 June
2019, with a sole purpose of managing the assets of CMC REIT.
The REIT Manager is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Merchants Land Limited (stock code: 00978).

OUR MISSION

CMC REIT’s key objectives are to provide investors with stable and
sustainable distributions and to achieve long term capital growth.
This aim of providing attractive total returns will be achieved
by proactive management of the properties in the CMC REIT’s
portfolio.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS
REDERAEE
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS
RECEEBE
For the
o year ended
G 31 December 2019
2020 Relevant Period!
HZE
2020 12A31H 20194
IHFE i
Revenue (RMB’000) Was( AREFT) 370,125 28,759
Net property income (RMB’000) MEWSFEARETT) 273,943 17,688
Distributable income (RMB’000) AlIRA (AR T IT) 162,667 12,245
Payout ratio DIk E 100% 100%
Distribution per unit (HK$) BESEUHIKR(GETT) 0.1721 0.0122
Distribution per unit Yield? GRS BN IREE R 7.0% N/A
A iE A
Committed Distribution per unit (HK$) BEE BN IRERET) 0.2360 0.0142
Committed Distribution per unit Yield® GRS BN IREGHERE LS 9.6% N/A
iE A

Notes:

(1) 2019 Relevant Period: for the period from 15 November 2019 (date of
establishment of CMC REIT) to 31 December 2019.

) Based on the closing price of the units of CMC REIT on 31 December 2020 and
the distribution per unit for the year ended 31 December 2020.

(©)] Based on the closing price of the units of CMC REIT on 31 December 2020 and
the committed distribution per unit for the year ended 31 December 2020.

(1) 20194 #ARFHAR : 201911 A15H (FBHRREETES Y
RS2 B ER) Z£2019F12 A31 A IEHAR -

@ EREERRERTESN2020F12A31HES B WHE
REZE2020F12 A3 AL EEMBES B HIRFTE ©

@B ERRABRERTESN2020F12A31HES B WTHE
R#HZE2020F12A31 B ILFENEGES B HIREHEH ©

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
2020%12H31H 2019%12H31H

Total assets' (RMB million)

Net assets attributable to unitholders
(RMB million)

Net assets per unit attributable to

(AREBE&ET)

unitholders (RMB) NEEFEARE)
Value of Portfolio (RMB million) HeBEAREBREET)
Gearing Ratio? BERBEFER

mEE (AR¥BET)
AESBURAARIGEEFE

A BURAARIGEESE

7,207 8,078
3,910 3,787

3.47 3.36
6,644 6,609
27.9% 23.4%

Notes:

(1) The Unassigned Frontier Payables (as defined in the Offering Circular dated in
28 November 2019) amounted to RMB956 million was fully settled within the
year of 2020.

(2)  This is calculated by dividing total borrowings over total assets.
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DISTRIBUTION
7k

DISTRIBUTION

The total distributable income is the consolidated profit after
tax, before distribution to unitholders as adjusted to eliminate
the effects of the Adjustments as set out in the Trust Deed
(“Distributable Income”). For the details of the Adjustment,
please refer to the section headed “Distribution Statement”. The
Distributable Income for the Reporting Year is approximately
RMB162.67 million (2019: RMB12.25 million). The distribution
per unit to the unitholders of CMC REIT (“Unitholders”) for the
Reporting Year based on the Distributable Income, the Annualised
Provisional DPU (as defined in the Offering Circular), is HK$0.1721
(equivalent to approximately RMB0.1442 per unit).

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, CMC REIT is required to distribute
to the Unitholders no less than 90% of its Distributable income
of each financial period. The Manager intends to distribute to the
Unitholders 100% of the Distributable Income for 2020.

Pursuant to the DPU Commitment (as defined in the offering
circular of CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 (“Offering
Circular”)), Eureka Investment Company Limited (“Eureka”) has
undertaken to make a cash payment to the Trustee for the benefit
of CMC REIT if the Annualised Provisional DPU is less than the
Annualised Committed DPU (as defined in the Offering Circular)
for each Relevant Period (as defined in the Offering Circular), so
that in such circumstances the annualised distribution per Unit of
CMC REIT for the Relevant Period shall be equal to the Annualised
Committed DPU. The Annualised Committed DPU for year ended
31 December 2020 is HK$0.2360 per Unit.

Including cash payments received under the DPU Commitment,
the distribution per unit for the period from 1 July 2020 to 31
December 2020 (“Final Distribution per Unit”) is HK$0.1551.
Together with the interim distribution per unit of HK$0.0809, the
total distribution per unit for the Reporting Year amounted to
HK$0.2360, equivalent to a distribution yield of 9.6%, based on the
closing price of CMC REIT on 31 December 2020 (being HK$2.45).

The distribution for the period from 1 July 2020 to 31 December
2020 (“Final Distribution”) will be paid to entities regarded as
Unitholders as at the record date (as described in detail under the
heading of “CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF UNITHOLDERS”). As
such, those who are not regarded as Unitholders on the record
date have no entitlement to the Final Distribution.

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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DISTRIBUTION
7k

The Final Distribution will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The
exchange rate used to determine the Final Distribution was the
average central parity rate as announced by the People’s Bank of
China for the five business days preceding the date of this results
announcement for the Reporting Year (being RMB1: HK$1.1932).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF UNITHOLDERS

For the purpose of determining the distribution entitlement for the
Final Distribution, the register of the Unitholders will be closed
from Thursday, 8 April 2021 to Monday, 12 April 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of units will be
registered, and the record date will be on Monday, 12 April 2021.
In order to qualify for the Final Distribution, all unit certificates with
completed transfer forms must be lodged with the unit registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 7 April 2021. The payment of Final Distribution will be
made to the Unitholders on Friday, 28 May 2021.
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DEAR UNITHOLDERS,

On behalf of the management team of China
Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited, the REIT Manager of CMC REIT, |
hereby present the annual report of CMC REIT
or the year of 2020.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEREE

PERFORMANCE AND DISTRIBUTION

2020 marks the first financial year after the listing of CMC
REIT. Despite facing a number of major challenges during the
year, CMC REIT remained largely unaffected and achieved
stable performances in businesses. Total Revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (“Reporting Year”) amounted
to RMB370,125,000 while the Net Property Income was
RMB273,943,000.

During the Reporting Year, Distributable Income reached
RMB162,667,000 and the REIT Manager intends to distribute
100% of this amount to Unitholders. During the period from 1
July 2020 to 31 December 2020, the distribution per unit was
HK$0.1551. Together with the interim distribution per unit of
HK$0.0809, the total distribution per unit for the Reporting Year
amounted to HK$0.2360, equivalent to a distribution yield of 9.6%,
based on the closing price of CMC REIT on 31 December 2020.

To protect the interests of the Unitholders over the period where
CMC REIT’s operation might be affected by construction activity
related to Shenzhen Metro Line 12, which would be completed
by the end of 2022, and by the disruption of upgrading works
at our various properties, the committed distribution per unit of
CMC REIT is to be no less than HK$0.2360, HK$0.2541 and
HK$0.2614 for the years 2020 to 2022 respectively according to
the Offering Circular. By 2022, when Shenzhen Metro Line 12 and
all our asset enhancement projects have been completed, CMC
REIT is expected to continuing generate a stable rate of return for
Unitholders.

OPERATION REVIEW

COVID-19 infections surfaced and began to grow exponentially
shortly after the listing of CMC REIT. Despite the resulting
economic slowdown, extreme volatility in capital markets and a
worsening geopolitical situation, China managed to recover quickly
and became the first country among the world’s major economies
to achieve positive GDP growth thanks to the central government’s
strong epidemic prevention and control measures. This, coupled
with additional preferential policies conferred upon the Shenzhen
Special Economic Zone on the 40th anniversary of its establishment,
highlights the location advantage and development potential of
the Shekou Free Trade Zone where our properties are located.
In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic and various subsequent
headwinds, the REIT Manager calmly handled these challenges
with carefully planning, securing CMC REIT’s commendable
performance for 2020.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEREE

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

CMC REIT’s Property Portfolio compromises four office buildings
and one shopping centre in Shekou. The overall occupancy rate of
property portfolio dropped from 88.0% to 84.3% over the course
of 2020, a slight decrease of 3.7 percentage points. New Times
Plaza, our Grade A office building, achieved some growth in rental
rates for newly signed leases while maintaining an occupancy
rate above 90%. At the same time, the overall occupancy rate
of Garden City Shopping Centre rose substantially from 76% to
92%. While the occupancy of the three office buildings in Shekou
Net Valley fell by varying degrees, we expect to see rebound in
occupancy in 2021 with the arrival of a major new tenant. Given the
improved composite market rental rates of CMC REIT’s property
portfolio, its valuation has risen slightly against the backdrop of a
tough market environment.

To support higher rent rates and to maximize appreciation
potential, our operation team has been actively upgrading our
properties. The office buildings have completed repositioning and
the decoration of show floors is basically finished. The Garden City
shopping centre has also finished market repositioning exercise.
We aim to complete our asset enhancement of the investment
portfolio by the end of 2022, in time to take full advantage of the
convenience and appreciation potential upon the commencement
of Metro Line 12 that will run through our neighbourhood.

CMC REIT was recognized for its achievements by the industry
in 2020. It was added to the Morgan Stanley Capital International
(MSCI) China Small Cap Index in May 2020 and also bestowed the
“2020 Outstanding Listed Company Award” by The Hong Kong
Institute of Financial Analysts and Professional Commentators
Limited (IFAPC) in December 2020.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEREE

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY

In 2020, the vacancy rate of the Shenzhen office market remained
high while rentals continued to decline, but absorption during the
year increased by nearly 300% compared to 2019, indicating that
demand in the office market remained strong. Shenzhen'’s retail
market started to recover in the second half of 2020 and there was
a notable pick up in demand. Upgrading within shopping centers
took place across the city, driven by the rapidly developing subway
infrastructure. Entering a new year, 2021 will be an extremely
challenging year given the uncertainties surrounding COVID-19 and
the dual risks of geopolitical tensions and economic deceleration.
Nonetheless, we believe that there are opportunities to be found in
times of crisis. The resilience of REITs as an investment vehicle will
be more prominent in a slowing economy and they are also able to
prosper with the market as the economy recovers. Boosted by the
Mainland policies supporting the Greater Bay Area of China and
new policies in Hong Kong and China to encourage investment in
REITs, the long-term outlook for our REIT investing in the Greater
China Region is bright.

We are continually striving to improve the composition of our
portfolio. Our strategic goal to expand our presence into Beijing,
Shanghai, and other first-tier cities remains unchanged and
acquiring a new high-quality property is a top priority for the
near future. The Manager will continue to seek and consider
internal investment opportunities from within the China Merchants
Group as well as external ones. In the meantime, the Manager
will carry out in-depth analyses of the supply/demand dynamics
of different market segments to gauge the potential for yield
enhancing expansion in various regions. In the longer run, to build
geographical diversification for the investment portfolio, we will
also consider investments in strong second-tier cities which the
China Merchants Group has entered into. Furthermore, we intend
to focus more on retail properties which have higher rental income
and asset appreciation potential under proactive and efficient asset
management for a more balanced mix between office and retail for
the portfolio.

APPRECIATION

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to all Unitholders for their trust and support in China
Merchants Commercial REIT. | would also like to thank the
Manager and operations team for their efforts and contributions
over the last year.

HUANG Junlong
Chairman

16 March 2021
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EENREREEAERRE

Mr. Huang, aged 55, was appointed as a Director and the Chairman
of the REIT Manager on 11 July 2019.

Mr. Huang is a non-executive director of China Merchants Land
Limited (“CML”, stock code: 00978.HK) and the chief financial officer
of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK”,
stock code: 001979.SZ). Prior to that, he served successively as a
deputy general manager of the finance department of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Company Limited* (HBE R A TER AR A
al]) (currently known as CMSK), the chief financial officer of Shenzhen
China Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd.* (®IIBEAILEBR AR,
China Merchants Port Service Co., Ltd.* (HBREBHEMD AR A R]) and

. ' China Merchants Logistics Group Co., Ltd.* (BERWREEERA
CHAIRMAN AND 7)), the deputy in charge of the finance department of China Merchants

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR Group and the supervisor of China Merchants Property Development
FRERFYITES Co., Ltd.” (A BMERRARM AR AF) (‘CMPD”, a company
HUANG Junlong merged with CMSK in December 2016).

YR

Mr. Huang obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from Changsha
Institute of Communications in 1988, majoring in financial accounting
of engineering. He obtained a Master of Business Administration from
China Europe International Business School in 2008. Mr. Huang was
appraised and approved as a senior accountant of the PRC in 1998.
He obtained a Qualification Certificate for Secretary of the Board
of Directors” (EE®MEEZRES) issued by the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in 2015.
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EENGHREEABEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
HITES

GUO Jin

2P

Mr. Guo, aged 52, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019. He is
also one of the Responsible Officers and the Chief Investment and Asset
Management Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Guo has extensive experience in the real estate and financial
industry. He used to serve at Savills Investment Management (Hong
Kong) Limited from June 2014 to January 2019 where he took the
position of the Head of Greater China and was also a responsible
officer for Type 1, Type 4 and Type 9 regulated activities from August
2017 to January 2019. Prior to that, he worked at ICBC International
Holdings Limited (LiREIFEIFERAR A F) from November 2009 to
November 2012, where he took the position of the executive director
of the investment management department. He was a licensed
representative for Type 1 and Type 4 regulated activities at Standard
Chartered Securities (Hong Kong) Limited from August 2007 to
September 2009.

Mr. Guo obtained a Bachelor of Commerce and a Bachelor of Property
from the University of Auckland in September 2003. He was a CFA
charterholder and a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (Valuation).
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Ms. Liu, aged 52, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Ms. Liu is a non-executive director of CML and a director of China
Merchants Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd (stock code:
001914.S2). She is also the deputy general manager, the secretary
of the board of directors and the general manager of the China
Merchants Apartment department of CMSK. She was appointed as a
representative for securities affairs of CMPD in 2001 and the secretary
to the board of directors of CMPD from 2008 to 2015. Ms. Liu was
a member of the listing committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
from September 2016 to September 2018. She acted as an expert on
pre-listing review of corporate bonds of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

‘ e from May 2017 to May 2019. Previously, Ms. Liu also acted as an
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR independent director of Han’s Laser Technology Industry Group Co.,

[\

FHITES Ltd.* (R AR HHR A F, stock code: 002008) from
LIU Ning June 2017 to December 2018, Shenzhen Fenda Technology Co.,
2|28 Ltd.* (RYITHE R D B R A 7], stock code: 002681) from March

2015 to February 2019, Shenzhen Sunwin Intelligent Co., Ltd.* (&
N EASEIRDBIR AT, stock code: 300044) from September
2017 to February 2019 and Shenzhen Kingsino Technology Co., Ltd.*
CRYITEFHERERM AR AT, stock code: 002548) from May
2017 to February 2019, all of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Ms. Liu completed courses of Master of Business Administration
at Nankai University in 2000 and obtained a Master of Business
Administration from Macau University of Science and Technology in
2003. Ms. Liu holds a Qualification Certificate for Secretary of the
Board of Directors* (EFEWEEIRESE) issued by the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in October 2004.
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EENGHREEABEBE

»

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FHITES

YU Zhiliang

RER

Mr. Yu, aged 42, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Mr. Yu has been an executive director of CML since June 2012. He
has also served as the general manager of CML since August 2016.
Mr. Yu is responsible for the strategic development and the facilitating
and implementation of strategies and business plans of CML and its
subsidiaries. Mr. Yu was CML’s chief financial officer from June 2012
to August 2016. Mr. Yu has been a director of Champion Apex Limited
EFEE%BRRAT) since January 2013 and a director of Harvest Allied
Investments Limited (f& =% & A R 2 7)) since April 2013.

Mr. Yu used to serve as the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd.* (& B E (EF) AR A A) and Fujian
Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd.*(1& & & B 2% = i &= 53
& A R 2 @l ). Mr. Yu is a director of China Merchants Properties
Development Ltd. (HBEBEEZBR A 7)), Wahsheung Finance Ltd. (¥
BT # AR A ) and certain major subsidiaries of CML.

Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor of Administration (majoring in accounting)
from Xiamen University in 2001 and a Master of Business
Administration in Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in December 2009. Mr. Yu obtained the Qualification Certification of
Specialty and Technology for Accountancy issued by the Ministry of
Personnel of the PRC in May 2005.
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INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BAYFHITES

LIN Hua

MEE

Mr. Lin, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin established Shanghai HeYi Information Technology Limited
(EFmigE BRI REBR AT as its controlling shareholder. He
was appointed as an independent director and a member of the audit
and related transactions control committee of Industrial Bank Co.,
Ltd.* (B%$R77) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 601166) in July 2015, and has accumulated extensive
experience in reviewing financial statements of a public company since
then as part of his responsibilities pursuant to The Rules Governing
the Work of the Audit and Related Transactions Control Committee of
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.” (EZIRITIRMBR A RIEF S AR
S1e%|Z 8 TR E)). Mr. Lin has been an independent non-executive
director of Zhenro Properties Group Limited (IF &bz £ B AR A A
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6158) since
June 2019, and he is also an independent director of Generali China
Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (FEEEEEBEE(T 7] and an
adviser of King & Wood Mallesons. He used to work at Jin Yuan Capital
Management (Xiamen) Co., Ltd.* (&BEEAEE (EFY) AR A R) and
Xiamen Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (EFIMAIERLEBRAF) (a fund
of funds of the Xiamen Municipal People’s Government) as general
manager.

Mr. Lin obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
University of California, Irvine in June 2007. Mr. Lin is a Chartered
Financial Analyst.
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EENGHREEABEBE

INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BYFIITES

LIN Chen

mE

Mr. Lin, aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin has been the Chair of Finance and Stelux Professor in Finance
of The University of Hong Kong since 2013, the Associate Dean of the
Faculty of Business and Economics of The University of Hong Kong,
Director of the Centre for Financial Innovation and Development, and
the Associate Director of the HKU-SCF FinTech Academy. He is a
member of the Currency Board Sub-Committee of the Exchange Fund
Advisory Committee.

Mr. Lin obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from the South China
University of Technology in 2000 and an MBA (2004), M.A. (2005) and
Ph.D. (2006) from University of Florida.
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EENGHREEABBE

INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BYFHTES

LAU Sze Wan, Serena

2l

=+ o
AT ER

Ms. Lau, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Ms. Lau is the managing director of RHL Appraisal Limited. Ms. Lau
holds a Bachelor of Applied Science degree in Land Economics
from the University of Technology, Sydney, a Professional Diploma in
Corporate Governance & Directorship from the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and a Master of Business Administration degree from The
University of Hong Kong. Ms. Lau is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, a member of the China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
and Agents, an associate of the Australian Property Institute, a
professional member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors,
a Registered Professional Surveyors (General Practice) in Hong Kong
and a Registered Real Estate Appraiser approved by the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC* (R # A R H AN B+
= A3 4832 5% ).

Currently, Ms. Lau serves as a member of the Small and Medium
Enterprises Committee, the Youth Development Commission, Advisory
Committee on Chinese Medicine Development Fund of the HKSAR
Government and the Board of the Hong Kong Housing Authority.

Ms. Lau is also a member of the Supervisory Board of the Hong Kong
Housing Society.
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EENGHREEABEBE

SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Information on the business and working experience of the senior
executives of the REIT Manager is set out below:

GUO Jin

Mr. Guo is the Chief Investment and Asset
Management Officer and one of the Responsible
Officers of the REIT Manager. He is also the
executive Director of the REIT Manager and
information on his business and working
experience has been set out in “Executive
Director” in this section.
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CHOO Chong Yao, Patrick

Mr. Choo is the Head of Compliance and Risk
Management of the REIT Manager, and one of
the Responsible Officers.

Mr. Choo was a director and Chief Investment Officer at Swenson
Asset Management Limited and Swenson Capital Limited from
April 2018 to September 2019, Mr. Choo served as Deputy Chief
Executive Officer and acted as the Chief Investment Officer at
Kingdom Investment Managers Limited from October 2015 to
December 2017. Mr. Choo served as the Chief Investment Officer
and one of the Responsible Officers of Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited, the manager of Champion REIT, from March
2006 until July 2015, during which he was responsible for the
strategic planning and management of Champion REIT and for
communicating and liaising with unitholders of Champion REIT.
Prior to joining Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, Mr. Choo
served at Kingsway Fund Management Limited from May 2001
until November 2005, where he took the position of director. Mr.
Choo first entered the asset management industry in 1989 when
he joined DBS Asset Management in Singapore.

Mr. Choo graduated magna cum laude from the University of
Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Science in Engineering (Electrical
Engineering) in 1989.
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EENGHREEABBE

ZHONG Ning

Mr. Zhong is the Chief Operating Officer, Head
of Information Technology, Deputy Investment
and Asset Management Officer and one of the
Responsible Officers of the REIT Manager. He is
employed by the Onshore Manager Subsidiary.

L

Mr. Zhong was an investment director of CML from February 2017
until October 2019 and has been a director of Shanghai Bang Xin
Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.” since January 2018.

Mr. Zhong obtained a Bachelor of Management from Shenzhen
University in June 2006 and a Master of Business Administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
November 2017.
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ZHANG Zhe
Mr. Zhang is the Chief Financial Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Zhang has over ten years of experience in the field of finance
and business management. Since 2012, he has worked in
CMSK. He held the positions of DFC of Hilton Shenzhen Shekou
Nanhai, the financial controller of business management segment
of commercial properties and hotels of China Merchants, the
financial controller of industrial park incubation segment of China
Merchants, the financial controller of China Merchants — Colisée
Senior Care Services Co., Ltd.*, the financial controller of Beijing-
Shanghai Fund Shanghai BangXin Enterprise Management
Consulting Co. Limited* and the financial manager of China
Merchants Land. Prior to these, he served as the senior manager
of the UK Elite Center of internal audit department of Huawei
Technologies Co., Ltd. from July 2010 to February 2012, a project
manager of Dezhengxin Asset Appraisal Co. Ltd.* from September
2009 to July 2010, and a senior auditor of Shenzhen Branch of
Ernst & Young from February 2007 to September 2009.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Deakin University in Australia in 2005
with a Bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration (Accounting,
Economics).
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CHEN Yan
Ms. Chen is the Internal Auditor of the REIT Manager.

Ms. Chen is a certified internal auditor designated by the Institute
of Internal Auditors. Ms. Chen is currently the chief financial officer
of CML. She previously served as the vice-financial controller of
CML from May 2017 to January 2018. Prior to joining CML, she
was a senior manager of the financial department of CMSK.

Ms. Chen obtained a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business
Studies from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2002. She was qualified as
a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC in 2002.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

MARKET REVIEW

2020 was an eventful year as the COVID-19 pandemic triggered
an unprecedented global crisis. Benefiting from the central
government’s strong epidemic prevention and control measures
and effective monetary and fiscal stimulus, China managed to keep
the epidemic under control, thus minimizing disruption to work and
industrial output. With this steady rebound, China was the first to
record positive growth among the world’s major economies. Its
GDP also exceeded RMB100 trillion, demonstrating the Chinese
economy’s strong resilience.

As 2020 was the 40th anniversary of the establishment of the
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone (“SEZ”), the central government
took the opportunity to issue a new five year development
blueprint for the SEZ to promote a higher level of Shenzhen-Hong
Kong cooperation, enhance Shenzhen’s role as a “core engine” in
the development of the Greater Bay Area of China and promote
reforms in all aspects. Specific elements of the blueprint emphasize
creating a market-oriented and legally well-defined business
environment and grant Shenzhen greater autonomy in approving
land use and rezoning, improving resource allocation efficiency.
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MARKET REVIEW (continued)

In 2020, the office leasing market in Shenzhen was weak. New
supply and relatively weak demand due to the pandemic led to a
high vacancy rate, with the figure hitting 25.1% at the end of 2020.
The vacancy rate in Nanshan District was 33.8%, the highest level
among all office districts. At the same time Shenzhen office rents
weakened, and the average monthly rent fell to RMB211.49/sg.m.
at the end of 2020, a decline of 12.8%. In comparison, the average
monthly rent in Nanshan District declined 12.4% to RMB193.57/
sg.m. Shenzhen will see explosive growth in new supply in 2021.
The newly-built offices in Nanshan will account for more than 70%
of the total office supply in Shenzhen. Competition for tenants
is expected to intensify in Nanshan. The retail leasing market in
Shenzhen in 2020 can be divided into two phases. In the first half
of 2020, affected by the pandemic, rents and occupancy basically
stagnated or even declined to a certain extent. As the pandemic
came under control, the market gradually recovered in the second
half of the year, and a rebound in consumer spending gave a
boost to demand for retail space. Approximately 530,000 sqg.m.
of new commercial space was introduced in 2020, which drove
vacancy rates in Shenzhen to 9.6%. In contrast, the vacancy rate
in Nanshan stood at 13.7%, higher than the rest of Shenzhen.
The average rent per sgq.m. of usable space for the ground floor
of commercial properties stood at RMB818/sg.m. in Shenzhen, a
year-on-year decrease of 12.9%. Starting from 2021, new supply
of more than 1 million square metres of high-grade commercial
space is expected, which may trigger additional volatility in
vacancy rates and rents. However, in the medium to long term, the
continuous influx of people into Shenzhen and the accompanying
demographic decline in age will continue to sustain a healthy
expanding office and commercial real estate sector.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW Y E
Occupancy rate Valuation Passing Rent
iR fhlE bl
As at As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
FA2020% 20195 JA20206 20195 A2020% 720195
12A31H 127318 128318 127318 12A318 12A31H
% %  RMB million RMB million RMB/sg.m. RMB/sq.m.
% % AR¥EERT ARYEET ARE/IAK ARE/Thk
New Times Plaza MERES 91.9 96.4 2,065 2,061 174.6 170.0
Cyberport Building (YN -] 72.9 74.0 1,042 1,039 123.3 1225
Technology Bullding REAE 83.7 100.0 868 868 104.1 103.4
Technology Building 2 RBEAEZ5 744 926 1,082 1,082 111.9 1115
Garden City Shopping Centre  7EElH 91.5 76.0 1,587 1,559 166.6 176.0
Total Property Portfolio VETECE, 84.3 88.0 6,644 6,609

The overall occupancy rate of property portfolio decreased from
88.0% as at 31 December 2019 to 84.3% as at 31 December
2020, representing a decrease of 3.7 percentage points.

As at 31 December 2020, revaluation of the properties was carried
out by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent property
valuer serving as the principal valuer of CMC REIT. The revalued
market value increased from RMB6,609 million as at 31 December
2019 to RMB6,644 million as at 31 December 2020.

During the Reporting Year, the passing rental rates at the offices
properties were relatively stable and rose slightly. Meanwhile, on
the retail front, there is still great pressure on retailers despite the
stable epidemic situation in Shenzhen and rental rates remain
under pressure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

New Times Plaza

Affected by the epidemic and excessive supply of high-end office
buildings in Shenzhen in 2020, rental rates of Grade A office
buildings in Shenzhen continued to decline as vacancy rates rose,
and market competition became increasingly intense. In March
and April, several tenants occupying 4,063 square metres in total
moved out of New Times Plaza. As the Manager adopted more
flexible leasing strategies and provided new value-added services,
in the second half of the year, the occupancy rate gradually
recovered from a low of 83.0% to 91.9%. The rental rates of newly
signed leases also increased slightly in the second half.

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and
Technology Building 2

Tenants of Cyberport Building, Technology Building and
Technology Building 2 are mostly start-ups and small to medium-
sized enterprises whose operations were greatly affected by the
epidemic. Some tenants terminated leases early due to their
inability to continue operating or moved to cheaper peripheral
properties. In 2020, the occupancy rates of Cyberport Building,
Technology Building and Technology Building 2 decreased by
varying degrees due to the above reasons, but the average rents
for newly signed tenants at all three buildings managed to increase
marginally. In the fourth quarter of 2020, a major tenant brought
forward a need to lease the entire Technology Building. After
negotiation, the Manager planned to relocate its existing tenants
from Technology Building to Technology Building 2 or Cyberport
Building in 2021, so as to lease Technology Building as a whole to
this major potential tenant. In addition, several parties are presently
negotiating for space in Technology Building 2, and some of these
leases will commence in the first quarter of 2021. To sum up, the
occupancy rates of Cyberport Building, Technology Building and
Technology Building 2 are expected to recover in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Garden City Shopping Centre

Due to the impact of COVID-19, the business environment at
Garden City deteriorated sharply in 2020. The number of shoppers
suffered a sharp drop in the first half of the year, generating great
pressure on tenants. In view of above situation, anti-pandemic
measures to enhance the safety of the shopping environment
were firstly introduced by the Manager. In addition, the Manager
provided rental concessions to different degrees to help tenants
tide over the difficult times and to rebuild confidence. Various
promotional activities to increase footfall and improve the shopping
atmosphere were also organized. With the renovation and trial
operation of the space previously occupied by Bauhinia City in the
fourth quarter, the footfall of Garden City recovered to the same
level as previous years, and the occupancy rate also increased to
91.5%.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

CMC REIT was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and revenue
decreased in 2020. Total revenue for the Reporting Year was
RMB370.1 million, RMB22.3 million less than the revenue for 2019.
This was primarily due to once off rent concessions amounting
to approximately RMB23.8 million that were provided to tenants
during the year. Correspondingly, total rental income for CMC REIT
weakened 6.7%, to RMB312.5 million, as compared to RMB335
million from the same period in 2019.

Rental income and rent concessions for each property
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Total #Et 3125 23.8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Rental income and rent concessions for each property
(continued)

The property operating expenses of CMC REIT for the Reporting
Year were RMB96.2 million. Property management expenses was
approximately RMB48.8 million, which contributed to 50.7% of
the property operating expenses; operation manager’s fee and
taxes contributed to 16.2% and 24.8% of the property operating
expenses respectively. After deducting property operating
expenses, net property income was approximately RMB273.9
million.

The appraised value of the CMC REIT’s portfolio increased RMB35
million. Financial costs for the Reporting Year were approximately
RMB60 million, representing the interest expense on bank
borrowings of approximately RMB55.2 million and the amortization
of upfront payments.

Capital Structure

Due to the settlement of the Unassigned Frontier Payables (as
defined in the Offering Circular) amounting to RMB956 million, the
total asset of CMC REIT dropped to RMB7,207 million. With total
net borrowings of RMB2,013 million, the gearing ratio of CMC REIT
was 27.9%, which is below the permitted limit of 50% as required
by the amended Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts which
took effect on 4 December 2020. The gross liabilities (excluding
net assets attributable to unitholders) as a percentage of gross
assets were 45.8% (2019: 53.1%).

Pursuant to the onshore facility agreement and offshore facility
agreement entered into between the banks and the PRC Property
Companies (as defined in the Offering Circular) in November 2019,
CMC REIT has obtained onshore loan facilities and offshore loan
facilities of RMB100 million and RMB2,400 million, respectively. As
at 31 December 2020, CMC REIT has drawn down an amount of
RMB2,022 million from the abovementioned loan facilities, which
is secured and will mature by the end of 2022. The secured term
loans bear interest at weighted average fixed rates of 2.72% per
annum or HIBOR plus 0.9% per annum.
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Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

As at 31 December 2020, net assets attributable to Unitholders
amounted to RMB3,910 million (31 December 2019: RMB3,787
million) or RMB3.47 per Unit (31 December 2019: RMB3.36
per Unit), equivalent to HKD4.12 per Unit (31 December 2019:
HKD3.75 per Unit) based on the central parity rate as announced
by the People’s Bank on 31 December 2020, representing a
68.2% premium to the closing unit price of HKD2.45 on 31
December 2020.

RENOVATION AND ENHANCEMENT

After assuming the responsibility of managing the properties, the
Manager has thoroughly explored what opportunities there are for
asset enhancement. While preserving the original classic designs of
the buildings, we have sought to strengthen their competitiveness
by retrofitting modern features and intelligent technology to
improve the overall quality and functionality of the properties.

New Times Plaza is fully integrating LEED (Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design) and WELL Health-Safety standards into
its renovation. To create a healthy and comfortable modern office,
the interior renovation focuses on the refurbishment of the lobby
and other public areas on each floor, covering key factors such
as the lighting system, signage, and building monitoring system.
Meanwhile, redesigning greenery, as well as traffic and pedestrian
flow will optimize the exterior environment. The renovation program
was launched in the third quarter of 2020 and renovation on 2
show floors has been completed. The interior renovation will be
completed by the third quarter of 2021 according to our estimates.
This will then be followed by the upgrade of the exterior landscape,
which is slated to begin at the end of 2021.
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Rendering of the lobby on the ground floor of New Times Plaza
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Renovation and Enhancement (continued)

For Technology Building 2 and Cyberport Building, we plan to
introduce green and ecological interior decorations as part of the
renovations of their reception areas, elevator lobbies, and other
public areas. We will modify the shared functional area layout to
increase operating efficiency and flexibility. This will provide efficient
and convenient services that enable start-ups, small and medium-
sized enterprises to “move-in without preparation”. Renovations
commenced in the fourth quarter and the show floor for
Cyberport Building has been completed. The asset enhancement
of Technology Building 2 and Cyberport Building is estimated
to complete in the second half of 2021. Since the Technology
Building may be leased entirely to one major tenant, we will await
the tenant’s input before proceeding with any refurbishment.

Garden City Shopping Centre has repositioned itself and will seek
improvement in an all-around way through interior and exterior
renovations and a direct access to a subway station. After the
refurbishment project, there will also be a more optimal layout with
more functional facilities and amenities to provide an excellent
shopping and entertaining experience for customers. The Garden
City Shopping Centre enhancement project will begin in the first
half of 2021. During the renovation period, the shopping centre will
operate normally and enhancement works will proceed by phases
flexibly, to minimize the impact on tenants and customers. The asset
enhancement project is expected to complete before the launch of
Shenzhen Metro Line 12 in 2022.
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Asset Enhancement Estimated Cost BEERAESTHRAE
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fEET R AR
RMB million
ARBEET
New Times Plaza SR ES I
Cyberport Building IS KNE 44
Technology Building (Note) B RE(H22) 23
Technology Building 2 R RE= 20
Garden City Shopping Centre TR 235
Total st 399

Note: Since the Technology Building may be leased entirely to one major tenant, we
will await the tenant’s input before proceeding with any refurbishment. This
Budget may change subject to negotiations with the tenant.
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PREVENTION OF COVID-19

In the past year, the epidemic came quickly under control in China
thanks to the effective prevention and control measures of the
central government. The Manager has strictly implemented the
government’s epidemic prevention requirements throughout the
year. It also reinforced the promotion of epidemic prevention by
organising relevant educational activities.

For our four office properties, we disinfected and cleaned office
and public areas many times a day; installed infrared thermometers
and arranged special inspectors to ensure all people wear masks
and have their temperatures checked before entering the buildings;
cleaned and disinfected air filters in buildings more frequently and
put up warning signs of epidemic prevention in public areas. At
the Garden City Shopping Centre, we disinfected public areas
and shops comprehensively at fixed times every day; put in
place intelligent thermometers that can automatically check body
temperatures for people walking through the main entrance in
any direction; provided publicity for epidemic prevention among
consumers and merchants, and met each tenant individually to
discuss the epidemic.

The result of these epidemic prevention efforts was a remarkable
zero case found throughout the year. At present, it is basically
business as normal for the mall’s tenants.

In the face of the epidemic, the Manager and tenants worked
together to overcome difficulties. The Manager paid close
attention to tenants’ operations during the epidemic, adopted
flexible leasing strategies, and kept close contact with tenants to
provide the appropriate support. CMC REIT provided tenants with
rent concessions of approximately RMB23.8 million throughout
the year. The Manager also cared for the health of tenants and
employees, for example, by distributing epidemic prevention
supplies such as masks and disinfectants and actively coordinating
free nucleic acid tests for employees.

OUTLOOK

2021 will also be a year of uncertainties as economic recovery
is closely correlated to the impact of COVID-19. Efforts to make
COVID-19 vaccines available to the general populace give some
hope to the global economy. This, coupled with the active policy
support of governments, should foster a pickup in economic
activities across various countries. As China has entered the mid-
to-late stage of recovery, its economy has gradually recovered to
pre-epidemic levels and its macroeconomic-policy has become
neutral again. China’s real estate industry in fact may face some
headwinds from reduced monetary policy easing and tightened
real estate credit.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

As CMC REIT’s properties are located in Shenzhen, the central
government’s supportive policies under the Greater Bay Area
of China, along with the vibrant environment for technological
innovation and open financial services in Shenzhen, will to some
degree guarantee the relative stability and longer term growth of
its business. Another positive factor is the recently revised Hong
Kong Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts, which has relaxed
operating limitations on CMC REIT.

In the coming year, the Manager will continue to invest in the
upgrading of existing assets to comprehensively improve property
quality and drive higher income. Renovation projects are completed
within one or two years, in time to deliver a fresh tenant experience
before the launch of Metro Line 12. At the same time, the Manager
will continue to pay attention to opportunities within and outside
of the China Merchants Group that will allow it to inject high-
quality assets that expand its investment portfolio. The present
imbalance between supply and demand and the rising vacancy
rate in Shenzhen’s office market has highlighted the benefits of
regional diversification, and the Manager will actively seek to add
new properties in first-tier cities such as Beijing and Shanghai and
also strong second-tier cities at an appropriate time. In view of
the trend of growing domestic consumerism and the potential this
generates for domestic retail businesses, over time the Manager
also intends to increase its exposure to retail projects for a more
balanced mix between office and retail for the portfolio.

Also of importance to CMC REIT is it's ESG performance. The
Manager is committed to incorporating the concept of sustainable
development into CMC REIT’s corporate values and business
processes. This will strengthen the capability to comprehensively
manage and control risks while achieving long-term goals.
Meanwhile, the Manager works to reduce carbon emissions and
comprehensively improve the efficiency of resource utilisation as an
active response to the central government’s 14th Five-Year Plan
for green development.

The Manager is cautiously optimistic about the prospect of CMC
REIT and will make full use of China Merchants Group’s high-
quality resources to strengthen asset management, to seize market
opportunities, to grow returns for Unitholders and to develop
optimal win-win solutions for all its stakeholders.
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THE TOP FIVE REAL ESTATE AGENTS AND

CONTRACTORS

EAFHERERAEH

Real estate agents

Value of contract/

and contractors Nature commission paid Percentage
EEREREES FRIIHE ANEE/EfEE BAL
RMB’000

AREF T
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Property management 15,612 56.6%
BERACEER(RINAERRF NEER
Shenzhen Building Decoration (Group) Co., Ltd. Renovation and maintenance 3,030 11.0%
R RELN (S B)BRAR KER#E
Shenzhen Wanlihua Electric Power Development Co., Ltd. Renovation and maintenance 1,150 4.2%
FMBHEENBRERAF RER#EE
Shenzhen Xibu City Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. Renovation and maintenance 1,016 3.7%
AT ESRRIRER AT RER#E
Shenzhen Sihe Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd Renovation and maintenance 978 3.5%

A mmA R TRER AR

KER#E

Note: The English name is for identification only.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
MEAE
PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS HERE

China Merchants Commercial REIT’s portfolio comprises the
following five properties (“Properties”) in Shekou, Shenzhen, all of
which are (i) well-served by public transportation network and (ii)
equipped with car parking spaces:

New Times Plaza, a Grade A office building with an aggregate
Gross Floor Area (“GFA”) of 87,337.0 sg.m. and Gross Rentable
Area (“GRA”) of 67,600.0 sg.m. located adjacent to the Sea World
commercial area and Prince Bay, the core area of Shekou;

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and Technology Building
2, three office building complexes repurposed from industrial use
with an aggregate GFA of 124,545.0 sgq.m. and GRA of 125,079.1
sg.m. located in Shekou Net Valley, a business hub for high-
tech companies and startups which has been earmarked by the
Nanshan Government for promoting and developing emerging
industries;

Garden City Shopping Centre, the first large-scale comprehensive
commercial complex integrating shopping, dining, lifestyle and
entertainment facilities in Shekou. The complex has an aggregate
GFA of 50,496.9 sg.m. and GRA of 56,225.5 sg.m..
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

The following charts depict the industry profile of our tenants by
reference to their GRA as a percentage of the total GRA as at 31
December 2020, and their percentage contribution to Gross Rental

Income in December 2020:
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The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT Manager. HPITEIAETEER AN DAL o
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties

The following charts set out the tenant expires of the Properties,
as a percentage of their GRA and a percentage of monthly rental

income as of December 2020:
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20244F K LAt%
| Vacant
RE

2021

20214

2022

20224

2023

20234

2024 and beyond
20244 R LA

38.0%

13.7%
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

S RS
PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HERE(E)
New Times Plaza FRRES

New Times Plaza was completed in 1997 and is a Grade A office  FIEABIEN1007F LR - B—HFRRETE - &
building with a total GRA of 67,600.0 sg.m. It comprises (a) a str[f & &M1& A&67,600.0F F K - K ESH
2-storey podium; (b) a 34-storey office tower; and (c) 212 car  (a) 2BF A : (o) JABIAKIE : R(c) 212@EfL
parking spaces. New Times Plaza is acclaimed for the excellence  #Hpk - FIFRESUE L ENBRERTRERERN
of its architectural design and the high quality of its construction ZETEHMER - ZFREEKRE - Hil0 -

and workmanship. It has received numerous awards through the

years, such as:

e the China Construction Engineering Luban Prize bestowed o 1999 jErhiE A R AMBZB T GRIE AP E

by the Ministry of Construction of the PRC (currently known ARKARERE NI B EREL) R P Bl EEE
as the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of HERTFIPRBETREEIE]

the PRC) and the China Construction Industry Association in

1999;

e the Shenzhen Outstanding Building for Property Management o A1909F # F YRR AEIT Y EE
from the Housing and Construction Bureau of Shenzhen in BESKE]:
1999;

e recognition as a Building of National Standard because e FA20004F F EBE A B 12 M4 I A R HLH

of its building management quality, from the Ministry of BlEEM(RB AP E A RENHAGTE &40
Construction of the PRC (currently known as the Ministry of EREDFT A E2EMESERHENE] 0 &
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC) in 2000;

and

/

?:3'
/
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
E SRy

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza (continued)

e recognition as a Garden Style Building (Development) by
the Shenzhen Municipal People’s Government Municipality
Administration Office) and the Housing Bureau of Shenzhen
Municipality in 2001.

New Times Plaza is located on the eastern side of Nanhai Avenue
in the Sea World commercial area, a dense commercial and
recreational district. Near New Times Plaza one can find reputable
hotels and banks, a large international convention centre (with its
own guest rooms and apartments), office buildings, and abundant
food and beverage outlets. The area is well-served by public
transportation and New Times Plaza is approximately a 5-minute’
walk from the Sea World Station of Metro Line 2. The same station
will serve Metro Line 12 when the line commences operations in
2022.

Tenant’s Industry Profile

—a - Ao

Percentage of GRA

Note: The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT
Manager.

HMEREE

HRRES(E)

o R2001FERINTARBRERTEERAE
SR EERRA REMRAIEE N EZREM
(ft) -

FRRESUNESNEERAKBEES LR
EBrERERA - MO ERaBIE RRIT - KRR
BERgzPL(REEELARE) BFERAEN
BHE - ZEBEF - SR ESERTERE
B8 -t S UE 495 D SRR o [B)— M EE vk A
125R B TEHARN 2022 F 1A &1E -

HEITHER

Percentage of Monthly Rental Income

==
EAESRAEENE DL EAESRANES L
—tm = =l
W34.2%  Real Estate M40.1%  Real Estate
FHIE i EHE
W17.6%  Logistics L M18.3%  Logistics
Vi 5 e
H10.0%  Petroleum / T H11.1%  Petroleum
/ %, /
W7.5% Finance ¥ \ W9.9% Finance
i i
W6.4% Scientific and | \ N W5.4% Scientific and
Information Technolog | ¥ Information Technologyl |
RIS BRIl P = ; IR B SR
W4.8% Hotel Management N " P ) H4.0% Hotel Management
BEER \ ) BEE
Leasing and Business Leasing and
Service Business Service
HEREEREE ) N 4 THERAEREE
W2.4% Construction and g7 # W2.5% Construction
Engineering v 5 and Engineering
BERTE \ “ BN TR
W5.4% N = 7 2 W55 Others
EHA ~ b
ms.1 e
{2 |
———a L deaa =

Bt - BPITENAERERANS BAEE -
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HERE(E
New Times Plaza (continued) HEERES(E)
Lease Expiry Profile HEZEBR

Percentage of GRA
EAESRAERENEDL

o

Percentage of Monthly Rental Income

HABSBRANED L

] 2021 2021
20214F 20214F
] 2022 2022
20224F 2022%F
] 2023 2023
20234 20235
| 2024 and beyond 2024 and beyond
20244 J2LATE 20244 & LAtR
| Vacant
RE

Passing Rent and Occupancy Rate RISk HEAR
174.6

170.0 170.7 1734 173.9

*— —H— — ¥— —%
Passing Rent (RMB/sa.m.)
REHS (AR /THXK)

ob 49 T * Occupancy Rate (%)
e A 89.5% 90.8% 91.9% LR (%)
31 December 2019 31 March 2020 30 June 2020 30 September 2020 31 December 2020
201912 A31H 202043 H31H 202046 A30H 202049 H30H 2020%12A31H

New Times Plaza

HSRES
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWE(E
Cyberport Building BB AE

Cyberport Building was completed in 2009. It is a Grade B office  #i5AEN2000F &R + B— LKA ETIE
building complex with a total GRA of 40,441.3 sq.m. comprising (8) A:TAIFEEAAMTE40,441.3F K - H@) —1HRIEBS
a 9-storey office building and a 6-storey office building connected  NE6E S B Fi1E » E— 18K —EEFHEE  (b) iz
on Levels 1 and 2; (b) commercial space for retail units located FEEZERGRHEEZTRE 5 K(o) 255EFEM A
at Level 1; and (c) 255 car parking spaces. Cyberport Building Bk - S RKEEMRANEFEEREHPRENF - XE
features a central garden between its two buildings and glass M AFIEE EEEALEIRE AZYE  AHFEY
facades that allow natural sunlight to penetrate into the property,  i&EBEEAVIRSS ©

creating an airy and spacious environment for tenants.

Cyberport Building is located on the western side of Nanhai #fEXEAEEAERA - A FEEERR o M
Avenue, in a district designated for e-commerce. There is a AB4ZE - AR « BYWHL - SEB TR
kindergarten, a large scale hypermarket, a shopping centre, (TR EMESEIERBIKIFERHRDT
reputable banks and a local hospital nearby, and these surrounding & @ AT PIRERAEF o N - ZEBEF] -
amenities form a sustainable complimentary community that 55 A & 25 B b 8 20 9 42 /K s 8 Ih 10 S8 3R A2
provides great convenience to its tenants. The area is also well-  FEEETEFTFA 2022 B #A LB MM 1255 2 105 1
served by public transportation; Cyberport Building is a 10-minute  $#ik 5 2E1 9483832 ©

walk from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and when Metro Line

12 commences operations in 2022, it will take only 1 minute to

walk to Sihai Station of Line 12.

Tenant’s Industry Profile HETERR
Percentage of GRA Percentage of Monthly Rental Income
HAHEEAEBENE DL HAESWANE S
—a A
W48.7%  Scientific and E— W59.4%  Scientific and
Information Technology ¥ Information Technology

MEBRE B

H6.9% Leasing and
Business Service

THEREBREE
W4.6% Wholgsale and Retail

=8

RS BT

HW10.3% Leasing and
Business Service

THERABREE
W7.8% Wholesale and Retail
HEE

=

W7.2% Life Service
R R

W4.4% Food and Beverage
B

HW3.6% Life Service
HEERDS

W1.7% Food and Beverage ‘
8

W7.4% Others
H

H10.9%  Others
it Hits
Vacant

— 1 — L

Note: The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT  Mfi# : AF1TEIUBEEERBAND AL o
Manager.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Cyberport Building (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile

Percentage of GRA

HAEEAEENE DL

— A
w2021

20214
m 2022 a0.8%

20224 27.1%
m 2023 3y

20234
| 2024 and beyond

20244F K LAt%
| Vacant

HE

HAEESBANES

w2021 o

20214 7'M
| 2022

20224F
| 2023

20235
| 2024 and beyond

20244 & LAtR

o

HEREE)

B AE(E)
HEZAER

Percentage of Monthly Rental Income

18.2%
% y

Passing Rent and Occupancy Rate BEASKHBER
225 121.0 120.0 119.7 288
!li * '* Passing Rent (RMB/sq.m.)
BERHES(ARYE /F7:K)
-* Occupancy Rate (%)
74.0% 75.2% 72.9% HF= (%)
68.8%

66.8%

30 June 2020
202046 H30H

31 December 2019
201912 A31H

31 March 2020
202043 A31H

30 September 2020

31 December 2020

202049 A30H 2020512 A31H

Cyberport Building
HIEKE
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWE(E
Technology Building BEXE

Technology Building was completed in 2002. It is a Grade B office
building complex with a total GRA of 41,546.3 sg.m. The building
complex comprises (a) a 7-storey main building; (b) a 6-storey
annex building; and (c) 110 car parking spaces. Technology
Building is a building focusing on tenants from high-tech industries
in Shekou. Technology Building adopts a clean and sleek design
with glass facades and from time to time organises networking
events to support its high-tech industry tenants.

Technology Building is located on the western side of Nanhai
Avenue in the Shekou Net Valley, an e-commerce area integrated
with high-tech and cultural industries including publishing, the fine
arts, advertising and design. Schools, hotels, restaurants, food
streets and reputable banks are nearby. Technology Building and
these surrounding amenities form a sustainable complimentary
community that is of great convenience to tenants. The area
is well-served by public transportation; Technology Building is
a 15-minute walk from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and
when Metro Line 12 commences operations in 2022, it will take
approximately 5 minutes to walk to Gongye 6th Road Station of
Metro Line 12.

Tenant’s Industry Profile

REKER2002F %R T - RLBIFARTE - Al
EHETEA1,546.3F K - BRAGAKER@) —R7
EB=rEE : (o) —REERHMME : K(c) 110fEFE
fI#ARK - R KER B IRHEP R ARPHRES -
R RKERAERE HORBIMNRRGT - TR AR
HZEBXFFERRHRITEMAR -

MBAEMR I AEAREERBAER - ESREM
ALEX(BIEHR - X7 - BEERRD R —8#H
EFREBHS - MLERR - JBE - 28 - XRE
RAZE RIFHIRTT - R FRIEA/FHIAERMAF
BLBRNER - AEBEPREEAER - ZEX
BN B E BB S 2SR A/ B #5160 82
BEAZ - BERETE AN 2022F FAfA 2 E M M1 257 AR T
ERBHEUEOB D EBRIRIE o

HEITEER

Percentage of GRA Percentage of Monthly Rental Income
LAHERAEENBE DL EREEWANES L
S A
M25.5%  Leasing and M29.8% Leasing and
Business Service Business Service
THEREBREE THERABREE
M18.9%  Health Care Service W22.6%  Scientific and
i ERE AR TS Information Technology
BIRE(E BRI
W17.8%  Scientific and
Information Technolog M21.4%  Health Care Service
FHRE(E BRI d 2B RS
W14.2%  Construction and W17.5%  Construction and
Engineering Engineering
BERIE R TE
W5.0% Finance HW5.6% Finance
i Eac
W2.3% Wholesale and Retail W3.1% Wholesale and Retail
HBETE HRTE
Vacant
{10 ¥
Note: The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT  Mfi# : AF1T¥IUEREERBANDEAEE o
Manager.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWEE
Technology Building (continued) BEXE(E)
Lease Expiry Profile HEZEBR

Percentage of GRA

o

Percentage of Monthly Rental Income

LHUEEAEBRNES HAHSBWANBES T

|| 2021 2021

20214 20214 882
| | 2022 2022 3

20224F 2022%F
| | 2023 2023

2023%F 20235
| 2024 and beyond 2024 and beyond

20245 K LAt% 20244 & LAtR
| Vacant

RE

Passing Rent and Occupancy Rate HEEHES R HER
1094 102.3 101.7 101.5 1041
Passing Rent (RMB/sq.m.)
BERHES(ARYE /F7:K)
100% 97.1%

91.8% 93.9%
83.7%

-* Occupancy Rate (%)
HFEE (%)

30 June 2020
202046 H30H

31 December 2019
201912 A31H

31 March 2020
202043 A31H

30 September 2020
202049 A30H

31 December 2020
2020912 A31H

Technology Building
BEXE
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building 2

Technology Building 2 was completed in 2010. It is a Grade B
office building complex. Technology Building 2 has a total Gross
Rentable Area of 43,091.5 sgq.m. The complex comprises (a) two
6-storey industrial workshops; and (b) 220 car parking spaces.

Technology Building 2 is located at the western side of Nanhai
Avenue in Shekou Net Valley. The surroundings of office building
complex are similar to those of Technology Building. There are
schools, hotels, restaurants, food streets and reputable banks
near the complex and these community amenities provide
great convenience to tenants. The area is well-served by public
transportation; Technology Building 2 is 15 minutes on foot
from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and when Metro Line 12
commences operations in 2022, it will take a minute to walk to
Gongye 6th Road Station of Metro Line 12.

HMEREE

BEARE=H

BHEKE ZHIR2010F 5K - BB ARTE -
BRI REZHMAT A HERMEIE £43,001.5% 5
Ko ZERABFERIE(Q MIRES TEME &
(o) 2201E{ZEEfL ©

RERKE- BN T EAEEEAR - BiEK
E-H0EERREMBEAERL - AR FEN
ABERR - BE  EE  XRUEKEBRENR
17 ZFHEREASEBPRFEBAER - ZitE
SRER - BHUOKE — BRI R 255 A2 B0 K b
W15 EIRAR - BERETART N 2022F FtA EIE R M
125% A8 T3 7NER M BUE 401 D $EAVBRAR -

Tenant’s Industry Profile HETEMR
Percentage of GRA Percentage of Monthly Rental Income
EAESRAEENE DL HAEEWANES L
—rmia 4
M50.9%  Scientific and — M68.5%  Scientific and
Information Technology B Information Technology
FHRE(E BRI FIREE BRI
HW10.0% Finance H14.1%  Finance
W4.1% Health Care Service H5.9% Food and Beverage
TR ERE B RYS B
W3.3% Leasing and W5.5% Leasing and
Business Service Business Service
THEREBREE THERABREE
H2.1% Food and Beverage HW5.4% Health Care Service
8 2R BB IRTS
H4.0% Others M0.6% Others
Hith Hits
Note: The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT  ffi# : AE1TEWAEEEBAMNDEARE o
Manager.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building 2 (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile

Percentage of GRA
EAEERERNE D
m 2021
20214 .
B 2022 51.8%
2022
= 2023
20234
| 2024 and beyond
20244 R .
B Vacant 25'4’
RE A8

.

HEREE)

BMBERE=H(E)
HEZHER

Percentage of Monthly Rental Income

HAEESBANES
| 2021
20214 72.4%
|| 2022 s
2022
| 2023
2023
| 2024 and beyond
2024F K LAt%

Passing Rent and Occupancy Rate RIFHS K HER
113.1 113.5
15 112.7 111.9
e H— — — — #
Passing Rent (RMB/sg.m.)
RS (ARE /FHXK)
%2.5% 88.3% 86.9%
=7 4 84.9% 3k Occupancy Rate (%)
*\# —H— AR (%)

N%

31 December 2019
201912 A31H

31 March 2020
202043 H31H

30 June 2020
202046 A30H

30 September 2020
202099 A30H

31 December 2020
2020912 A31H

Technology Building 2
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HERE(E)

Garden City Shopping Centre TEEH

Garden City Shopping Centre was completed in 2006 and is the
first large-scale integrated commercial complex featuring shopping,
dining, lifestyle and entertainment activities in the Shekou sub-
district. Garden City Shopping Centre’s total GRA has been
renovated to 56,255.5 sg.m. after a renovation of a sub area of
Garden City Shopping Centre in 2020. It comprises (a) 5-storeys
or retail shops; (b) 644 car parking spaces; and (c) a 2-storey
basement with ancillary facilities that enhance the retail experience
of shoppers at the complex.

Garden City Shopping Centre is located at the eastern side of
Nanhai Avenue and the southern side of Dong Bin Tunnel. There
are hotels, restaurants, reputable banks and a hypermarket nearby
and it is a one minute walk from Garden City Shopping Centre to
the neighbouring residential complex via a footbridge. The complex
is located in a commercial cum residential area that is well-served
by public transportation such as franchised buses and taxis. One
of the exits of Metro Line 12, expected to commence operations in
2022, will be directly connected to Garden City Shopping Centre.

Tenant’s Industry Profile

Percentage of GRA
LAHERAEENBE DL

i S S

W34.4%

Depanment Store
BEBEE

W26.8% Food and Beverage
8

M26.8% Life Service

AEIRTS

Supermarket
2

W3.4%

HO0.1% Others
Hith

W8.5% Vacant

RE

.

Note: The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT
Manager.

TEEMN2006F R TH RN EHEEESEEY &
R KB RREEEES A —BOARLRABREAR

M o 2020 HITE B W R B ST TeE R - TEE
WE A E A C BUE R56,255.5F 75 K © H()

—REE®HBIT L ¢ (o) 644EZELL ¢ Ko (c)—1E
HEWMB RGN MBI TEAK - B REFER
HIREYIEERR ©

TEEWALR R B R A M FERER A - as
BIE - BE - EERONBTRAREN - AT
AKBEEICENETER - STBRRO1D8E - %
WEMREEREER - JREFH - FLBEEL
MHABEEALZBT AYAIRE - FHE12554
H— 1IHjE|?|1§£¢< EEICEN - BEIR2022F A

¥

F+€»]

HEITEER

Percentage of Monthly Rental Income

HAEESRANBED L

W44.8%

W33.2%

H18.9%

W2.7%

H0.4%

Depanmem Store
BEHEE

Food and Beverage
B

Life Service

R R

Supermarket
ki

Others
Hits

Het - MP1TETVAR EE R AR D BREAE -
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HAWEE
Garden City Shopping Centre (continued) TEEE (Z&)
Lease Expiry Profile HEZEBR
Percentage of GRA Percentage of Monthly Rental Income
HAEEAEENE DL HAEESWANE DL
— .
| | 2021 39.5% | 2021 39.6%
20214 20214
2022 2022
20224 20224
m 2023 m 2023
20234 20234
| 2024 and beyond | 2024 and beyond
20244 F A TR 18.6% 20244 K SAfR
| Vacant 3
WNE

Passing Rent and Occupancy Rate HEHES R HER
7o 1745 171.7 17ba s
% —¥- —H— —

Passing Rent (RMB/sq.m.)
BRHES(ARE /FX)

91.5% 3¢ Occupancy Rate (%)

HAE (%)
76.0% 76.6% 73.1% 75.7%

31 December 2019 31 March 2020 30 June 2020 30 September 2020 31 December 2020
201912 A31H 202043 A31H 202046 H30H 202049 A30H 2020912 A31H

Garden City
Shopping Centre
TEE

§;f48 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020

44 §,




Qf o =

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) REVIEW

RIG- HEREAHE

China Merchants Commercial REIT is managed by the Manager
who in turn has delegated the functions of property management
to China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. and Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate
Management Co., Ltd. pursuant to the Operations Management
Agreement and the Property Management Agreements. China
Merchants Commercial REIT (the Manager and parties who have
been delegated functions are collectively referred to as “we”
hereinafter) established an ESG working group led by an executive
director under the Board of Directors of the Manager (“Board”) in
2020. The ESG working group is responsible for supervising and
leading our strategies, policies and approaches on environmental,
social and governance issues, and assisting the Board in
overseeing the environmental, social and governance issues.

Facing climate change and different environmental issues, we
actively pour resources to promote sustainability that has been
embedded in our business development strategy. Efforts are made
to build our resilience to climate change in order to effectively
manage the environmental and social risks that affected the day-
to-day operation. We take various environmental initiatives to
improve energy efficiency and water efficiency in the properties
we manage, and properly dispose of and reduce wastes, and
add green elements, so as to reduce the impact of business
development on the environment.

FrHRAXEAESHREEAEE  MEEARR
BEEEBARMEEEBRSVREENBEE
BEYHme TR RIDERABFIIAR
MEERBRAF - BRBAXSEES(BREE
ANERBBER BT N XA A1 AP DM 20209F
KILTEREREAEES((ESENETHNTE
FEEHMESCGIIFAE - NEERBERMAERE
HEREREHE LNRE  BEETH - LBHE
EENTHRE HENREAEENEE -

EERIEEC R TRREZEE - RAIEERAZR
REFMFBEER TR AIHEERMAARMINES
HREB - WAITE IR HNERIKRE(CHEE
h DEMERFEARLENRERTERAR
BMEE RN ETRRZIRIRDERAEFKE
IR EIRRELE - ZERIERRDBEERYIL A
RETTER  REXRHRRIIRBEROTZE

T TEFH AEREEREREES




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) REVIEW

RiR - HERERAHE

The contribution of employees is the key to the success of a
company's business. Therefore, we create a diverse and equal
working environment, lay down appropriate employment policies
to protect employee well-being, attracted and retained talents
through competitive remuneration package, open communication
and regular employee care activities. We value the personal growth
and career development of our employees. So we encourage
continuous learning and provided appropriate training programmes
for the employees to support them in acquiring professional
knowledge and technical skills, to achieve our business
development goals and create a win-win situation. We strive to
provide a safe working environment for our employees and actively
implemented prevention and control measures in response to the
pandemic to protect the health and safety of our employees.

Adhere to the concept of customer first, we spare no effort to
provide quality property management services and innovative
intelligent services. Through periodic visits and surveys on tenants,
we obtain customer feedback on our services and performance. In
the meantime, we maintain close cooperation and communication
with tenants, which enable us to address their evolving needs,
concerns and expectations on our property services. During the
pandemic, we give the top priority to the health and safety of
tenants and actively take anti-pandemic measures.

Establishing a high level of business integrity is the basis for gaining
customer trust. We require our business partners to observe
our rigorous operational standards and to prohibit all forms of
corruption. In addition, we are also committed to protecting the
privacy of our tenants to ensure that their personal information is
properly and securely handled.

With open and transparent procurement procedures, we have
built long-term, mutually beneficial partnerships with suppliers and
service contractor. Through standardised procedures in supplier
and contractor selection and tendering management, we select
suppliers and service contractors who are qualified and capable
of providing quality products and services. Sustainability has been
incorporated into our supplier management to extend sustainable
business model into the supply chain.

Moreover, we are devoted to fulfilling corporate social
responsibilities to build and give back to the community. We
organise many community activities and maintain close contact
with community partners, aiming to make a positive impact on the
community.

For details of the environmental, social and governance issues,

please refer to the ESG Report that will be published within three
months after the publication of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

INTRODUCTION

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance, policies and procedures have been put
in place to promote the operation of CMC REIT in a transparent
manner and with built-in checks and balances. The corporate
governance policies of CMC REIT have been adopted having
due regard to the requirements under Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), with necessary changes as if
those rules were applicable to REITs. Set out below is a summary
of the key components of the corporate governance policies that
have been adopted and will be followed by the REIT Manager and
CMC REIT. Such policies may be amended by a simple majority
vote of all of the directors.

AUTHORISATION STRUCTURE

CMC REIT is a collective investment scheme authorised by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) under
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and regulated by certain laws,
regulations and documents including the Code on Real Estate
Investment Trusts (“REIT Code”).

The REIT Manager has been authorised by the SFC under
section 116 of the SFO to conduct the regulated activity of asset
management. The REIT Manager has three persons who are
approved as Responsible Officers pursuant to the requirements of
the SFO and the REIT Code. They are Mr. Guo Jin, the Executive
Director of the REIT Manager, Mr. Choo Chong Yao, Patrick and
Mr. Zhong Ning.

The Trustee is registered as a trust company under section 77 of
the Trustee Ordinance. The Trustee is qualified to act as a trustee
for collective investment schemes authorized under the SFO
pursuant to the REIT Code.
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ROLES OF THE TRUSTEE AND REIT MANAGER

The Trustee and the REIT Manager are independent of each other.

The Trustee is responsible under the Trust Deed for the safe
custody of the assets of CMC REIT on behalf of Unitholders and for
overseeing the activities of the REIT Manager for compliance with
the relevant constitutive documents of, and applicable regulatory
requirements applicable to CMC REIT.

The REIT Manager’s role under the Trust Deed is to manage
CMC REIT and its assets in accordance with the Trust Deed, and
in particular to ensure that the financial and economic aspects
of CMC REIT’s assets are professionally managed in the sole
interests of the Unitholders. In accordance with the REIT Code, the
REIT Manager is required to act in the best interests of Unitholders,
to whom it owes a fiduciary duty.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2020, the Board comprises seven members,
three of whom are independent non-executive directors. The
Board oversees the management of the REIT Manager’s affairs
and the conduct of its business and is responsible for the overall
governance of the REIT Manager. The Board exercises its general
powers within the limits defined by its constitutional documents,
with a view to ensuring that management discharges its duties
and is compensated appropriately, and that sound internal control
policies and risk management systems are maintained. The Board
will also review major financial decisions and the performance of
the REIT Manager.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board composition will be reviewed regularly to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and
that the directors being appointed have the relevant expertise and
experience in discharging their duties.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following
principles:

° the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive
director;

e the Board should have a balance of skill, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of
CMC REIT’s business and should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption;

e the Board should have a balanced composition of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board
which can effectively exercise independent judgement;

e the Board should have a policy concerning diversity of the
board members which is appropriate for the requirements
of CMC REIT’s business, and shall disclose the policy
on diversity or a summary of the policy in the corporate
governance report;

° at least one-third of the Board and a minimum of three
members of the Board should be independent non-executive
directors and at least one independent non-executive
director must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise; and

e the re-election and further appointment of any independent
non-executive director serving on the Board for nine years
shall be subject to a separate Unitholders’ resolution.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Roles of the Key Board Members

The positions of Chairman and the Executive Director are held by
separate persons in order to maintain an effective segregation of
duties.

The Chairman leads the Board discussions and deliberations and
is responsible for setting the meeting agenda of Board meetings.
He ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary. He
promotes high standards of corporate governance and the
maintenance of effective communications with Unitholders.

The Executive Director is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The Executive
Director executes the strategic plans set out by the Board and
ensures that the directors are kept updated and informed of CMC
REIT’s business through management reports.

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy of the REIT Manager ensures that
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of the Board is
maintained. Selection of candidates is based on a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, gender, knowledge, length of service and professional
experience or skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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Years as
Members of the Board Position Gender Age Director
EEgKE 4 ] Fie BEEEFH
Huang Junlong Chairman and Non-executive Director Male 55 ’
w=E TENMIERITES =
Eiuo Jin Exef:utive Director Male 50 ’
e WITESF e
Liu Ning Non-tixeoutive Director Female 50 ’
gz FMWTES =z
Yu Zhiliang Non-tixeoutive Director Male 40 ’
RER FWTES =
Lin Hua Independcint Non-executive Director Male 45 ’
MEE BIUFAITES =
Lin Chen Independcint Non-executive Director Male 40 ’
WE BIUFRITES =
Lau Sze Wan, Serena Independ%nt Non-executive Director Female 50 ’
21558 BIUFRITES z
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meetings

Board meetings will normally be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. To ensure that directors
will be given sufficient time to consider the issues to be tabled
at the various Board meetings, details of the venue, time and
agenda of the meeting are required to be given at least 10 clear
days in advance of the meeting (except if there are exceptional
circumstances or if the majority of directors agree to a shorter
period of notice).

No Board meeting, or any adjourned Board meeting, will be
quorate unless a simple majority of directors are present at the
time when the relevant business is transacted. If a director who,
whether directly or indirectly, has a material interest in a contract or
proposed contract with the REIT Manager which is of significance
to the REIT Manager’s business, he must declare the nature of
his interest during the Board meeting or by giving a general notice
to the Board, whichever is earlier before the question of entering
into the contract is taken into consideration on behalf of the REIT
Manager. A director who is prohibited from voting by reason of a
conflict of interest or that the REIT Manager has excluded from
voting will not be counted for the purposes of establishing the
necessary quorum for the meeting.

Matters to be considered by the Board will be adopted on the
basis of a simple majority of votes.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees

The Board has the power to delegate to committees consisting
of such numbers of its body as it thinks fit. Four committees
have been established to assist the Board in discharging its
responsibilities. The committees of the Board have been set up
with clear terms of reference to review specific issues or items
and then to submit their findings and recommendations to the full
Board for consideration and endorsement. Unless the decision
making power has been vested in the relevant committee by the
Board, the ultimate responsibility for making final decisions rests
with the full Board and not the committees. The committees of the
Board are currently as follows:

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises, the Chief Investment
and Asset Management Officer and two directors one of whom
shall be an independent non-executive director. As at the date
of this report, the members of the Investment Committee are Mr.
Yu Zhiliang, Mr. Guo Jin and Mr. Lin Hua. Mr. YU Zhiliang is the
current chairman of the committee.

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among other
matters, evaluating and making recommendations on proposed
acquisitions and disposals of assets, approving budgets and
reviewing actual expenses on all key expenditures and reviewing
quarterly financial performance, forecasts and annual financial
plans of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The Investment
Committee also reviews and recommends changes to delegated
authority, policies or procedures in areas such as accounting,
taxes, treasury, distribution payout, investment appraisal,
management and statutory reporting.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises at least three members appointed
by the Board from among the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors. A majority of the members
of the Audit Committee shall be independent non-executive
directors and at least one of them shall have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Audit Committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Lin Hua, Mr.
Lin Chen and Ms. Liu Ning. Mr. Lin Hua, is the current chairman of
the committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for establishing and
maintaining an adequate internal control structure, effective
financial reporting and risk management systems and ensuring
the quality and integrity of financial statements. The Audit
Committee is also responsible for the nomination of independent
external auditors and reviewing the adequacy of external audits
in respect of cost, scope and performance. The Audit Committee
also ensures the existence and working of an effective system of
internal control and risk management, in respect of both the REIT
Manager and CMC REIT.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities also include:

° reviewing dealings of the REIT Manager and the directors on
a half-yearly basis;

e reviewing all financial statements and all external audit reports
and developing and implementing a policy on the engagement
of external auditors to supply non-audit services;

e ensuring the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and guiding the management to take appropriate actions to
remedy any faults or deficiencies in internal controls which
may be identified;

e  assisting the Board in its monitoring of the entity’s overall risk
management profile and setting guidelines and policies to
govern risk assessment and risk management;

° periodically reviewing and monitoring all connected party
transactions and related party transactions; and

e reviewing the REIT Manager and CMC REIT’s compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is appointed by the
Board from among the directors. A majority of the members of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall be independent
non-executive directors. The chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee shall be the Chairman or an independent
non-executive director. As at the date of this report, the members
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are Mr. Huang
Junlong, Mr. Lin Chen and Ms. Lau Sze Wan, Serena. Mr. Huang
Junlong is the current chairman of the committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities
include, among other things:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and its committees
at least annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the REIT
Manager’s corporate strategy;

e developing the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship;

e identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to
become a member of the Board and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;

° reviewing the terms and conditions of employment of all staff
and directors and recommend the manpower deployment
plan (including the succession plan for the management
and the Board), remuneration and retirement policies and
packages;

e assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors to determine their eligibility;

° reviewing, monitoring and reporting on the REIT Manager’s
board diversity policy;

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or removal of directors and succession
planning for directors; and

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
and retirement policies and packages for directors and
ensuring that no director is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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Board Committees (continued) BEEZEE(E)
Disclosures Committee WEZES

The Disclosures Committee is appointed by the Board from
among the directors. The Disclosures Committee consists of three
directors, one of whom shall be an independent non-executive
director. As at the date of this report, the members of the
Disclosures Committee are Ms. Liu Ning, Mr. Guo Jin and Ms.
Lau Sze Wan, Serena. Ms. Liu Ning is the current chairman of the
committee.

The role of the Disclosures Committee includes reviewing matters
relating to the disclosure of information to Unitholders and public
announcements. The Disclosures Committee also works with the
management of the REIT Manager to ensure that the disclosure
of information is accurate, complete and not misleading. The
Disclosures Committee’s responsibilities include:

° regularly reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on matters of corporate disclosure issues and
announcements regarding (without limitation) financial
reporting, connected party transactions, and potential areas
of conflicts of interest;

e overseeing compliance with applicable legal requirements and
the continuity, accuracy, clarity, completeness and currency
of information disseminated by or on behalf of CMC REIT to
the public and applicable regulatory agencies;

° reviewing and approving all material non-public information
and all public regulatory filings of or on behalf of CMC REIT
prior to such information being disseminated to the public or
filed with applicable regulatory agencies, as applicable;

° reviewing periodic and current reports, proxy statements,
information statements, registration statements and any other
information filed with regulatory bodies;

° reviewing press releases containing financial information,
information about material acquisitions or dispositions or other
information material to the Unitholders; and

* reviewing correspondence containing financial information
disseminated to the Unitholders.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EEg(F
Attendance H FE 0 8%

The REIT Manager held four board meetings over the period EiEEIE AR202051 51 HZE20205F12 A31 A BifE
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020. The attendance of %ETIMAIEFTE @3  SESHMEAHNESS
individual directors at the Board Meetings and various Board @ZEEkESEELZEe@HALEIHEOT
Committee Meetings convened is as follows:

Committee Meetings ZE25%
Nomination &

Directors Board Meetings Investment Audit Remuneration Disclosures
= A RE&E EX 12 B R W=
Huang Junlong 4/4 - - 2/2 -
Guo Jin 4/4 2/2 - - 2/2
5L

Liu Ning 3/4 - 3/3 - 2/2
2=

Yu Zhiliang 2/4 1/2 - - -
RER

Lin Hua 3/4 2/2 3/3 - -
=

Lin Chen 4/4 - 3/3 2/2 -
AN

Lau Sze Wan, Serena 4/4 - - 2/2 2/2
EESEE

Note: Mr. Yu Zhiliang attended half of the Board Meetings and Committee Meetings ~ ffit - RER EAER2020F ATIREEMAH/FLEEETe ez b

during 2020 due to scheduling conflict, while he confirmed that he was kept ZEGLH ERBHACEBMEGHME BEMEAE
updated and informed of CMC REIT’s business through meeting materials and HBHRBEERESNENIER - B REMEERIEH
management reports. He had also discussed with fellow Directors the affairs of =g 9

CMC REIT.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST k=TS

All conflicts of interest shall be managed by the Board in
accordance with the articles of association of the REIT Manager
and applicable laws, rules and regulations. The REIT Manager shall
ensure that all conflicts of interest relating to CMC REIT shall be
managed and avoided. The following measures are taken in this
regard:

e the REIT Manager will be a dedicated manager to CMC REIT
and, unless with the approval of the SFC, the REIT Manager
will not manage any REIT other than CMC REIT nor manage
other real estate assets other than those in which CMC REIT
has an ownership interest or investment;

e the REIT Manager will ensure that it will be able to function
independently from its shareholders and all senior executives
and officers will be employed by the REIT Manager or the
Onshore Manager Subsidiary on a full time basis and solely be
dedicated to the operations of CMC REIT;

e the REIT Manager has established procedures to deal with
conflicts of interest under its compliance manual;

e The REIT Manager has established internal control systems to
ensure that connected party transactions between CMC REIT
and its connected persons are monitored and undertaken
according to procedures and/or on terms in compliance
with the REIT Code (or where applicable, in compliance with
the waiver conditions imposed by the SFC) and that other
potential conflicts of interest that may arise are monitored;

e all conflicts of interest involving a substantial Unitholder or a
director, or a connected person through such entities, will be
managed by a physical Board meeting rather than through a
written resolution and all independent non-executive directors
who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the
matter should be present at such Board meeting; and

e  adirector who has material interests in a matter which is the
subject of a resolution proposed at a Board meeting of the
REIT Manager shall abstain from voting on the resolution
concerned.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (continued)

All connected party transactions must be:

e  carried out at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and
in an open and transparent manner;

e valued, in relation to a property transaction, by an independent
property valuer;

e  consistent with CMC REIT’s investment objectives and strategy;
° in the best interests of Unitholders;
° properly disclosed to Unitholders; and

e approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the REIT Manager (or a committee thereof). Where the prior
approval of Unitholders is required, the independent non-
executive directors of the REIT Manager (or a committee
thereof) shall confirm in a letter set out in the circular to
Unitholders, whether the terms and conditions of the
transaction are fair, reasonable and in the best interests of
Unitholders, and whether Unitholders should vote in favour of
the resolution.

The REIT Manager must demonstrate to the independent non-
executive directors and the Audit Committee that all connected
party transactions satisfy the foregoing criteria, which may entail
(where practicable) obtaining quotations from independent third
parties, or obtaining one or more valuation letters from independent
professional valuers.

Prior approval of Unitholders is required for connected party
transactions unless the Assets, Revenue, Consideration and Equity
Capital percentage ratio of the transaction (as defined under
paragraph 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are all less than five percent.
Save for the appointment or removal of the REIT Manager, a
Unitholder is prohibited from voting its Units at, or being part of
a quorum for, any meeting of Unitholders convened to approve
any matter in which the Unitholder has a material interest in the
business to be conducted and that interest is different from the
interest of other Unitholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of CMC REIT and
ensuring that these systems are effectively maintained.

The Board will meet regularly to review the risks to the assets and
business of CMC REIT and discuss the implementation of risk
mitigations measures. Various risk areas relevant to real estate
investment trusts are analysed regularly and monitored by the REIT
Manager, including the following:

° Property Related Risks
(broken down into Tenant Concentration risk, Sector
Concentration risk, Geographical Concentration risk, Tenant
Expiry risk and Property Damage risk)

e |egal Risks
(broken down into Property Liability risk, Litigation risk and
Land Use risk)

° Financing Risks
(broken down into Interest Rate risk, Refinancing risk and
Gearing risk)

e Market Risks
(essentially Currency risk)

e QOperational Risks
(broken down into Premises Denial risk, Cyber Security risk
and Fraud risk)

The internal auditor of the REIT Manager (“Internal Auditor”)
conducts independent reviews to ensure the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of operational processes and internal
controls. The Board will consider and, if appropriate, act upon
any recommendations from the Internal Auditor. Based on a three
year strategic audit plan approved by the Audit Committee, the
Internal Auditor conducts financial, operations and compliance
reviews, recurring and ad-hoc audits, fraud investigation and
process efficiency reviews. A summary report with key findings,
improvement recommendations and implementation status is
provided to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

For the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of CMC REIT’s risk management and internal control systems,
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance. Based on the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, the Board confirmed that the REIT Manager’s risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate, and identified no significant areas of concern.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Corporate Governance

The REIT Manager has adopted a Compliance Manual which sets
out corporate governance policies as well as the responsibilities
and functions of each key officer. The Compliance Manual also
clearly defines reporting channels, workflows, and specifies
procedures and forms designed to facilitate the compliance of the
REIT Manager with various provisions of the Trust Deed, the SFO,
the REIT Code and other relevant rules and regulations.

CMC REIT previously had ongoing deposit transactions with China
Merchants Bank. Such deposit transactions had been in place
since the initial public offering of CMC REIT and continued after
its listing date. Under the then applicable REIT Code, the deposit
transactions constituted continuing connected party transactions
of CMC REIT. The REIT Manager had previously erroneously
determined the value of such connected party deposit transactions
based on the amount of interest CMC REIT was receiving for the
deposits placed with China Merchants Bank and, on such basis,
only made summary disclosure in the annual and interim reports
of CMC REIT. Such transactions should have instead been sized
by reference to the monies deposited with the connected party
bank and, on such basis, the total value of the connected party
deposit transactions exceeded 5% of the Net Asset Value of CMC
REIT, thereby necessitating earlier disclosure and Unitholders’
approval under Chapter 8 of the then applicable REIT Code for
such transactions. As the REIT Manager did not seek Unitholders’
approval nor a waiver under the REIT Code for the connected party
deposit transactions at the time of listing of CMC REIT and publish
the necessary announcement and circular at such time, the REIT
Manager was thus not in compliance with Chapter 8 of the then
applicable REIT Code.

Unitholders should note that deposit interest rates are standardised
among commercial banks in the People’s Republic of China, so
Unitholders were not disadvantaged in any way. Furthermore,
following the amendments to the REIT Code which took effect on
4 December 2020, China Merchants Bank is no longer considered
a connected person of CMC REIT. The REIT Manager reported the
breach to the Securities and Futures Commission once the non-
compliance was discovered and has also transferred the monies
deposited with China Merchant Banks to other third party banks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Corporate Governance (continued)

The REIT Manager has reviewed its internal control procedures
in light of the above incident and will continue to review such
procedures to ensure that they remain adequate and up-to-
date. To prevent a recurrence of the incident, a separate List
of Connected Financial Intermediaries will be maintained by the
CFO, who will ensure that there are no transactions with these
connected parties and ensure there are no contracts with these
parties without the written permission of the Compliance Officer.
To ensure that awareness and understanding of connected party
transactions amongst the REIT Manager’s personnel remain
appropriate, the REIT Manager has arranged a training session
for its personnel. The REIT Manager will also review its training
programme for its personnel on an ongoing basis and ensure that
it covers compliance and risk management areas.

Save for the aforementioned, throughout the year ended 31
December 2020, the REIT Manager and CMC REIT had complied
with the REIT Code, the relevant provisions of the SFO and the
Listing Rules applicable to CMC REIT, CMC REIT Deed and the
Compliance Manual in all material respects.

GENERAL MEETINGS

CMC REIT will in each calendar year hold an annual general
meeting in addition to any other general meetings in that year. The
Trustee or the REIT Manager may at any time convene a meeting
of Unitholders. The REIT Manager will also convene a meeting of
Unitholders if requested in writing by not less than two Unitholders
registered as holding together not less than 10% of the Units
in issue. In general, a circular shall be sent within 15 business
days to holders after the issuance of an announcement. Where a
general meeting is to be held, the relevant circular shall be sent to
holders at the same time as or before the relevant notice of general
meeting. Such notice will specify the time and place of the meeting
and the terms of any resolutions to be proposed.

Two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered as
holding together not less than 10% of the Units for the time being
in issue and outstanding will form a quorum for the transaction
of all business, except for the purpose of passing a Special
Resolution. The quorum for passing a Special Resolution will be
two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered
as holding together not less than 25% of the Units in issue and
outstanding. The quorum for an adjourned meeting shall be such
number of Unitholders who are present in person or by proxy,
regardless of the number of Units held by them.
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REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY

CMC REIT will prepare its accounts in accordance with IFRS with
a financial year end of 31st December and a financial half-year end
of 30th June. In accordance with the REIT Code, the annual report
and accounts for CMC REIT will be published and sent to the
Unitholders no later than four months following each financial year-
end of CMC REIT. Semi-annual reports will be published and sent
to the Unitholders no later than three months following the end of
each financial half-year.

The REIT Manager shall ensure that a full valuation of each of
CMC REIT’s properties shall be conducted by a principal valuer
appointed in accordance with the Trust Deed at least once a
year, and may require the principal valuer to carry out additional
valuations or inspections in any other circumstance prescribed by
the REIT Code and at such occasions as the REIT Manager may
determine is necessary.

The REIT Manager shall keep the Unitholders informed of any
material information pertaining to CMC REIT in a timely and
transparent manner as required by the REIT Code and the
provisions of Part XIVA of the SFO shall have effect, mutatis
mutandis, as if CMC REIT is a ‘listed corporation’ and as if the
Board of Directors of the REIT Manager are the Board of Directors
of a ‘listed corporation’. As required by the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager will inform Unitholders as soon as reasonably practicable
of any information or transaction concerning CMC REIT which:

° is necessary to enable Unitholders to appraise the position of
CMC REIT; or

° is necessary to avoid a false market in the Units; or

° might be reasonably expected to materially affect market
activity or the price of Units of CMC REIT; or

e  requires Unitholders’ approval.
DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Under the Trust Deed at least one distribution shall be made in
respect of each financial year and paid no later than five months
after the distribution calculation date for the relevant distribution
period. CMC REIT’s present distribution policy is make two
distributions in respect of each year, being distributions with
respect to the six-month periods ending 30th June and 31st
December. Distributions to Unitholders will be declared and paid
in Hong Kong dollars. In accordance with the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager’s will distribute to Unitholders an amount of no less than
90% of CMC REIT’s Annual Distributable Income for each financial
year.
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued) DIRBER (&)

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, “Annual Distributable Income”
for a financial year is the amount calculated by the REIT Manager
to be the consolidated audited Net Profit After Tax of CMC REIT
and its subsidiaries for that financial year, adjusted for various non-
cash gains/losses or expenses including:

° unrealised property revaluation gain and losses, including
impairment provisions and reversals of impairment provisions;

e goodwill impairment (charged) and/or negative goodwill
(credited);

e  differences between financial costs recognised on the financial
statements and interest paid and payable in accordance
with contractual obligations during that financial year or that
distribution period (as the case may be);

e realised gains or losses on the disposal of financial
instruments or the disposal of properties and/or disposal of
the Special Purpose Vehicle which holds such properties;

e fair value gains and losses on financial instruments;

e  deferred tax charges/credits in respect of property valuation
movements, fair value changes on financial instruments
and commercial building allowances/capital allowances,
withholding tax on retained profits to be distributed and other
tax losses or other deductions claimed;

e  allocation of statutory reserve as required by applicable laws;

e the portion of the REIT Manager’s fee that is paid in the form
of Units;

e non-cash foreign exchange gains or losses;

e  costs of any public offering of Units, Convertible Instruments
or other forms of debt and/or securities that are expensed
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income but are funded by proceeds from
the issuance of such Units, Convertible Instruments or other
forms of debt and/or securities;

e depreciation and amortisation in respect of a real estate
directly or indirectly owned by CMC REIT, and its ancillary
machinery, equipment and other fixed assets;

e the effects of any amount paid to CMC REIT for the express
purpose of distribution to Unitholders; and
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

e other material non-cash gains/losses, in each case as
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income for the financial year.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Annual Distributable Income is
calculated after accounting for the Base Fee and the Variable
Fee payable to the REIT Manager and excludes any additional
discretionary distributions out of capital.

The REIT Manager has the discretion to direct the Trustee to
make distributions over and above the minimum 90% of Annual
Distributable Income if and to the extent CMC REIT, in the
opinion of the REIT Manager, has funds surplus to its business
requirements. The present policy is to distribute 100% of the
Annual Distributable Income.

The Trustee, the REIT Manager and Eureka Investment Company
Ltd (“Eureka”), a wholly owned subsidiary of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co. Ltd., have entered into an
agreement where Eureka will make cash payments as necessary to
the Trustee for the benefit of CMC REIT such that when such cash
is paid out to Unitholders in addition to the Annual Distributable
Income, the DPU of CMC REIT will be no less than the amounts
specified here:

Relevant Period
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Committed DPU
BESBENDIREE

Listing Date to 31 December 2019
T HEIE20195F12A31H

F/Y ending 31 December 2020
HE2020F 12 A1 H L HFE
F/Y ending 31 December 2021
HE2021F12 A1 B IEHHFE
F/Y ending 31 December 2022
HE2022F 12 A1 H L HFE

Pursuant to the agreement between the three parties, the REIT

Manager intends to distribute to Unitholders all of such payments
received from Eureka.
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HK$0.0142 per Unit
BHESEBENMN0.014277T
HK$0.2360 per Unit
SHES BA10.2360/% 7T
HK$0.2541 per Unit
SHESBENM0.25417%7T
HK$0.2614 per Unit
BHESBNMN0.26147%7T
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ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS

To minimise the possible material dilution of holdings of
Unitholders, any issue of Units will need to comply with the pre-
emption provisions contained in the REIT Code, the Trust Deed
and any other applicable laws and regulations. The REIT Code
provisions require that issues of Units be first offered on a pro rata
pre-emptive basis to existing Unitholders except that Units may be
issued:

e free of such pre-emption rights up to an aggregate
maximum in any financial year of 20% of the number of Units
outstanding at the end of the previous financial year; and

e free of pre-emption rights in other circumstances provided
that the approval of Unitholders by way of an Ordinary
Resolution is obtained.

Subject thereto, Units may be issued as consideration for the
acquisition of additional real estate.

Unitholders’ approval is required for all issues of new Units to
connected persons unless a waiver has been granted by the SFC.
The SFC has granted, a waiver that allows the REIT Manager to
issue new Units to a connected person under these situations:

a rights issue or as part of any offer made to all Unitholders
on a pro rata basis;

e g capitalisation issue in so far as such issue is offered to the
Unitholders on a pro rata basis;

e an issue of Units in respect of re-investment of a distribution
to Unitholders;

e  the connected person receives a pro rata entitlement to Units
and/or Convertible Instruments in its capacity as a Unitholder
(provided that such issue will not increase the market
capitalisation of CMC REIT by more than 50%);

e top-up subscription by a connected person to facilitate a
placing of Units and/or Convertible Instruments to other
parties, subject to certain restrictions.

Where Unitholders’ approval is required for an issue of new Units
to a connected person, both the connected person subscriber and
any other person who has a material interest in the resolution to
approve such issue, and that interest is different from that of other
Unitholders, shall abstain from voting on such resolution.

During the Period under Review, there were no new Units issued.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

To monitor and supervise any dealings of Units, the REIT Manager
has adopted a code containing rules on dealings by the directors
and the REIT Manager equivalent to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the
Listing Rules. Pursuant to this code, all directors and employees
of the REIT Manager, subsidiaries of the REIT Manager or Special
Purpose Vehicles of CMC REIT who, because of his/her office
or employment is likely to be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information in relation CMC REIT (“Management
Persons”) wishing to deal in securities of CMC REIT must first
have regard to provisions in Parts Xlll and XIV of the SFO with
respect to insider dealing and market misconduct as if those
provisions applied to the securities of CMC REIT. In addition, a
Management Person must not make any unauthorised disclosure
of confidential information or make any use of such information for
the advantage of himself/herself or others.

Management Persons who are aware of or privy to any
negotiations or agreements related to intended acquisitions or
disposals which are naotifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules as if applicable to CMC REIT or any connected party
transactions under the REIT Code or any inside information must
refrain from dealing in the securities of CMC REIT as soon as they
become aware of them or privy to them until proper disclosure of
the information in accordance all applicable rules and regulations.
Management Persons who are privy to relevant negotiations
or agreements or any inside information should caution those
Management Persons who are not so privy that there may be
inside information and that they must not deal in the securities of
CMC REIT for a similar period.

A Management Person must not, unless the circumstances are
exceptional, deal in any of the securities of CMC REIT on any day
on which CMC REIT’s financial results are published and:

e during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the period
from the end of the relevant financial year up to the publication
date of the results; and

e during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) or half-yearly
results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant
quarterly or half-year period up to the publication date of the
results.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRE
INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY PEEBRESENRERER

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

The REIT Manager is subject to the same dealing requirements as
the directors, mutatis mutandis.

The provisions of Part XV of the SFO with respect to disclosure of
interests are deemed to apply to the REIT Manager, the directors
of the REIT Manager and each Unitholder and all persons claiming
through or under him. The REIT Manager has adopted procedures
for the monitoring of disclosure of interests by directors of the
REIT Manager, and the REIT Manager. Under the Trust Deed,
Unitholders with a holding of 5% or more of the Units in issue, and
the directors of the REIT Manager with an interest in the Units, will
have a notifiable interest and will be required to notify the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the REIT Manager of their holdings
in CMC REIT. The REIT Manager shall keep a register for these
purposes and it shall record in the register, against a person’s
name, the particulars provided pursuant to the notification and the
date of entry of such record. The said register shall be available for
inspection by the Trustee and any Unitholder at any time during
business hours upon reasonable notice to the REIT Manager.

Confirmation of Compliance with Dealing Code

Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and all of them
have confirmed that they have complied with CMC REIT’s rules on
dealings by directors which are equivalent to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in this report and previous disclosures
(including announcements, circulars and Offering Circular) issued
by the REIT Manager, there are no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significant subsisting during or at the end of the
Reporting Period in which a Director or any entity connected
with a Director is or was materially interested, whether directly or
indirectly.
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MATTERS TO BE DECIDED BY UNITHOLDERS
BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain
matters require specific prior approval of Unitholders by way of
Special Resolution. Such matters include:

e changes in the REIT Manager’s investment policies or
strategies for CMC REIT;

e disposal of any of real estate investments which have been
held for less than two years;

e any increase in the rate above the permitted limit or change in
structure of the REIT Manager’s or Trustee’s fees;

° certain modifications of the Trust Deed;
° termination or merger of CMC REIT;

Unitholders may also, by way of a Special Resolution, remove the
Trustee or appoint new auditors in place of the existing auditors.

EMPLOYEES

CMC REIT is an externally managed trust and does not employ any
staff.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and as far as
the REIT Manager is aware, not less than 25% of the outstanding
units in issue of CMC REIT were held in public hands as of 31st
December 2020.

AUDITORS

The final results of CMC REIT for the Reporting Year have been
audited by the independent auditor Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and reviewed by the Disclosures Committee and the
Audit Committee of the Board in accordance with their respective
terms of reference.
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REPORT OF TRUSTEE
REAWE

TRUSTEE REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS

Save for as disclosed in the Corporate Governance section of
this report, we hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager
of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust
(“CMC REIT”) has, in all material respects, managed CMC
REIT in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated
15 November 2019 for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020.

For and on behalf of

DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited
(in its capacity as trustee of CMC Real Estate Investment Trust)

Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BEALRS

FRESTANBEALIRZRAUREBBREE
FRESEBLEBEAL(EEREAES TS
81BR) 2R S - ZEXHBBREEEETH
FIRERBEALRS] -

The REIT Code contains rules on connected party transaction
governing transactions between the China Merchants Commercial
REIT Group and its connected persons (as defined in paragraph
8.1 of the REIT Code). Such transactions will constitute “connected
party transactions” for the purposes of the REIT Code.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

HEIRESENRAASENEEAL

X5

TS RARREEEEES RARMEAL(E
ERRHESFAIESIB)NIEA LS EH

The following sets out information on connected party transactions
between China Merchants Commercial REIT and its connected

persons (as defined in paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code):

Connected Party Transaction — Income

BEALRZ WA

Relationship Nature of Income for
with China Merchants connected the year ended
Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions 31 December 2020
BZ2020F12A31R
BEALEE BRBRBERTES 2 ER BEQSMNE IEFEZWA
RMB'000
ARETT
Shekou TV Associated company of CMSK Rental income 54
$OERL HEEONBERR EEUN
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental income 5,278
RERTROERAT AR ORHELRE EEUN
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental income 5,330
RERERERRNERAR b0y YN EE N
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Intermediate holding company of Rental income 3,790
Co., Ltd a Substantial Unitholder
AR IE¥EERROEBAR FERCENHAANTRERAF EEUN
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Rental income 7,420
HINERER AR il ARkl YN ikl ON
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 32,194
A BEREBERRAF AEROEFAT EEON
China Merchants Investment Development Company Associated company of CMSK Rental income 7,857
Limited
AERRERERERAH il Rkl YNG) AeWA
China Merchants Life Insurance Company Limited Associated company of CMSK Rental income 1,835
ARRCHASRRROBRAR SafsLcAmEo) e YNG] EE N
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 11,841
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AN AEHEREBRAR] AEROEFAT EE N
China Merchants International Information Technology ~ Associated company of CMSK Rental income 3,278
Co., Ltd.
EREREERITERAR BRAEOMEELR EE N
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Rental income 572
RNEERI L R ARA R AR ORHERF EE N
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Technology Co., ~ Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 3,260
Ltd
AL ST RRARAT RERORATAR iGN
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BEEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction - Income (continued)

HIBHSEARAAEENEEAL

R5 (&)

BAEALRS - WA (&)

Relationship Nature of Income for
with China Merchants connected the year ended
Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions 31 December 2020
BZ2020512A31H
BEALER RRERBRETEEZER BEXSME LLFEZWA
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 361
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
AEEOEEE(RINERLA R8T AR HEWA
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental income 868
ARERERR AR s :olid YN iEELUN
China Merchants Xiong'an Investment Development Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 598
Co., Ltd
AR EEERRAR RRAEOHFAT EELUN
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental income 75
LARERBERAR ol YN HeA
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Rental income 143
ENEIEMBERAR s nk:old YN iGN
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Rental income 185
AEIESERBERAR ko)) YN WA
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui Technology Co., Ltd Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 32
AR RERAR AR RERORTAR WA
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Intermediate holding company of Building management fee 82
Co., Ltd a Substantial Unitholder income
RERLA IERERRHER AR TEECENRAANPEERAF BFERERA
China Merchants International Information Technology ~ Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 584
Co., Ltd. income
REREREERMERAR REEOMEENR BFEBRERA
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment Subsidiary of CMSK Building management fee 945
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. income
A BEEEREBRAR] RELOHTATF BFEBRERA
China Merchants Investment Development Company Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 1,192
Limited income
AERRERRERAA A OB AT BFEBRERA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Building management fee 4,668
income
AIBEEHERRAA RELOHTATF BFEBRERA
Shekou TV Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 10
income
LAERA BE OB AT BFERERA
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 479

RERTROERAT

AR OB ENT

income
BFEREUA

T TEFRH AEREEREREES




CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction - Income (continued)

5
X

g

ESBAREASENEEAL

2 (&)

BAEALRE - WA (&)

Relationship Nature of Income for
with China Merchants connected the year ended
Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions 31 December 2020
BZ2020512A31H
BEALERE RRBRE*ETEE 2 BR BEISME LHEEZWA
RMB'000
ARBTR
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 1,341
income
PONEMIRER AR st om0l YN BRERBHA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 1,044
income
RERERERRNERAR SfsL ARl NG BEEBBINA
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 6
income
RARENBERAT HERONBERR BFERBRA
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 15
income
ABIEEERBEERAR ABEONBEAR BTERBPA
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 22
income
AEBERIRREERAR ol YN BFERERA
China Merchants Xiong'an Investment Development Subsidiary of CMSK Building management fee 115
Co., Lid income
AR EEEARAR RELOMTAHE BFERERA
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management Subsidiary of CMSK Building management fee 74
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd income
mEROCEER(RINERAR HARAHTAT BFERERA
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 12
income
ENEIEMBERAR telsLeANlEl s YN BFERBERA
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Building management fee 139
Co., Ltd income
AR OHFH IR AR REBONTAT BFERERA
Shenzhen Ming Wah shipping co., LTD Associated company of CMSK Building management fee 121
income
A BERERR AR AT ONEERR BFERENA
China Merchants International Information Technology ~ Associated company of CMSK Car park income 33
Co., Ltd.
REREREERTERAR kol YN FESFBA
China Merchants Investment Development Company Associated company of CMSK Car park income 79
Limited
AERREEREARAA o )d YN EEHRA
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Car park income 9
wARERKERAR REEORMHENT FESZHA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 222
A BEEERRAF BAEROEFAF GEE LN
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BEEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction - Income (continued)

HIRESENIKAASENEEAL

x5 (&)

BAEALRS - WA (&)

Relationship Nature of Income for
with China Merchants connected the year ended
Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions 31 December 2020
BIZ2020512A31H
BEALER HRRRREETES 2 BR BEIAME LEFEZHA
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 32
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
RIBERHEREBR AR RAROHTAT TN
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Car park income 87
PONEMIRER AT a0 YN [EEZRA
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 15
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AIBERHEREBRAR RARONHTAT] HiA
China Merchants Investment Development Company Associated company of CMSK Other income 51
Limited
AERREERARLA REEARNHENT HiiA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 459
RBEEHERRAA REROHTAE HiiA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Other income 3
HINEYIRER AR LNl ) YN HlA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Other income 3
AERERERRNBRAR] BER AR HlA
China Merchants International Information Technology ~ Associated company of CMSK Other income 1
Co., Ltd.
AEREREERMERAR] REEARHENT HitiA
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Other income 181
RARTRNBRAR AEEONHELR HiA
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 2
Co., Ltd
AR EFAMEHRBRAT] RERONTAE HilA
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Interest income 6,068
RARTIRNBR AR HEEONBERR MEHA

T TEFR AEREEEREES
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

Connected Party Transaction - Expenses

HEIDHSBENVRBEASENBEEAL
RB (&

BEALTRS -XH

Relationship Expenses for

with China Merchants Nature of connected the year ended

Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions 31 December 2020

BZ2020512A31H

BEALERE BEEREERTES 2 BR BERGME LEEZXE

RMB’000

ARETT

Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Property management 48,787
Management Co., Ltd expense
A AEYEERERAT] AEEOEFAF NEERE

China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management Subsidiary of CMSK Operations management 15,612
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* expense
REEOCEER (RN BRAF REEONTAT ELERE

The English names are for identification only.

Waiver from Strict Compliance with the Requirements
The REIT Manager has applied for, and the SFC has granted a
waiver from strict compliance with, the disclosure and Unitholders’
approvals requirements under Chapter 8 of the REIT Code
in respect of Leasing transactions, Operations Management
Agreement and Property Management Agreements of connected
party transactions between the China Merchants Commercial
REIT Group on the one hand and the persons who are connected
persons of China Merchants Commercial REIT by virtue of their
relationships (including but not limited to directors, controlling
entities, holding companies, subsidiaries or associated companies)
with CMSK (being the holding company of a Substantial Unitholder)
or the REIT Manager (the “CM Connected Persons group”) on
the other hand (“CM Continuing CPTs”). The waiver is subject to
annual caps, auditor’s review in each relevant financial period,
annual review by the Audit Committee and the Independent Non-
Executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and other terms and conditions.
Information of the waiver and its detailed terms and conditions
have been set out in the Offering Circular.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BEEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH HEFXrEZEEESEBNVRFEASZEENEEAL
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP %5 (#&)
(continued)

Waiver from Strict Compliance with the Requirements ERBIRETFEE(E)

(continued)

During the Relevant Period, China Merchants Commercial REIT  REBHIRE - EHRHELETES BB THER
has complied with the requisite Waiver Conditions. The aggregate &t - BMEFHEBEA T IHELT S BETE
transaction value of the CM Continuing CPTs shall not exceed the — #B38 N3 ERAEAREIHEE LR

following annual caps set for the relevant period:

For the year For the year For the year

ending 31 ending 31 ending

December December 31 December

2019 2020 2021

HZE20195F EHZ20205 HE20215

12A31AILEE  12A31BILLEFEE 12A31HLEE

RMB RMB RMB

Categories of CM Continuing CPTs BESEREALRSER ARET ARET ARET

Transactions under the CM Tenancies FEAEE TS 78,070,281 112,040,080 125,476,039
Transaction under the Operations

Management Agreement CEEBHHRE TS 4,137,001 27,440,639 31,377,611

Transaction under the Property
Management Agreements YESBHSEE THRS 57,345,161 64,228,223 71,250,393

The annual caps set out in the table above should not be taken EXRFIEFE LR MEFEEREREREFTES R
as the anticipated growth projections or indicators of the future — RFEIRAVTEEAIE RIEAISIERR -
performance of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

—EoTEER REREEETES 79K



CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BEEALRS

ORDINARY BANKING SERVICES

—RRERAT AR %5

Maximum daily
balance for the

Relationship Nature of year ended

with China Merchants connected 31 December

Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions 2020
HZE20205F

12B31BILEE

BEALTER HAERREETESCBE BERSME ZEBHE=ER
RMB’000

ARETT

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.  Associated company of CMSK Bank Deposit 1,169,205

RERITRO BRA R Brge O HBE N T

Note: This figure represents the highest balance in the bank accounts maintained with
China Merchant Banks during the financial year ended 31 December 2020. With
effect from 4 December 2020, China Merchants Bank is no longer considered a
connected party to China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust,
and accordingly, deposit transactions with China Merchants Bank are no longer
continuing connected party transactions of China Merchants Commercial Real
Estate Investment Trust. Please refer to page 64 for further details.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
REIT MANAGER

REIT Manager’s Fees
The REIT Manager’s fees amounted to RMB18,074,000 in relation
to the services provided for the Reporting Period.

The REIT Manager’s fee includes a base fee, variable fee,
acquisition fee and divestment fee. For the Reporting Year, no
variable fee, acquisition fee and divestment fee were incurred or
payable. 10.0% of the base fee distributable income is calculated
based on the audited financial statements of China Merchants
Commercial REIT for the Reporting Period. The base fee will be
paid to the REIT Manager in cash.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
TRUSTEE AND/OR TRUSTEE CONNECTED
PERSONS GROUP

Trustee’s Fees
During the Reporting Period, the trustee’s fee of approximately
RMB1,322,000 was incurred for services provided by DB Trustees
(Hong Kong) Limited as the trustee of the China Merchants
Commercial REIT.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BEEALRS

CONFIRMATION BY INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors have confirmed that they
have reviewed the terms of all connected party transactions and
are satisfied that these transactions have been entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of China
Merchants Commercial REIT;

(b) on normal commercial terms (to the extent that there are
comparable transactions) or, where there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to China
Merchants Commercial REIT than terms available to or from (as
appropriate) independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement and the internal
policy governing such transaction by China Merchants
Commercial REIT on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of Unitholders as a whole.

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONNECTED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has been engaged as the auditor of
China Merchants Commercial REIT, and report on the continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” issued by the HKICPA and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Letter issued by auditor on
continuing connected transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules”. In accordance with the waiver granted by the SFC to
strictly comply with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 8 of
the REIT Code, the auditor has issued an unqualified opinion letter
on continuing connected transactions relating to rental income,
building management fee income and general banking and financial
services, containing the findings and summary of the continuing
connected transactions. A copy of the relevant auditor’s letter has
been provided by the REIT Manager to the SFC.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
EaiE

INTEREST OF SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS

Based on the information available to the REIT Manager as at 31
December 2020, each of the following persons was considered as
a substantial Unitholder and hence a connected person of China
Merchants Commercial REIT under the REIT Code. So far as the
REIT Manager is aware according to the data published on the
Disclosure of Interest Online System, the substantial Unitholder
held or was interested in the Units of China Merchants Commercial
REIT as follow:

FEESEMREARER

BIBEFEEIEAN2020F12 A31 B A BHER - T~
HBEATRESHEREETESTUHRGEAETE
EoBEMFAA  TARWRABIREESTE
SHREAT - BETEIEARA - RIEEZ LR
WREAGAGNER  TBESEUREABER
BREEEAESHESEMNSINEPHAELRN
™

As at 31 December 2020 As at 30 June 2020
R2020512831H P2020F6A30H

Approximate Approximate Percentage

percentage percentage point change

Name of substantial unitholder Number of Units of interests  Number of Units of interests in equity held

TEHSBENREAZRE BEHEEEN PR E AL HEESEN BARSEAL RAZHENE

EUREKA INVESTMENT COMPANY 400,332,310 35.49% 383,641,549 34.02% 1.47

LIMITED

InEREBEXRRAT

Premium Capital Profits Limited 146,198,000 12.96% 146,198,000 12.96% -

Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd. 137,192,000 12.16% 137,192,000 12.16% -

INTERESTS HELD BY DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE REIT MANAGER

Pursuant to the REIT Code, China Merchants Commercial REIT’s
connected party is required to disclose its interests in the Units.
Besides, the trust deed is deemed to be applicable to, among
other things, the REIT Manager, the directors of the REIT Manager
in virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
EmiRE

The interests of the REIT Manager’s directors in the Units recorded
in the register maintained by the REIT Manager are as follows:

FREEAZEERARAEEAFENECME
WESELESNT

As at 31 December 2020 As at 30 June 2020
R2020512A31H 1202056 A30H

Approximate Approximate Percentage

percentage percentage point change

Name of director Number of Units of interests  Number of Units of interests in equity held
EEpg HEESEN BRRRE AL BEESEN BgRE DT BREZBEIE
Huang Junlong &9 Nil - Nil & - -
Guo Jin 5§ 160,000 0.01% 160,000 0.01% -
Liu Ning 212 Nil & - Nil & - -
Yu Zhiliang %&:& 160,000 0.01% 160,000 0.01% -
Lin Hua #k& Nil & - Nil & - -
Lin Chen #& Nil & - Nil & - -
Lau Sze Wan, Serena 2|5 Nil & - Nil & - -

INTERESTS HELD BY SENIOR EXECUTIVES OF
THE MANAGER

The interests of the senior executives of the REIT Manager in the
Units are as follows:

EEANSRITRAESMFERS

FREEASRITBRASBRBEESEMERNT

As at 31 December 2020 As at 30 June 2020
R2020%12A431R P2020F6A30H

Approximate Approximate Percentage
percentage percentage point change
Name of senior executive Number of Units of interests  Number of Units of interests in equity held
BRTHABER HEESEN BEGEE AL FRESEN BRI L ERE
Zhong Ning 2% 32,000 0.00% 32,000 0.00% -
Choo Chong Yao, Patrick K12z Nil & - Nil & - -
Zhang Zhe sRk&% Nil & - Nil & - -
Chen Yan &3 Nil & - Nil & - -

INTERESTS OF THE REIT MANAGER EAEE AR

As at 31 December 2020, the REIT Manager did not hold any Units
in China Merchants Commercial REIT.

INTERESTS HELD BY OTHER CONNECTED
PERSONS

Saved as disclosed above, the REIT Manager is not aware of any
other connected persons of CMC REIT, including the Trustee, who
are interested (or deemed to be interested) in any Units as at 31
December 2020.

HR2020F12A31H - EREEAVESEHREEN
¥EESHESEN -

HAbBAE A+ Frisfs
B EXFREESN - BRERALTAE - 1K2020

F12A318 - EAEMBEREERETES AR E
AL (BREZFEA)FEIR BB EMESEME
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VALUATION REPORT
MEEERS

27/F, One Island East &5
I|||.. CUSHMAN & Taikoo Place 8 E0R
il WAKEFIELD 18 Westlands Road EWE185
s STh 4o Quarry Bay Y N=E]
E‘Z T:EE\ x 17 Hong Kong BERPL2TIE
12 March 2021 202153 H12H
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited mERERAERRAR \
(in its capacity as REIT Manager of China Merchants Commercial (AR ERIBB BB REMEREGTRETFTETE
Real Estate Investment Trust) A&9517)
Room 2603-2606, 26/F, B
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, F 58+ 168-2005%
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central, ERERUBEREAE
Hong Kong 26182603£2606Z
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited EREETE(EB)BRAT
(as trustee of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment  ( /”F_ﬁf*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%fﬂlg EREIGAEE
Trust) \E‘EJE/U
52/F International Commerce Centre, &8
1 Austin Road West, B
Kowloon, @B
Hong Kong IRIE 5 EI5521E
Dear Sirs, RE
Re: China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment B3R : ?Eﬁ%ﬁﬁf%%%&ﬁ%%{gﬁ rﬁ:’lﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Trust (the “China Merchants Commercial REIT”) ¥%§%§$J)Tﬁﬁé?¥*% LMEIERE
Valuation of 5 properties located in Nanshan District, YImrLERASEME (M5 ) s {E

Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “Properties”)

Instructions, Purpose & We refer to the instructions from China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited
Valuation Date (the “REIT Manager”) for us to prepare market valuations of the Properties located in
xR BRRGERR the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (as detailed in the attached valuation report).

We confirm that we have carried out inspections, made relevant enquiries and obtained
such further information as we consider necessary for the purpose of providing you with
our opinion of the market values of the Properties as at 31 December 2020 (the “Valuation
Date”) for the purpose of accounting reference.
%%&ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁiﬂ’é%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ(H%%%EEEAJ)E’J#Eﬁ RBMIANAPEARKFE([
B EYENTISEEFRMMMEERS) - EFHR - TFEREDE  (EHEBEN
REBISESERR/VENEMER - A %ﬂﬂmfﬁf”kiﬂﬁiﬁmzoimﬁ 31H([f4EH
HDzmECER  MEREEEE -
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VALUATION REPORT
YIR(EERS

Basis of Valuation

fhERE%E

Compliance

CE)

Valuation Assumptions

HERR

Our valuation of each of the Properties represents its market value which in accordance
with HKIS Valuation Standards 2020 published by The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
(“HKIS”) is defined as “the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should
exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s
length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”.

EEHEMEMAEDNEETE  REBAEMBS((FBUEMEBE ) MEG 2T A
ERMEHELER20202 FEME @ NHEIEEXRELESTSHERER  AERERER
FEERNMEERREAE FERTIERZEATERNZ A TR 2 E5te5] -

In valuing the Properties, we have complied with the requirements in accordance with
Chapter 6.8 of the Code on Real Estate Investment Trust (the “REIT Code”) published
by the Securities and Futures Commission and HKIS Valuation Standards 2020.
RETMEZGER  EELEBTESRPEEBERZEGMEMBHEREFTE
eFA((EREET ) F$6.8% BB ASMEG(HELER2020FTHIRE °

Our valuations of each of the Properties exclude an estimated price inflated or deflated
by special terms or circumstances such as atypical financing, sale and leaseback
arrangement, special considerations or concessions granted by anyone associated with
the sale, or any element of value available only to a specific owner or purchaser.
EEHREYENGELEE BEFRIRREE R (NFEHRAEE - SR 2HE - iHERM
ATHETHRRRENEENTMERETREREAXETNBERAR) SIBNMEEA
P o

In the course of our valuations of the Properties situated in the PRC, we have prepared
our valuations on the basis that transferable land use rights in respect of each of the
Properties for its specific term at nominal annual land use fees have been granted and
that any premium payable have already been fully paid. We have relied on the information
and advice given by the REIT Manager regarding the titles and the interests in the
Properties. In valuing the Properties, we have prepared our valuations on the basis that
the owners have enforceable titles to the Properties and have free and uninterrupted right
to use, occupy or assign the Properties for the whole of the unexpired terms as granted.

AEEHM NP MEETHER  BENREEFTEIMFABLESEMENEE
e FE G R A AT S8R T M (0 A R B BB TR A E R AR T (E - HFK
HEEAEBARHNBAMENEZERLEG ENLER - EEHYEETHER 2%
BEALMEGANITHER - WA REEEREMARERERRN A THEMEHE
A (hRSEEDERERMAETAE -

No allowances have been made in our valuations for any charges, mortgages or
amounts owing on the Properties nor any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in
effecting a sale. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the Properties are free from
encumbrances, restrictions and outgoings of any onerous nature which could affect their
values.

EEZHETEZERBYEZEMER - RBRRK - S E KA REE &£ 2 B 3B
H-BREEHBIN EEBREVELBAIZEHEBECEEERAE - RHIRH -

We are not aware of any significant overseas taxes expected to be charged in respect of
the Properties.

BEW BT Z WEUE R EAEIMIIE

SToTESH AERAEERES 85[




VALUATION REPORT
YIR(EERS

Method of Valuation
HERE

In valuing the Property Nos. 1 to 5, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method
and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Income Capitalisation Method is
appropriate for valuations of the Properties held for investment.

M F1ESRYZEETHENS - EFHAREENMOELATIGHLESEETRINRE -
WaRBRMOEHRBERENMENGEN S BEE -

Income Capitalisation Method

W E AL

Income Capitalisation Method estimates the values of the Properties on a market basis
by capitalising the existing rental of all lettable units of each of the Properties for the
respective unexpired terms of contractual tenancies whilst vacant units are assumed
to be let at their respective market rents as at the Valuation Date. Upon expiry of the
existing tenancies, each unit is assumed to be let at its market rent as at the Valuation
Date, which is in turn capitalised for the unexpired term of the land use right under
which the Property is held. The summation of the capitalised value of the term rental for
the leased portion, the capitalised value of the reversion market rental as appropriately
deferred for the leased portion and the capitalised value of the vacant portion provides
the market value of each of the Properties.

WaR BN EBE BB SEMENMBATEEEGNREHESRARESNBLRBRFRANT
NERME - MZEEBEMCARBREEDPE BT ERS HHERTSEEGTTMENE
B - RIREBLERET - SEECEFHERRIEANGERREANTERSLME - WRE
ZIEMEN TIERENRBRFRATUERE - FEVENTEREFNEEIHHANE
SHENMLEE  HEEFIELEEECHERTSHSENM BEREETHHWER
{LEEH LM -

Market Comparison Method
MG

For cross-checking of the valuations arrived from Income Capitalisation Method, we
have also made reference to comparable sales evidence of properties with similar
characteristics as available in the relevant market.
MRXXBERHENMOEFENGENS - EFT2REETSPAF2 AEUSEOY
KA HEBR o
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Source of Information We have relied to a very considerable extent on the information given by the REIT
BRIR Manager and have accepted advice given to us on such matters as planning approvals,

statutory notices, easements, tenures, identification of land and buildings, particulars of
occupancy, operation accounts, tenancy details, site and floor areas, site and floor plans,
number of units, interests attributable to China Merchants Commercial REIT and all other
relevant matters.

EERRAEELEBEAEEAMBHNER - WEEMNBHEREFM XEBE i1
& - 8 THREFEF (GRS £ZKRE - MAFE iﬂ&&@ﬁﬁﬁ AR
LEBETEHE  SUHE  BHREERETESEGERE —VAMBESES TESH
BR -

Dimensions, measurements and areas are based on the copies of documents or other
information provided to us by the REIT Manager and are therefore only approximations.
No on-site measurement has been carried out. We have had no reason to doubt the
truth and accuracy of the information provided by the REIT Manager which is material to
the valuations. We were also advised that no material facts have been omitted from the
information provided to us.

RTJL gﬁ&EFBLA%tEﬂEMET%%E**EﬁX#@W&ﬁﬁﬂéﬂ%%fi HEAEL
B oo BEWMET aiﬂg/ﬁﬂ c BEWEIEHERFETEEARNESRELHGENSEER
Zéﬂﬁﬁﬁ, M R o m%%%ﬂ Fﬁ?mf,\él‘)é##l?ﬁiﬁafﬁfffﬁéj(%a o

We would point out that the copies of document provided to us are mainly compiled in
Chinese characters and the transliteration into English represents our understanding of
the contents. We would therefore advise the REIT Manager to make reference to the
original Chinese edition of the documents and consult your legal advisors regarding the
legality and interpretation of such document.

%ﬁéﬁth : :.ﬂ%%{,ﬁiﬁ’m{%ﬂlkszﬂiﬂ‘Xfﬁ*”  BARBEARESHATHIE
fig o 5E FEERAZRB XM FR R B THAEEERBRZE NS

%%&%Eo
Title Investigation We have been provided with copies of the title documents relating to the Properties and
ERERE have carried out title searches at the Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “R®3I| 1 &hEE

ERHL". We have sighted each original title certificate held in safekeeping the local
offices of China Merchants Commercial REIT or at the mortgaged bank in Shenzhen. All
documents have been used for reference only and all dimensions, measurements and
areas are approximate.

EECERHTARYEREZXMEIR - YERDRYITBEERP O BETRESH -
FERIRFEREREEFTESEMPNFEIR ﬂllﬁﬁ}iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂhﬁm%ﬁﬁiﬁm$
FIAXMHEHRSZE  MAERYT - BERAEERNE -
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Site Inspection
Bz

[=
=

rency

A
1\
®

\
!

Remarks

B

Our Shenzhen Office valuation team, Cathy Tang (2 years’ valuation experience), have
inspected the exterior and, where possible, the interior of the Properties in December
2020. No structural survey has been made, but in the course of our inspection, we did
not note any serious defects. We are, however, not able to report that the Properties
are free of rot, infestation or other structural defects. No test was carried out on any
of the services. Our valuations are prepared on the assumption that these aspects
are satisfactory. Unless otherwise stated, we have not carried out detailed on-site
measurements to verify the site and floor areas of the Properties and we have assumed
that the areas shown on the documents handed to us are correct.

VAR EER - B/ E (QF M ELR) BER20205F12 A8 YR IMEP KA ]

ﬁTAWJOEMIﬁLﬂ SR - EEREBEPIEERTERERE - %ﬁ

i“ﬁﬁ WYERRERN - S EMAMARRIE - EFWRAGEARE - &
ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%Tﬁ%mF“ﬁ%%oH#ﬁﬁm% TwiiIﬁLﬂﬁ%m
TRl 8 B YRR MEEEE LERBEXTESH XS EERIE
W o

Unless otherwise stated, all sums stated in our valuation report are in Renminbi (‘RMB”),
the official currency of the PRC.
MIESEFA - EERSAMISEOUTRBIEEEBEARE(T AR 27 -

The existing use of the Properties are considered as the highest and best uses. We
have not carried out any valuation on redevelopment basis, nor the study of possible
alternative options.

MEIREABRERAESRRERS - EEUEABRR SEMETEA(GERE AL
RSB —FARBERETHE -

We have been provided with the tenancy schedules, a standard Tenancy Agreement
and a Licence Agreement by the REIT Manager. We have not examined the tenancy
documents for each specific tenancy and our valuations are based on the basis that all
tenancy agreements are executed and are in accordance with the provisions stated in
the tenancy schedules provided to us. Moreover, we assume that the tenancies are valid,
binding and enforceable.
EE%&EEAkﬁﬁ EH%  BREREHRKETAINE - EFWAEHSERT

ﬁfmﬂ X EMHEDENMEHEERZRET AT EESERHMNEERH
RPTEHERS © %%' SRJ[EOR/ER - AEHRN KT ©

We hereby certify that we have neither present nor prospective interest in the REIT or the
valuation reported.

BEEENER  EEREHEREEAESAMERNEETRETARAIEENE -
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We are independent of the REIT, the trustee and the manager and each of the significant
shareholders of the scheme within the paragraph 6.5 of the REIT Code. Mr. Philip C Y
Tsang has no potential conflict of interest and is able to provide objective and unbiased
valuations for the Properties.

EEBUNBHEREERES  XRANREEAURERESTRIFE6.0REBENGT SR
FERR - BEAEWREBETENNGER - AIRAYMERETE R A ENGE -

The conclusions of market value are based on generally accepted valuation procedures
and practices that rely extensively on the use of numerous assumptions and the
consideration of many market data, not all of which can be easily quantified or ascertained.
This valuation report is prepared on fair and unbiased basis subject to our general
assumptions and limitation conditions.

MEERDNERARGEEFRES - KBEZERARAERERZEEFZMHEE - ML
B REREBEINE S 2 RIETE - AMEERS DHRBES 2 —RER LR BT -
BAFAIEFEERE o

Non-publication & Neither the whole nor any part of this report or any reference thereto may be included in
Savings Clause any document, circular or statement without our prior written approval of the form and
FEAEARRBIRL context in which it will appear.

AEEFERERIE - NREN2ESEM IO HEERSLL - BSARREER K&
ABAATARISF - Bk

Finally and in accordance with our standard practice, we must state that this report is for
the use only of the party to whom it is addressed and no responsibility is accepted to any
third party for the whole or any part of its contents.

& - RIBESMTEBY - EFVARARGRSEHREEAER - B TEE2ESTE
A& D AR ERE =T RERE -

We enclose herewith a summary of valuations and our valuation — BEERMI=HERZERMGEERS - # ETHE -
report for your attention.

Yours faithfully, Rx

For and on behalf of HERTERAF
Cushman & Wakefield Limited BERA

Philip C Y Tsang AEZEAERm(EAEHE)
Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice) AR A (A
Registered China Real Estate Appraiser MSc, MHKIS

MSc, MHKIS =

Director ERL

“ECTEFR BARBEETES




VALUATION REPORT

YIEEERS
SUMMARY OF VALUATIONS
REME
Market value in
Market value in existing state
existing state attribute to
as at the Group as at
31 December Interest attribute 31 December
Property 2020 to the Group 2020
12020612H31H
M2020512A31H BEH BRT B&E
LYES BRTHME bR BfEmE
(RMB) (%) (RMB)
(AR®) (BoL) (ARH)
1. New Times Plaza, No. 1, Taizi Road, Nanshan 2,065,000,000 100 2,065,000,000
District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
PRI RE R T L E KT RS RES
2. Cyberport Building, No. 1079, Nanhai Avenue, 1,042,000,000 100 1,042,000,000
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
FERIERE R T LERERE
10795k BUS K E
3. Technology Building, No. 1067, Nanhai Avenue, 868,000,000 100 868,000,000
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
FERIERE R T LEREAE
10675 BHE K=
4, Technology Building 2, No. 1057, Nanhai Avenue, 1,082,000,000 100 1,082,000,000
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
FRIERE R T LEREAE
10575 RHE AR E — A
5. Garden City Shopping Centre, No. 1086 Nanhai 1,5687,000,000 100 1,587,000,000
Avenue, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
FRIERE R T LERERE
10865 fE Rk
Grand Total (rounded): 6,644,000,000 6,644,000,000
BET (W)
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YIEMERS
VALUATION REPORT
e
Market value
in existing
state as at
Particulars of 31 December
Property Description and tenure occupancy 2020
A2020F12A31H
VIES BRRER fE e BRT2miE
1. New Times Plaza, New Times Plaza is an office building which comprises As at the Valuation Date, RMB2,065,000,000
No. 1, Taizi Road, 2-storey commercial area (Level 1 to Level 2), 34-storey portion of the Property with (RENMINBI
Nanshan District, office (Level 3 to Level 33, Level 35, 36 and 38) and 212 a total Gross Rentable Area TWO BILLION
Shenzhen City, car parking spaces in the basement. The Property was of approximately 62,107.04 SIXTY FIVE MILLION)
Guangdong Province, erected on a parcel of land with a site area of 8,642.45 s m has been leased AR2,065,000,0007C
the PRC sq m and was completed in 1997. under various tenancies, (NRBFREEF
H FERESD-EHFEEER (1182212) R34EHLD yieldng a total monthly hEBTE)
ERE B (312Z33% - 3512 - 3612 k3812) LARME212{EFEE  rent of approximately
3l Uz EFBAK - ZWEENBEIESS,642.45F /7KK RMB10,180,301, exclusive  (Based on the said total
Bl WiRZ EWER1997FRT - of management fee and monthly rent as at
KFEAH value-added tax. the Valuation Date,
HRRES The Property has a total Gross Floor Area 0f 87,336.98 sqm ~ RMEEBE - % —55 the estimated net
with details as follows: ZAFHERAENA property yield of
ZIMFEREMERET,336.98T K « FHENT 62,107.04F 7K - BERRES the Property
HRAOLAE - 8 AR RN is 5.92%)
Approximate AARK10,180,3017T - T8 (EAHERHFTIA
Approximate Gross JoERERILETN BRHSEE  Z0%E
Gross Floor Rentable Area o E’Jﬁ%ﬁ%‘#@%ﬂ&é%
Portion Area BOTAE ;he rertnammg part (t>f the 55.92%)
STA roperty was vacant.
3 ROREER RER o mzauTHs2E -
(sq m) (sq m)
(F5K) (FR)
Office 82,591.17 62,654.22
(Level 3 to Level 38)
BTE(3EERE)
Commercial 4,745.81 4,945.81
(Level 1 1o Level 2)
HER (11EZ28)
212 car parking spaces N/A N/A
212{R1R AL @A TEm
Total: 87,336.98 67,600.03
a5t

Note:  The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the
Gross Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

frat - BEEREFLEEEAR  ARSEERERWESER

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 50 years due to expire on 27 January 2045 for commercial
office use.

ZME 2 TNERRERLERERARE - AES0F - 1
204561 A27 A 55 -
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Notes:

1)

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000594829 dated 29 July
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
8,642.45 sg m have been granted to Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (R Q¥R EEERER Q7))
for a term of 50 years due to expire on 27 January 2045 for commercial office
use. The legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Shekou New Times
Real Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (FYITie O AE EE
B A PR A 7)) with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 87,336.98 sq m for
office and commercial culture use.

We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “)%
YT FEZ P L, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry
Form (TN EHEIK 5 2 & %) dated 29 December 2020:

Brat -

(1)  RIEAEAE201447 A29H 2 5 i E 4 3% ( 54000594829
5%) - AR TEX) 58,642,455 KA R T i (F FAED
BPRIIME RS EERERAR - (EEENAR
% BHAS0E © 204551 A27 R BH o M 2 R EE
T84 A87,336.98°F 77 2K + AT IR BRI e O
HREBXEERRARET  EFAREEUERRE -

@ REBHIA2020F12 4208 2 A B ERKBELERNL T
ZRRDRINTEEZ DO EITEESR

Registered Owner Real Estate Title Certificate No. Mortgage

afEEE A P M EERERE SR 1715

Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate Investment 4000594829 dated 29 July 2014 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
and Management Co., Ltd. H 14201447 A29H 1540005948295+ (ERRT(HE)ARRARYIHTT)

(RINT e VR EXERERAF)

According to Business Licence No. 914403003059177335 dated 4 April 2019,
Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. CRYIT o D3RR E X BB R A F)) was established on 23 April 2014 as
a limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information
provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile

@) IREEAHEIA2019F4 F40 2 &5 FA(5914403003059177335
%) - RO FRREXERARARN2014F4H23
AR ABRAT

@ REETEEARHIENER BSFHRAEOBRZD
HraganT -

15 PR

Approximate
Gross Rentable

Type E=Eil] Area % of Total
WA THEEREE IHEEENED
(sqm)
(FFK)
Leased B 62,107.04 91.9
Vacant NE 5,492.99 8.1
Total: st 67,600.03 100.0
Lease Commencement Profile THERIREIRN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fip Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHTHEE L AAERERY =4 IE4BEER Bk (st G
BEE Elal=d bzl Atk #B Epa=d
(sa m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥)
2011 20114 975.16 1.4% 94,818.20 0.9% 1 1.2%
2017 20174 3,084.51 4.6% 436,295.24 4.3% 4 4.7%
2018 20184 2,5620.72 3.7% 616,895.39 6.1% 8 9.3%
2019 20194 17,677.28 26.1% 2,787,444.96 27.4% 17 19.8%
2020 20204 37,849.37 56.1% 6,244,847.81 61.3% 56 65.0%
Vacant NE 5,492.99 8.1% - - - -
Total: gt 67,600.03 100.0% 10,180,301.60 100.0% 86 100.0%
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VALUATION REPORT
MEMLEBERS
Notes: (continued) Hiat - ()
(4) (continued) @ ()
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1L AR (&)

Lease Expiry Profile THEREBRN

Approximate

Gross
Expiry Date JEm B Rentable Area % of Total Monthly Rental % of Total
BAHERAERE (HEEENESL SHRHES HABENE DL
(saq m) (RMB)
(FFFHAK) (AR®)
2021/12/31 2021/12/31 30,141.17 44.6% 5,298,308.25 52.0%
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 26,259.32 38.9% 4,181,144.90 41.1%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 1,989.84 2.9% 237,258.33 2.3%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 454.76 0.7% 55,160.00 0.5%
2025/12/31 and after 2025/12/31 %2 1% 3,261.95 4.8% 408,435.12 4.0%
Vacant NE 5,492.99 8.1% - -
Total: et 67,600.03 100.0% 10,180,301.60 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile THEFHBN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year F5 Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BATHE {hEBEERN {h48EEM {REBEMN
BEE ALt SAES R4 HAHE Epa=a
(sam) (RMB)
(FFHK) (AR
Up to 1 year TE@1F 23,031.13 34.1% 4,053,623.87 39.8% 39 45.3%
More than 1 year and 1L E
up to 2 years BRHEE2F 16,937.11 251% 2,745,535.69 27.0% 21 24.4%
More than 2 years and 2F Ak
up to 3 years B EBE3F 15,332.45 22.7% 2,548,456.34 25.0% 18 20.9%
More than 3 years and 3FM L
up to 4 years BEBE4F 349.26 0.5% 47,888.57 0.5% 1 1.2%
More than 4 years and 4FE E
up to 5 years {BREBESF 2,219.98 3.3% 281,543.81 2.8% 4 4.7%
More than 9 years and 9FLAE
up to 10 years BREEE105F 975.16 1.4% 94,818.20 0.9% 1 1.2%
More than 12 years and 1244 |
up to 13 years BTEBHE134F 3,261.95 4.8% 408,435.12 4.0% 2 2.3%
Vacant NE 5,492.99 8.1% - - - -
Total: FaE 67,600.03 100.0% 10,180,301.60 100.0% 86 100.0%
—ToTFERBERAELEERES 93/



VALUATION REPORT
YIR(EERS

Notes: (continued)

Bt - (%)

(5)  We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions: By EBEERUATBREETHE

(i) Shenzhen Shekou New Times Plaza Real Estate Investment and [0} TR OFHREXEEERAREEZMENLE
Management Co., Ltd. (RIITT i AFMKREXERBRARF) is in FETEERE - BRERZWEERE T ERERR
possession of a proper legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer TF A BAREINA B AT T RE St EE
the Property with the residual term of its land use right at no extra land FIE
premium or other onerous payment payable to the government;

(i) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and i  FELHMEHES R AR - MBS R EREERD
infrastructure fees have been fully settled; HiBHDEEES

(i) The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the (i)  FEYEMRE RGERDEMAMBATIIIEE &
relevant government departments; and

(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil V) BYEAEEEEEENBRTAHLETES -
encumbrances.

(6)  In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of ~ (6) RIEEFAEEAREZER  EERIER T ZEEIER
title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: FTRIBAT
Real Estate Ownership Certificate Yes (above ground) EHhEREE BObEEL L)

Business Licence Yes EER =]

(7)  Invaluing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and ~ (7) ~ REZYWEEITHER - TEOEMNREENUEL TS
cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used LEBUREITRXRE - EERRGENMUEBERRAZE
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: ZEEBANT
Income Capitalisation Method W E AR A

Monthly Reversionary

Use Az Market Rent Term Yield Yield

FRAWEHESE FHIR R ERERE
(RMB/sg m)
(AR¥ETL/FFHXK)

Office BFE 169 4% 4.5%

Commercial [EESE 185-305 4% 4.5%

Car Parking Spaces fFEAL 490 4.5%

* Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added * BAMSHSTEIEEREILER -
tax.

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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YIR(EERS

VALUATION REPORT
HERSE

Market value

in existing
state as at
Particulars of 31 December
Property Description and tenure occupancy 2020
M2020612A31A
VIES BRREH fE R BRT2miE
2. Cyberport Building, Cyberport Building is an office building technically zoned As at the Valuation Date, RMB1,042,000,000
No. 1079, for industrial use which comprises a 9-storey office building  portion of the Property with a (RENMINBI
Nanhai Avenue, and a 6-storey office building, connected by a corridor at  total Gross Rentable Area of ONE BILLION
Nanshan District, Level 1 and 2 respectively. The Property also comprises approximately 29,483.11 sgm  FORTY TWO MILLION)
Shenzhen City, commercial units located at Level 1 and 255 car parking has been leased under various AR #1,042,000,0007T
Guangdong Province, ~ spaces in the basement. The Property was erected ona  tenancies, yielding a total (AEEREEF
the PRC parcel of land with a site area of 15,561.45 sq m and was  monthly rent of approximately ARETE)
H completed in 2009. RMB3, 144,233, exclusive of
ERE YBAERRM LA ATERAEMMILE - B—EMFEH  management fee and value- (Based on the said
A DEROEHNEAN - WEA—BRIEER - ZWETH  added tax, total monthly rent as
BlR —BLERF BN RANNE5EFEAAMR - ZWERR RMEERS  ZWE—H9  atthe Valuation Date,
mEKE RIS R15,561 45 F A KA FWWER2009FRT o 2 A ATHERERENA the estimated net
10795 20483 11F 1K » BEIRIES yield of the Property
YHERE The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 40,435.09sqm BN - SAHLLEED is 3.62%)
with details as follows: RARES3 144233 A8 (BRMAEREBFTRE
TMEEEEMERA435.00F 5K - FEIT RERERIEET - SAMeEE
FOFENETENE
Approximate  The remaining part of the Wi % 53.62%)
Approximate Gross  Property was vacant.
Gross Floor Rentable Area 4 //=F) FHNZEE -
Portion Area BHTHRE
0o BHEEERE BEE
(sq m) (sa m)

(FFK) (FER)

Office 38,957.55 37,455.41
BTiE

Commercial 1,477.54 2,985.84
255 car parking spaces N/A N/A
255{E= =1 TiEHR TEA
Total: 40,435.09 40,441.25
@t

Note:  The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the
Gross Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area
because, as per the tenancy details provided to us, some common
area are also devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.

frat - BEEREEHEEEARN  WHEEERRRNESER

THERERANEERE  RRAREABSMRENAEFE
ETAHBRENABERE - UBRERKES -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 50 years due to expire on 22 May 2057 for industrial use.
FWEZ DERRERIETIEMRE - RHIS0F - 12057
F5R22B51H

T TEFR AEREEEREES




VALUATION REPORT
YIR(EERS

Notes:

(1)

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595164 dated 5 August
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
15,5661.45 sq m have been granted to Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZY|TTHBAEELEEEREA
7)) for a term of 50 years due to expire on 22 May 2057 for industrial use. The
legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (FHITFEIEAEE L EEHRAF)
with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 40,435.09 sq m for research and
production use.

Brat -

(1)

1R B B A20145 8 A5 H 2 5 10 & # 7% ( 25 4000595164
§5) ¢ HUBREAELY A15,561.45F 7 KMt 2 i AED
BPRIMBBAESEERARAR  (FELE¥RAR A
HAS04F » j220574F5 522 AZIHE - ¥ v AR EEBELN A
40,435.09F 5K - AT EEFBEN A MEIBAEE
BFRERARET « tEAKRAEERS ©

We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre %  (2)  1RIEHEIA2020F 12 2900 2 A BHERBELEAER - &

YT BEZ 2 H 4, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry ZERCFINTBEE L EITERSE

Form (T B)E 5 0% 50 & $5) dated 29 December 2020:

Registered Owner Real Estate Title Certificate No. Mortgage

EfEE A EHERERS %48

Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment 4000595164 dated 5 August 2014 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
and Management Co., Ltd. HAH 5201448 A5H K 25400059516455% (BRRIT(RR)BRARFNDT)
(RINTHERAEBELERBRARF)

According to Business Licence No. 914403003059178641 dated 14 February ()  1RIZEHAZR201962 5148 2 & ¥ H1IR (55914403003059178641

2019, Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment and Management %) AN BB AEE X ERARAFN2014F4H23H

Co., Ltd. (FINTHETE K EE £ EEHRAR]) was established on 23 April 2014 R ABRAR]

as a limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information ~ (4)  REBEFFEEEAREZHNER - EFHRBHEOBR 25

provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile

EHIT
& LR

Approximate
Gross Rentable

Type kil Area % of Total
O THERLEE HEEENE DL

(sq m)

(FFHK)
Leased B 29,483.11 72.9
Vacant HNE 10,958.14 27.1
Total: et 40,441.25 100.0

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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Notes: (continued) HKiat - ()
(4)  (continued) @ (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1L AR (&)
Lease Commencement Profile THERBBIN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fop Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BARHEE {LABEER 8A {LABZEM EiEES 1REBEWN
REE P4 pizk Epaad 2B P4
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFFHK) (AR®)
2017 20174 118.20 0.3% 26,209.52 0.8% 1 2.3%
2018 20184 9,182.60 22.7% 1,118,643.81 35.6% 10 23.3%
2019 20194 8,016.82 19.8% 839,374.29 26.7% 7 16.3%
2020 20204 12,170.49 30.1% 1,160,005.72 36.9% 25 58.1%
Vacant HE 10,958.14 27.1% - - - -
Total: st 40,441.25 100.0% 3,144,233.34 100.0% 43 100.0%
Lease Expiry Profile THESIEBR
Approximate
Gross Monthly
Expiry Date =Rt Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total
BN E {hAEEEN 1RABEEN
REE B gRHESE Epi=4
(s m) (RMB)
(FEARXK) (AR®)
2021/12/31 2021/12/31 4,813.16 11.9% 571,718.05 18.2%
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 9,562.80 23.6% 1,110,416.19 35.3%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 12,461.89 30.8% 1,188,935.24 37.8%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 2,645.26 6.6% 273,163.86 8.7%
2025/12/31 and after 2025/12/31 % 2 1% - - - -
Vacant HE 10,958.14 27.1% - -
Total: gt 40,441.25 100.0% 3,144,233.34 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile THEFEBIN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fp Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BARHEE {hEEER 8A {LABEEM EizE 1REBEMN
HmEE EpaNed bick Aot 2B Aot
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFFHK) (AR®)
Up to 1 year TiBiE14F 1,604.97 4.0% 182,359.05 5.8% 18.6%
More than 1 year and 16 E
up to 2 years B R 1,080.55 2.7%  174,796.19 5.6% 4.7%
More than 2 years and 2F LAk
up to 3 years {BNEBA3F 18,118.02 44.8% 1,750,606.67 55.7% 25 58.1%
More than 3 years and 3FLE
up to 4 years B FRBASE 1,667.13 41%  205,680.95 6.5% 4.7%
More than 4 years and 4F A
up to 5 years B FEESE 7,012.44 17.3% 830,790.48 26.4% 13.9%
Vacant NE 10,958.14 27.1% - - -
Total: #Et 40,441.25 100.0% 3,144,233.34 100.0% 43 100.0%
s — = e N ¢
—ECTEFR EEREERTES 97/




VALUATION REPORT
YIR(EERS

Notes: (continued)

®)

Bt - (%)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions: 6) BEERUATERRETHE
()  Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment and Management 0} FNTEIBAEEXETEERAREEZWENER
Co., Ltd. (RYITEISKEE X EIL AR A F) is in possession of a proper EEXE  AREZRZVFERAEDERENRT
legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with the FEAM B A RESMNAIBTES Tt R e S B EER
residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other onerous I8
payment payable to the government;
(i) Al land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and (i)  FrAELHEES R AR R - M R AR
infrastructure fees have been fully settled; HihBHDEHES
(i) The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the (i)  EYEMRE RGERCEMAMBATIIIE &
relevant government departments; and
(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil vy ZYENEEEEAENBEATEREETER -
encumbrances.
In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of ~ (6)  RIBEEEIEARM 2 ER £ EET 2 T BHER
title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: SRl
Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground) EHEREE BOEE L)
Business Licence Yes EER A
In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and 7))  RYZMEETHER  BSEEEMNRBZENUELIATS
cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used LESREITRIXRE - BSRWEERCAEERHFEBAZE
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: BERMMT ¢
Income Capitalisation Method W E AR A
Monthly Reversionary
Use A Market Rent Term Yield Yield
FAmEHEE FHR R R EHREIRE
(RMB/sg m)
(AR¥ETT/FFHXK)
Office BRI 122 4.5% 5%
Commercial HER 173 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces (FEAL 522 5%

*

Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added
tax.

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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VALUATION REPORT

YIEIEERE
VALUATION REPORT
fRE®RSE
Market value
in existing
state as at
Particulars of 31 December
Property Description and tenure occupancy 2020
M2020512A31A
IS BRREH ERFE BRT2mE
3. Technology Building, Technology Building is an office building technically zoned for  As at the Valuation Date, RMB868,000,000
No. 1067, industrial use which comprises a 7-storey main building anda  portion of the Property with a (RENMINBI
Nanhai Avenue, 6-storey annex building. The Property also comprises 110 car  total Gross Rentable Area of EIGHT HUNDRED
Nanshan District, parking spaces. The Property was erected on a parcel of land  approximately 34,781.04 sqm  SIXTY EIGHT MILLION)
Shenzhen City, with a site area of 17,563.80 sq m and was completed in 2002. has been leased under various A K #868,000,0007T
Guangdong Province, BYEGAR(RMAATERR NEAERCESRR  tenancies, yielding a total (ANREBIERAT
the PRC TBEAESMBETER - ZWENSEOERFER - 7% monthly rent of approximately FIEETE)
h WERINRIER17,563.80F IR F1A20026F RMB3 541,697, exclusive
BRE BT o of management fee and (Based on the said
il value-added tax. total monthly rent as
BlE The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 41,57851sqm ~ RMEEBE - 2% —%9 at the Valuation Date,
BEXE with details as follows: RETHEARENR the estimated net
10675 ZWEBEEEMBEAN ST851FRK  FIENT 34,781.04F 5K - BIRES yield of the Property
BHERE ERALHE  §ARSEEN is 4.90%.)
RARE354607 ™ (EREERBARE
Approximate  fEEIRE RIZEN o BRAMRESE  ZNF
Approximate Gross Wi ENE R RE
Gross Floor Rentable Area  The remaining part of the £4.90% ° )
Portion Area BHTMHEE  Property was vacant.
k) BAREER BEE ZNENRTHEIZE -
(sa m) (sam)
(F5K) (TR
Main building 38,529.22 38,497.01
Fig
Annex building 8,049.29 8,049.29
T
110 car parking spaces N/A N/A
110{Efz =1L TR TEA
Total: 41,578.51 41,546.30
st

Note:  The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross

Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

frat - BERREEGEREAMN  TREEAREENESAR -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 50 years due to expire on 7 January 2051 for industrial use.
ZE THERRDRLELERS - AH0E - BR

20511 A7HER °

T TEFR AEREEEREES




VALUATION REPORT
YIR(EERS

Notes: Biat -

(1) According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595344 dated 7 August (1) 1R{E B HIA201448 A7 H 2 B & 4 B ( 5 4000595344
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately 5%) 0 AR FE40/517,563.80F 5 KBt iR 2 + Hb i A4
17,563.80 sq m have been granted to Shenzhen Technology Building Real ERFRIMBMABEERERAR  (ELERAS - AH
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZJIHRIABEEB AR Q7)) 504 - R2051F1A7HEE - ZWEZHEEEBEN S
for a term of 50 years due to expire on 7 January 2051 for industrial use. The 4157851 F 5K - AT EEFBEN R MBRIRAEEER
legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate BREAR  FHB0OTF -

Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZIITRIABEEEEFRAR) with a
total Gross Floor Area of approximately 41,578.51 sgq m with details as follows:

Building Name Completion Date Gross Floor Area
BFEEE BRITAH RHEEE
(sa m)
(FFK)
Technology Building 26 June 2002
MEKRE 200246 726H 33,529.22
Technology Building 26 June 2002
REKRE 200246 726H 8,049.29
Total:
FEE 41,578.51

(2)  We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre &  (2) RIEBHA2020F 12 AN B 2T B EREHEMEAER
YR BN EZ A", according to Real Estate Information Computer Inquiry C BEFERDRYITBESL RO HETEEST
Result Form (T8 ZE # &8 Kl B B 5945 £ K) dated 31 December 2020:

Registered Owner Real Estate Title Certificate No. Mortgage

FEMEEA FEibEREE SR &\

Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate 4000595344 dated 7 August 2014 Nil
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. HE/2014F8 A7 H A5 40005953445%  f&

CRYITRARBERERARAA)

(38)  According to Business Licence No. 91440300305917637U dated 15 February (3) R E H H R2019F 2 A 15 B 2 2 X R (£

2019, Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate Investment and Management 91440300305917637U5%) » AINTHRIA B X ERBR AR
Co., Ltd. (RYITRIAE £ EIRHR A F) was established on 25 April 2014 as a #2014F4 250 KL ABRAR]

limited liability company.

(4)  Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information ~ (4)  REBEFFEEEAREZHNER - EFHRBHEOBR 25
provided by the REIT Manager is set out below: &

Occupancy Profile 15 AR

Approximate
Gross Rentable

Type E=Eil] Area % of Total
BARHEREE THAAEENE DL

(saq m)

(FEFHXK)
Leased [Shusti:! 34,781.04 83.7
Vacant NE 6,765.26 16.3

Total: st 41,546.30 100.0




D D
VALUATION REPORT
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Notes: (continued) HKiat - ()
(4)  (continued) 4 (%)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1L AR (&)
Lease Commencement Profile THERBBIN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fop Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BARHEE {LABEER 8A {LABZEM EiEES 1REBEWN
REE P4 pizk Epaad 2B P4
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFFHK) (AR®)
2017 20174 1,401.97 3.4% 162,307.62 4.6% 1 4.5%
2018 20184 10,292.04 24.8% 1,079,385.71 30.5% 6 27.3%
2019 20194 18,346.83 44.2% 1,828,320.06 51.5% 12 54.5%
2020 20204 4,740.20 11.4% 476,683.77 13.4% 3 18.7%
Vacant HE 6,765.26 16.2% - - - -
Total: st 41,546.30 100.0% 3,541,697.16 100.0% 22 100.0%
Lease Expiry Profile FAEFIEBER
Approximate
Gross Monthly
Expiry Date =Rt Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total
BN E {hAEEEN 1RABEEN
REE B gRHESE Epi=4
(saq m) (RMB)
(FEARXK) (AR®)
2021/12/31 2021/12/31 13,083.56 31.5% 1,372,410.48 38.8%
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 10,664.48 25.7% 1,085,372.90 30.6%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 5,619.54 13.5% 600,162.82 16.9%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 5,413.46 13.0% 483,750.96 18.7%
2025/12/31 and after 2025/12/31 &% 2 1% - - - -
Vacant HE 6,765.26 16.3% - -
Total: st 41,546.30 100.0% 3,541,697.16 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile THEFEBR
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fp Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BARHEE {hEEER 8A {LABEEM EizE 1REBEMN
HmEE EpaNed bick Aot 2B Aot
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFFHK) (AR®)
Up to 1 year TiBiE14F 1,352.62 3.3% 132,080.00 3.7% 4.5%
More than 1 year and 16 E
up to 2 years B R 2,268.89 55%  254,196.19 7.2% 9.1%
More than 2 years and 2F Ak
up to 3 years {BTNEBA3F 18,673.47 44.9% 1,930,432.82 54.5% 12 54.5%
More than 3 years and 3FLE
up to 4 years BT BIBAE 4,840.64 11.7%  485,677.14 13.7% 4.6%
More than 4 years and 4F A E
up to 5 years BB IB5E 6,243.45 15.0%  577,003.39 16.3% 22.7%
More than 5 years and 5F Ak
up to 6 years B EE6E 1,401.97 3.3% 162,307.62 4.6% 4.6%
Vacant HNE 6,765.26 16.3% - - -
Total: it 41,546.30 100.0% 3,541,697.16 100.0% 22 100.0%
s — = e N ¢
—ETFEFR EEREERTES 107




VALUATION REPORT
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Notes: (continued)

®)

Bt - (%)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions: 6) BEERUATERRETHE
()  Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate Investment and Management ) AYTRIAB X ERARAAEEZMENEREE
Co. Ltd. (RYITTRI KB X EIRAMAF) is in possession of a proper i BREEZYEERE D RENSR T EH
legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with the B /AZEINABITEN T RS R B EIE
residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other onerous
payment payable to the government;
(i) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and (i)  FrAELHEES R AR - S R AR
infrastructure fees have been fully settled; HihBRDEHES
(i) ~ The design and construction of the Property are in compliance with (i) FEMERRE FERF A B HARERE - W EAEE
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant AT EPFIRLAE © &
government departments; and
(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil vy ZYEAEEEEAENBRTERHETES -
encumbrances.
In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of ~ (6)  RIBEEETEIRARM 2 EHl - 2ERIRET 2 X EMAER
title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: FFAIFEMAR ¢
Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground) EHEREE BOEEL L)
Business Licence Yes EEHR B
In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and ~ (7) R ETHER - BEDHEMKZEERNMEEL LATHS
cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used HESRETRXRE - BERWRERAGERHRAZE
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: BRI ¢
Income Capitalisation Method KRB AR{E
Monthly Reversionary
Use A Market Rent Term Yield Yield
FAmEHEE FHR R R EHREIRE
(RMB/sg m)
(AR¥ETT/FFHXK)
Office BRI 112 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces {REfL 427 5%
. Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added * FAMSHSTRIEERE LILER

tax.
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VRS ERE

VALUATION REPORT

HERE

Property

S

Description and tenure

BRKFH

Market value

in existing

state as at

Particulars of 31 December
occupancy 2020
R2020% 128310

ERFHE BRT2hE

4. Technology Building 2,

No. 1057,
Nanhai Avenue,

Nanshan District,

Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province,

the PRC

H

I
BLE
MEXE
10575
REAE—H

Technology Building 2 is an office building technically zoned for
industrial use which comprises two 6-storey buildings and 220
car parking spaces in the basement. The Property was erected
on a parcel of land with a site area of 17,232.03 sq m and was
completed in 2010.

BrEGA BRI LA AIERR) ORBAE_BamR
6/E TH#E Rt E220 AR BRI « ZMERNEEES
17,232.03F 77 KRR 2 EXWER2010FKT -

The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 42,531.37 sqm
with details as follows:
TR ERERE AW 53 ITEHK  FENT

Approximate
Approximate Gross
Gross Floor Rentable Area
Portion Area BHAEE
b BHREER BEE
(sq m) (s m)
(F5K) (FFK)
Technology Building 20,991.01 21,080.78
2 Building A
RIRE —HiARE
Technology Building 21,640.36 22,010.68
2 Building B
MEAE_—HBE
220 car parking spaces N/A N/A
220fRFER THA TEA
Total: 42,531.37 43,091.46
st

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the
Gross Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area
because, as per the tenancy details provided to us, some common
area are also devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.

frat - BEEREEREEEARN  IREEERRRNESER

AERERANEERE  RRAREASSMRHENEERF
ETRARENAERE - UBSRKES -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 50 years due to expire on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.
ZMEZ TIFEREEREETIERE - RES0F - K2057
F6A20HF5

RMB1,082,000,000
(RENMINBI ONE

As at the Valuation Date,

portion of the Property with a
total Gross Rentable Area of BILLION EIGHTY
approximately 32,056.72 sqm TWO MILLION)
has been leased under various A & #1,082,000,0007C

tenancies, yielding a total (ARBRERF
monthly rent of approximately AAETE)

RMB3,213,335, exclusive
of management fee and
value-added tax.
WNMEERS - ZNE—#2
BEHEREENAR

(Based on the said
total monthly rent as
at the Valuation Date,
the estimated net

32,056.72F 5K  BIRES yield of the Property
BROLE  FAMESREN is 3.56%.)
BARE3213335L M (EAAER B
BEREBRIEE FAMSEE  IN%E
REErFE R X
The remaining part of the 53.56% ° )

Property was vacant.
ZMENBRTHDEE o
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Notes:

1)

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595343 dated 7 August
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
17,232.03 sg m have been granted to Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZIITFRIA — BB £ ERER
/~r)) for a term of 50 years due to expire on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.
The legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZJIHRIK —HIZE X EEER A
aJ) with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 42,531.37 sq m with details as
follows:

Brat -

R B 8 A201458 A7 B 2 5 10 & # 7% ( 55 4000595343
5%) - MR R4 517,282,038 75 K& R~ T3 FAED
BPRIMBAZHEXERARAR  (FELE¥RAR - A
HAS04F » 12205746 A20A IR - ¥ 2 AEEEBELN A
4258137 F 5K - AT EEBBEN AN MBIA-HEZE
FEBRARET @ BT

Building Name Building Use Completion Date Gross Floor Area
BFER BFRRR RTIRH BHEEE
(sq m)
(FHK)
Technology Building 2 Building A Industrial 3 February 2010
RHKE — BAARE I% 201052 A3H 20,991.01
Technology Building 2 Building B Industrial 3 February 2010
RHEAE — BB I% 201052 A3H 21,540.36
Total:
Wit 42,531.37
We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “/% @ BEBHA2020F12A208 2 "B ERFELENRNE B

YT B EZ L H L, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry
Form (R E R E L E #K) dated 29 December 2020:

SERDRINTBERRCT O JETEEESN

Registered Owner

A A FEHEREER

Real Estate Title Certificate No.

Mortgage
1248

Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd.
(RYITRAR B X EIRERDF)

According to Business Licence No. 914403003059179017 dated 16 April 2019,
Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. (RIITRIA —HIE $£E 1 B[R /A 7)) was established on 24 April 2014 as a
limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information
provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile

4000595343 dated 7 August 2014
HE#/520144°8 A7 H W 5540005953435

@

DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
(BRBIT(HEDBERRAFNSTT)

BIEHHSA2019F4 4160 24 EHB(F
9144030030591790175%) * FIITMERIRA—HEXETEHFR
AFFP2014F4 A24 AR BERAT] ©

REFTEEARMIBOER  BEEEREANER S
FragzImT

1 LR

Approximate
Gross Rentable

Type zgid) Area % of Total
BHOHERAEE HEEENE L

(sq m)

(FHK)
Leased [yt 32,065.72 74.4
Vacant NE 11,025.74 25.6
Total: et 43,091.46 100.0
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Notes: (continued) HKiat - ()
(4)  (continued) 4 (%)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1L AR (&)
Lease Commencement Profile THERBBIN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fop Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BARHEE {LABEER 8A {LABZEM EiEES 1REBEWN
REE P4 pizk Epaad 2B P4
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFFHK) (AR®)
2017 20174 2,826.71 6.6% 264,903.81 8.2% 2 8.0%
2018 20184 11,659.39 27.1% 1,223,191.16 38.1% 10 40.0%
2019 20194 4,587.19 10.6% 529,739.05 16.5% 5 20.0%
2020 20204 12,992.43 30.1% 1,195,500.95 37.2% 8 32.0%
Vacant HE 11,025.74 25.6% - - - -
Total: st 43,091.46 100.0% 3,213,334.97 100.0% 25 100.0%
Lease Expiry Profile FAEFIHBER
Approximate
Gross Monthly
Expiry Date =Rt Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total
BN E {hAEEEN 1RABEEN
REE B gRHESE Epi=4
(s m) (RMB)
(FEARXK) (AR®)
2021/12/31 2021/12/31 2,307.74 5.4% 270,297.14 8.4%
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 4,545.60 10.5% 286,047.62 8.9%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 22,304.96 51.8% 2,327,147.35 72.4%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 2,907.42 6.7% 329,842.86 10.3%
2025/12/31 and after 2025/12/31 & 2 1% - - - -
Vacant HE 11,025.74 25.6% - -
Total: st 43,091.46 100.0% 3,213,334.97 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile THEFEBIN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fp Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BARHEE {hEEER 8A {LABEEM EizE 1REBEMN
HmEE EpaNed bick Aot 2B Aot
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFFHK) (AR®)
Up to 1 year TiBiE14F 796.61 1.8% 87,824.76 2.7% 1 4.0%
More than 2 years and 2F Ak
up to 3 years {BNEBA3F 13,804.84 32.0% 1,311,292.38 40.8% 9 36.0%
More than 3 years and 3FLE
up to 4 years BT BIBAE 1,581.88 3.7%  178,752.38 5.6% 1 4.0%
More than 4 years and 4F P
up to 5 years {BNEBA5F 15,882.39 36.9% 1,635,465.45 50.9% 14 56.0%
Vacant NE 11,025.74 25.6% - - - -
Total: et 43,091.46 100.0% 3,213,334.97 100.0% 25 100.0%
_ e N ¢
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Notes: (continued) Bt (48)

®)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions: 6) BEERUATERRETHE

(i) Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate Investment and

) RNERARZHEXEEERAREEZMENLA

Management Co., Ltd. (RIITRA_HEXERARAF) is in EEENE - AREEZYEERE T RENRT
possession of a proper legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer FEAM B A RESMNAIBTES Tt R e S B EER
the Property with the residual term of land use right at no extra land 1

premium or other onerous payment payable to the government;

(i) Al land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and (i)  FrAELHEES R AR R - M R AR
infrastructure fees have been fully settled; HihBHDEHES

(i) The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the (i)  EYEMRE RGERCEMAMBATIIIE &
relevant government departments; and

(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil vy ZYENEEEEAENBEATEREETER -
encumbrances.

In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of ~ (6) RIEEAEEAREZER  ERRARRTFZEBHER

title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows: SRl
Real Estate Ownership Certificate Yes (above ground) EHhEREE BOHEEN )
Business Licence Yes EERR A

In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and 7))  RYZMEETHER  BSEEEMNRBZENUELIATS

cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used LESREITRIXRE - BSRWEERCAEERHFEBAZE
in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: BEEMMT
Income Capitalisation Method W E AR A
Monthly Reversionary
Use A Market Rent Term Yield Yield
FRAMSHEE FHR G EEBHRE
(RMB/sg m)
(AR FHK)
Office BEiE 115 4.5% 5%
Commercial HER 236 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces FEBAL 475 5%
. Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added * FBATMSHSTRIEERE ILER

tax.
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Properties held by the Group for investment purposes in the PRC
EEEEPREBEERERENYE

Market value

in existing
state as at
Particulars of 31 December
Property Description and tenure occupancy 2020
A2020F12A31H
VIES BRRER 1E e BRT2miE
5. Garden City Garden City Shopping Centre is a 5-storey shopping centre As at the Valuation Date, RMB1,587,000,000
Shopping Centre, with various commercial units. The Property also comprises portion of the Property with (RENMINBI
No. 1086 644 car parking spaces and other ancillary facilities in 2-storey  a total Gross Rentable Area ONE BILLION
Nanhai Avenue, basements. The Property was erected on a parcel of land with  of approximately 51,459.39 FIVE HUNDRED
Nanshan District, a site area of 25,629.40 sq m and was completed in 2006. sq m has been leased under EIGHTY SEVEN
Shenzhen City, TR A ERESEEAEMMSEREYTL « ZWET  varous tenancies, yielding an MILLION)
Guangdong Province, ~ ‘BEG44 IS BN RATR2BHEMN EMEER - ZWERE  average total monthly rent of  AR¥1,587,000,0007T
the PRC AT TS £25,620.40F 77 K ATH3R,2_EITF20065 % T« approximately RMB7,554,064,  (ARBHREERIF
h exclusive of management fee FEETE)
BRE The Property has a total Gross Floor Area 0f 50,496.85 sgm  and value-added tax.
I with details as follows: WEERS - ZhE 55 (Based on the said
BIlE TR EREREAS0496.85F K - FEWT Bt HERERENA total monthly rent as
HaKE 51459307 K - BMRES  at the Valuation Date,
10864% Approximate JBF4LH - AHHELEEL the estimated net
LR Approximate Gross AARKT 5540647 T yield of the Property
Gross Floor Rentable Area 1EEEE IEEF o is5.71%.)
Portion Area BanEeg (RAMEE RSB
H BHREER #@ER”E  Theremaningportionofthe T AMEBE - ZME
(sq m) (sqm)  Property was vacant. B ENENEE R
(FAXK) (FAR)  ZORORTHHZE - 5.71%° )
Commercial 50,496.85 56,225.52
644 car parking spaces N/A N/A
BA4{EHFE AL NER TEm
Total: 50,496.85 56,225.52
st

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the

Hrat -

Gross Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area
because, as per the tenancy details provided to us, some common
area are also devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.

BEEREFECAREAN  IESRERERNELAER -

AERERANEERE  RRAREAESMEHNEEFE
ETRARENABEEE - UBSRKES -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for a term
of 40 years due to expire on 14 April 2044 for commercial use.

ZE THERRDRUERERS - BH40F - B
Q044 EAR14B R °
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Notes:

1)

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000594827 dated 29 July 2014,
the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately 25,629.40
sg m have been granted to Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. (FIITTEEIME EEIE AR A 7)) for a term of 40 years
due to expire on 14 April 2044 for commercial use. The legal title of the Property is
vested in Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and Management
Co., Ltd. (RIIFIEEM B £EE AR AF) with a total Gross Floor Area of
approximately 50,496.85 sq m for commercial use.

We have carried out title searches at Shenzhen Estate Registration Centre “)%
JIPBEZ R H L, according to Real Estate Mortgage Registration Inquiry
Form (B EE I & 50 & :5%) dated 29 December 2020:

Brat -

() REBEHIA20149F7 A298 2 5 #E % (554000594827
5% MR FE4/525,629.40F 77 K& R~ T3 FAED
BPRINTEEREXERERAR  FRXRE - A
40F - M2044F4F14REH - ZMEZHEEEENA
50,496.85F 5K « HATE EZEF BN R MEEREEE

BERARSE T (FERXMAE

@  BEAHA2020FE 12208 2 A ERBELENR B
LERNRITBESG RO ETERER

Registered Owner

HMEAA FE i ERERE

Real Estate Title Certificate No.

Mortgage
71\

Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. (RIITIEEN B EEE AR AR)

According to Business Licence No. 91440300305917709L dated 29 November
2018, Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. (FIITEEN BEER AR A F) was established on 24 April 2014 as a
limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information
provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile

4000594827 dated 29 July 2014
A H1A20144F7 29 H H) 5540005948275

DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch

(BERSRIT(FE)BRARRINDTT)

@ WEAHAE2018F 11 200 2L EHRB(F

91440300305917709L5% )

AIR2014F4 A24 A ABRAT]

CRIITIEEREREEER A

@) BEEFEEARHZBAOER  BESHRABEOERZD
FrazlmT :

& AR

Approximate
Gross Rentable

Type E=Eil] Area % of Total
WA THEEREE IHEEENED L
(saq m)
(FFK)
Leased B 51,459.39 91.5
Vacant NE 4,766.13 8.5
Total: st 56,225.52 100.0
Lease Commencement Profile THERIREIN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year Fip Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BHTHEE L AAERERY =24 IEHBEER BizkY) (st G
BEE Epal=d pizkey Atk #B Aot
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR)
2008 20084 4,101.00 7.3% 383,627.52 51% 1 0.8%
2014 20144 964.00 1.7% 38,285.71 0.5% 2 1.5%
2015 20154 - - - - - -
2016 20164 2,111.31 3.8% 469,701.01 6.2% 3 2.3%
2017 20174 3,989.41 71% 568,186.26 7.5% 5 3.8%
2018 20184 6,912.37 12.3% 1,004,924.06 13.3% 12 9.0%
2019 20194 10,896.53 19.4% 2,097,003.67 27.8% 32 24.1%
2020 20204 22,484.77 39.9% 2,992,336.11 39.6% 78 58.5%
Vacant NE 4,766.13 8.5% - - - -
Total: st 56,225.52 100.0% 7,554,064.34 100.0% 133 100.0%

.;-"??108 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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(4)  (continued) 4 (%)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1L AR (&)
Lease Expiry Profile THEREBRN
Approximate
Gross Monthly
Expiry Date )=kt Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total
BRHEE {HAEEER 8A 1LABREN
REE B pizka P4
(saq m) (RMB)
(FEFHAK) (AR®)
2021/12/31 2021/12/31 17,002.27 30.2% 2,988,730.98 39.6%
2022/12/31 2022/12/31 10,438.15 18.6% 1,940,419.82 25.7%
2023/12/31 2023/12/31 1,785.65 3.2% 409,111.83 5.4%
2024/12/31 2024/12/31 2,166.62 3.9% 413,862.39 5.5%
2025/12/31 and after 2025/12/31 %2 1% 20,066.70 35.6% 1,801,939.32 23.8%
Vacant NE 4,766.13 8.5% - -
Total: et 56,225.52 100.0% 7,554,064.34 100.0%
Lease Duration Profile THEFEBIN
Approximate
Gross Monthly No. of
Year FH Rentable Area % of Total Rental % of Total Tenancies % of Total
BMATHEE {EEmBEN 8A {hEEEM kY Ly Gy
AEE Bt biik Bot 2 Bakk
(sam) (RMB)
(FAXK) (AR®)
Up to 1 year NEBB1E 9,798.28 17.4% 1,633,402.36 20.3% 47 35.2%
More than 1 year and 1EE
up to 2 years BNBE2F 5,369.56 9.6% 1,279,890.61 16.9% 30 22.6%
More than 2 years and 2F LA E
up to 3 years BFBBIE 9,047.94 16.1% 1,687,158.74 22.4% 23 17.3%
More than 3 years and 3FELE
up to 4 years BEBB4E 3,476.27 6.2% 662,974.93 8.8% 10 7.5%
More than 4 years and AFLLE
up to 5 years BNEBIB5F 10,658.89 19.0% 1,257,726.81 16.6% 15 11.3%
More than 5 years and 5FLAE
up to 6 years [ERN e 1,392.32 2.5% 38,285.71 0.5% 3 2.3%
More than 7 years and TELE
up to 8 years [ERy sl 2,144.25 3.8% 219,536.37 2.9% 2 1.5%
More than 9 years and 9FLAE
up to 10 years {BRBIRI0E 5,470.88 9.7% 491,461.28 6.5% 2 1.5%
More than 16 years and 165 A £
up to0 17 years BRBIRI7E 4,101.00 7.2% 383,627.53 5.1% 1 0.8%
Vacant RE 4,766.13 8.5% - - - -
Total: et 56,225.52 100.0% 7,554,064.34 100.0% 133 100.0%

—EoTHEH BEREERTES 109



VALUATION REPORT
YIR(EERS

Notes: (continued)

®)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

()

(i

(i)

V)

Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. (FRIITIEEH B EEIE AR A A) is in possession of a proper legal
title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with the
residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other onerous
payment payable to the government;

All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

The design and construction of the Property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant
government departments; and

The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil
encumbrances.

In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status of
title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows:

Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground)
Business Licence Yes

In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method and
cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions used

Bt - (%)
B)  EBEEENATRRETME
0  AYTHEEAREEXERARADEAZMENLENL
EXE  AREEZYEERL L EREORTF

BB ARINARMAEN LIRS N EMEER
18 ;

@ PALMHES RAMRE - BRI MR RRE
Hith & RE RS

(i) EMENRRERTAEHNRERE - WEEHR
B ERPIHLAE © &

vy BOFAIEEERAENBERTEREETES

6 REFFEEEAREZEMN  EEAARRTIEZMER

SFAEIT -
EinEEE BOLE@AL)
o A

(7 REZMELETHER  BECRMAREEMORILATS
LBUEETTR RS - EENRBEEMUERETRAB2E

in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: BB T -
Income Capitalisation Method WEERE
Monthly Reversionary
Use A Market Rent Term Yield Yield
BRAMEHESE FHIKE=E EEES
(RMB/sg m)
(ARBITT/FHK)
Commercial HER 209 6.0% 6.5%

*

Monthly market rent covers the rent of anchor tenants and is exclusive of
management fee and value-added tax.

- SAMSHESEEIEARPMNESE  ETREEEE
TIBREH
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China General Overview hERENE

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) is the world’s second
biggest economic system (in terms of GDP) and the third largest
country (in terms of total area) with a population of approximately
1.4 billion in 2019. Since the reform and opening policies instituted
42 years ago, the PRC’s GDP has been continuously growing.
The country had realised double-digit annual growth until 2007.
Since 2010 when recovered from the economic crisis, PRC’s
economy has experienced steady growth with a softening trend.
Under the influence of various macro-economic policies, the
PRC’s GDP increased from approximately RMB64 trillion in 2014
to approximately RMB99 trillion in 2019, representing a CAGR of
approximately 9.1%. At the end of 2020, the preliminary estimated
GDP of PRC amounted to RMB101.6 trillion.

Shenzhen City Overview

Shenzhen is one of the four first-tier cities in the PRC. It is situated
at the eastern coast of River Pearl, sitting just across the river from
Hong Kong, with a land area of approximately 1,997.47 square
kilometers. Shenzhen is the first special economic zone in China,
with nine districts and one new zone under its jurisdiction. As one
of the core cities in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area, Shenzhen is playing a strategically important role in the
development of financial service, information technology, trade and
logistics.

Shenzhen Office Market

There are several Grade A office submarkets in Shenzhen, including
Luohu, Futian, Nanshan, Bao’an, Longhua and Longgang. More
than 80% of the Grade A office buildings are located at Futian and
Nanshan district.

The Central Business District (CBD) in Futian has the largest supply
of Grade A office buildings in Shenzhen. Many domestic and
multinational corporates, especially those from the finance sector,
choose this area as their priority presence. The Shenzhen Bay-
Houhai area in Nanshan, where many headquarters base, is playing
an increasingly important part in the Shenzhen Grade A office
market. The Qianhai-Shekou Free Trade Area in Nanshan and
Baoan, thanks to the policy, is planned to facilitate the functions of
financial service, international trade, port logistics, and information
technology service, and expected to be the main source of future
office supply.

FREARERE(HE])AERE-RCERR(E
BANEERER RE=ABR(ZEEER) - B
2019%F + ABKBRI1ME - BA2F BB HE R F AU
KR - PEINBEAEERERE LA - EE2007
F - PREEMUEFIER - B2010FREER
MERELAK - PRGBS IER - 2EHBE - ¥
FERBGERROTZET PREAEELER
2014F M AREEC4B BT IIE2019F X AR
BRI EAFERRLNIA% - HZE2020FK © F
B A A ERET S bt B ARK101.68ET

RYTHEE

FINBREK—E&Hme—  (RERIRE - &
EABRIIEE » THEEN1,997.47F 5 FK o %
INEPEE —FELERE - TEAREER—@EH
@ FRYIEREBRRNERNZLMT 2 —  RE
BURTS - BREMN - EZRMABRRTEAEESEE
HIBREE1ER ©

RIBFETE
RINEZEFRBFERATS - BREEN 1B
Bl B2 BERER - 80% A LWFRE
RN ERRMELRE -

BA P REHERARIIRANFREFEHER
REZBEARBEAR  FRIRERITEAR  EE
ZEBEREBEERGMH - BUAYIERESRIES
REmEE - WRNFEARFEM SR ENRSE
ZREM - BRBEREKE - LRI R BELZRATE
RN EEEASEDTRRY  BRES 09
mREMBRMARE FEINEE - WHEERRARBFIE
MEEHER

TS REREEERES 111%’
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Office Market (continued)

Supply and Demand

Shenzhen welcomed 322,393 sgq m of new supply in Q4, bringing
the full-year total to 762,050 sq m and pushing the stock to
6,285,895 sgq m. Robust leasing demand in the quarter slowed
towards the year-end, but several large-scale transactions helped
propel Q4 absorption to 208,173 sq m. Full-year absorption was
403,284 sq m, a leap of 296% y-0-y, although still off 11% from
the peak of 2018. The overall vacancy rate fluctuated around 25%
to end Q4 at 25.1%, rising just 0.56 percentage points g-o-g.

By submarket, the lion’s share of the new supply, 86.5% was
in Nanshan, which consequently also accounted for 86.65% of
citywide absorption for the year, at 349,453 sq m. Futian district
saw absorption of 37,205 sg m, and Bao’an 45,589 sg m, while
Luohu dropped into negative absorption territory at -28,863 sg m.

On the demand side, the TMT remained a key market player,
with growing numbers of TMT firms choosing Shenzhen as
their headquarters location. Additionally, in the aftermath of the
pandemic, investors have increasingly moved to mitigate market
risks and maintain asset values via asset management firms. These
enterprises have become a rising player in Shenzhen office market,
adding to leasing demand, typically in landmark projects. In the
traditional finance sector, insurance and securities firms are also
taking the opportunity for space expansion or upgrades at the
more favorable rents on offer.

Rent

Regardless of the epidemic, Shenzhen’s Grade A office market
was strongly supported by the robust demand while the drop of
rental also stimulated demand of relocation and expansion. In
2020 Q4, average rent declined 3.4% g-o-q or 12.8% y-0-y to
RMB211.49 per sq m per month.

Market Trend

1.79 million sg m of new supply in pipeline is scheduled to
complete in 2021. Considering construction delays, the actual
delivery could fall within 1 million sq m. Giant financial and
technology companies expanded to Shenzhen in 2020, and this
trend is anticipated to continue in 2021.
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Shenzhen Industrial Park Overview

The supply of Shenzhen industrial parks is not only from old factory
renovation, but also from new completion on the new industrial
land (MQ). Shenzhen industrial parks can be found in eight areas,
but most of them are located at Nanshan, Bao’an, Longhua and
Longgang.

Typical industrial parks include High-tech park and Shekou Net
Valley in Nanshan, Vanke Spark Online in Longgang, Baoneng
Tech-park in Longhua, and Taihua Wutongdao in Bao’an. These
industrial parks have attracted companies from the sector of
internet, e-commerce, telecommunication, computer, cultural
creativity and data centre etc.

Supply and Demand
Currently there are over 3,600 sizable industrial parks in Shenzhen,
and 95% of listed technology companies settled in these parks.

The high-tech park in Nanshan is a typical area for industrial parks
in Shenzhen. By the end of 2H 2020, total supply of industrial parks
in the area reached 4.26 million sg m. Influenced by the softening
trend of the overall economy, the demand of prime industrial parks
was shrinking resulting in a decline in net absorption. In addition,
the new supply exerted upwards pressure on vacancy rate. The
occupancy in the high-tech part was around 80% to 90%.

Shekou Net Valley is a successful case of renovation, with
approximately 420,000 sg m supply of both renovated factories
and newly built office buildings. The occupancy rate in the area is
around 85% to 90%.

Rent

The figure covered samples in developed area, such as Nanshan,
where the sample rent ranged from RMB115 to 307 per sq m
in 2020 Q4. The current asking rent of prime industrial parks in
Nanshan high-tech parks ranges from RMB120 to 250 per sq m,
and rent in Shekou Net Valley is around RMB80 to 150 per sq m.

Market Trend

The external environment offers a great prospect for the future
development of industrial park. The government sector has carried
out various policies on both city renovation and new industrial
land supply to support the development of the industrial parks.
Meanwhile, as the technology peer in the Greater Bay Area,
Shenzhen is expected to attract more and more technology
companies, thus stimulating the demand for R&D office and
continuously taking up more supply of the industrial parks.
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Retail Overview

Shenzhen prime retail properties can be found in districts with
a considerable resident base, such as Luohu, Futian, Nanshan,
Bao’an, Longhua and Longgang, and most of the prime shopping
centres are in Futian and Nanshan.

Supply and Demand

New supply in 2020 totaled 530,000 sq m, down 32.6% y-0-y, but
which included Shenzhen’s first Wanda Plaza project. The new
space pushed the city’s prime retail stock beyond the 5 million sg m
mark, reaching 5,096,329 sq m by the end of the year. The non-
core area accounted for 37.5% of total stock by the end of 2020,
up 16 percentage points from 2016’s share, indicative of city’s
development into multiple commercial retail areas.

Rent

Economic activities in Shenzhen have gradually returned to
normality as the pandemic containment measures have been
eased. Total retail sales of consumer goods recorded RMB866.48
billion by the end of 2020, down 5.2% y-0-y. But this drop was 3.8
percentage points less than for 2020 Q3 with improved revenues in
general retail and catering. The F&B sector was a key contributor
to lease take-up in the quarter. In contrast, the international
fast fashion brands were less active. However, for the impact of
pandemic, average first floor rental of citywide still dropped 9.3%
y-0-y to RMB818 per sg m. per month.

Market Trend

The overall vacancy rate still rose 3 percentage points y-o-y by
the end of 2020, with overall average monthly rents down 9.3%.
The year-end sales season and resurgence in luxury goods hold
hopes for a return to rental growth in the coming quarter. However,
new projects postponed from their scheduled openings in 2020
will contribute to a surge in deliveries next year, totaling more
than 1 million sg m, and the influx will inevitably exert downwards
pressure on rental level growth.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M A E R

Deloitte

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL
REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong))

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China
Merchants Commercial REIT”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 123 to 205, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders, distribution
statement and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2020, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial disposition of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial transactions and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Key Audit Matters

REMBRREFA RS (E)

RREITER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional Eﬁﬁ%§+$lﬁﬁ$ﬁyﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ%%ﬂ&:ﬁ R 5% N EA
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated B4 S EBRERN BT RAEENEE - 25F1E
financial statements of the current period. These matters were RIERFIFTRBESEVBRREBILEEZSREE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 32 @ MM T HZEEHIEMBTZH, -
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

REWMEME

We have identified the valuation of investment properties

as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements, as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments associated with
determining the fair value.
ENREMEGESEHREGRAMBHRAEBCERE  MLE
EARBESRERAE - RO EBR ARERETEE -

As disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s office buildings and a shopping
centre at Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), which are classified as investment properties
amounting to RMB6,644,000,000, representing
approximately 92% of the Group’s total assets, with its
change in fair value included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. During
the year, an increase in fair value of investment properties
amounted to RMB26,032,000.

WA E IR 13ATIRE - EREORAKREMEER
IR E AR ([HE DRI ?@&%Wfﬂuﬁ%ﬁﬁ
AR #6,644,000,0007T * 1 BEEREEEMABELINR%  H
REBEEZFST A GFaERRAMEERRRE - FA - Txé%%
NRBEZIARE26,032,0007T °

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HMESTOMEERERENSE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BAEREMERGEZRFEE

° evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the Valuer;

AHEEEZER - N REBIE

e understanding the Valuer’s valuation process and
methodology, the performance of the property
markets in Shenzhen, the PRC, significant
assumptions adopted and key inputs used in the
valuations;

BRI ER 2 (AEBIER A « RBURYIYETISZ
K - HEMRAZ EXNREREZEABUE

e  evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
and assumptions used in the valuations against
industry norms; and

HRITEMRENABEMRIDERBRR 2AEMN + &

é;;%r?ﬂﬁ CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
Valuation of investment properties
(continued)

REWMRMGEGE

The Group’s investment properties are carried at fair value

based on the valuations performed by an independent qualified
professional valuer (the “Valuer”) who adopted income
capitalisation method to arrive at the valuation of investment
properties as at 31 December 2020. Details of the valuation
techniques, significant assumptions and key inputs, namely
monthly term rental, term yield, reversionary yield and reversionary
rental, used in the valuations are disclosed in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. China Merchants Land Asset
Management Co., Limited, the manager of China Merchants
Commercial REIT (the “Manager”) has reviewed and exercised

its judgment on the key inputs to the valuations and result on
valuations.
EEBEREMFRBE LS ERZELERD ([fHER ) ETHMER
NABEVIER o HEMRAREENMEEZRN 2020512 A31H
REMENGE - HEPMRAOMGERN - EARKRLEBAZIRAD
A% - FHOHRE EHRQHRELERES) 2 FBERGE MR
KA 13HKE - HAAAXFTESNEEARBREHEEGRA
A([BEADEEMGEN 2R ABURREESR - WHELH
B o

mEMBHRRETRSE(E

BEETTSE(E)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)

BMMET A EEEREBH(E)

e  assessing the reasonableness of key inputs
used in the valuations by (i) checking the
details of monthly term rental on a sample
basis to the respective underlying existing
tenancy agreements; and (i) comparing them
to relevant market information on prices,
rentals achieved, term yield, reversionary
yield and reversionary rental adopted in other
similar properties in the neighbourhood.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Other Information

The Manager is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as
the Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Manager
is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Manager either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

5;%?118 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Manager and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

In addition, the Manager is required to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the deed of trust dated 15
November 2019, as amended from time to time (the “Trust Deed”)
and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the Code
on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”) issued by the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Appendix C of the REIT Code, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. In addition,
we are required to assess whether the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Trust
Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the
REIT Code.

mEMBHRRETRSE(E

EEARAEEMGESMBRRARENEE
(&)

RO EENBRERGAMBHREREIRA /82019
F11A15AMEERN(EEERT) ([EFERK])
ARG B ERF R EEHERREER
M EEREERES TR EREEETR DI
BCAMMEARERXZZRE -

BEREHHHREEE -

REEMRBERRSMBRRARRE ZEE

BAMBEBRESEAMBRAERES MFEHAR
MEF R ME BN EXEREUAAS A ERE -
WiZREFEESTRIMECER BTHABRER
PIBR M EENRE - Bt 2SR EE
B e WAL PR ARENATATAEBALER
HAEEE - AIERERDRFHRE - BETEER
ERRBBRBCERAEITHEA BB R IREASE
ARPRAL - 8 ERERAL AT DA R KRR S EE R R - IIRA
ERPHEEENREARERAETERAMBEHRRE
RERBER SV BRRAERNEERTE - HIAH
HSE AR A AR EEE N » tesh - BFVZARHE &
SENGEEMHERRESEXTAEECIRETR
HERRE IR N E Rt £ 2 5T RIMT SR CAE M B RE 3

BRI RS -

“E-TFER AEREEERES 119

i




7

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Manager.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Report on matters under the relevant provisions of the
Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of
Appendix C of the REIT Code

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure
provisions of Appendix C of the REIT Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Chung Yin Lawrence.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

16 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEa Rk EtEEkER

For the year ended 31 December 2020

EHZ=2020F 1231 BILFE
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20204 2019%F
1H1H 11 H15H
Z2020%F F2019%F
12A31H 12H31H
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’ 000
iz AR¥ETTT AREETIT
Revenue Wz 5 370,125 28,759
Property operating expenses L EF g 6 (96,182) (11,071)
Net property income LE Gy 273,943 17,688
Exchange gain b 5 e 132,730 6,963
Other income, gains and losses EAbA - Wz R E1E 7 11,038 935
Increase in fair value of investment WEMEN R EEIL
properties 26,032 28,533
Manager’s fee EEAEBH 8 (18,074) (1,361)
Trust and other expenses ErE R EMAT (6,308) (2,031)
Listing expenses X - (7,305)
Finance costs RhE KA 9 (59,982) (2,378)
Profit before tax and distribution to Rt RBEEESBEAIFEA
unitholders papi=yinyil 10 359,379 41,044
Income taxes Frig 11 (74,327) (12,526)
Profit for the year/period, before Kt RESEMNFAAD KA
distribution to unitholders FE_HRE T 285,052 28,518
Distribution to unitholders E2BUHBEADIK (162,667) (12,245)
Profit for the year/period, after LT MES BARE AD KR
distribution to unitholders £ HRNE T 122,385 16,273
Total comprehensive income for KT R EES BN ER ARG E
the year/period, after transactions RF,HAA 2 EW S 258
with unitholders 122,385 16,273
RMBO0.25 RMBO0.03
Basic earnings per unit FES BUERER 12 AR#0.25t AR%0.037T

—7—7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &

As at 31 December 2020
#2020F12831H

31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20204 20194
12H31H 12H31H
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ok AR¥ET T AREETTT
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment properties "EYHE 13 6,644,000 6,609,000
Property, plant and equipment I E Y S ] 535 291
6,644,535 6,609,291
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N EH A e ERIA 14 8,859 748
Amounts due from related companies ] NI E O 27 69,067 6,206
Structured deposits EEMETR 15 129,514 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 15 355,320 1,461,377
562,760 1,468,331
Total assets EEBAE 7,207,295 8,077,622
Current liabilities REBas
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERRIE 16 83,417 83,852
Amounts due to related companies AT AR A B 5R08 27 18,834 1,277,199
Distribution payable FET IR 142,073 14,371
Tax payable JES R TR 10,490 44,279
Secured bank borrowings AR ITHE R 17 620 -
255,434 1,419,701
Non-current liabilities, excluding net ERFBEE(TEFEELEN
assets attributable to unitholders BEAEGNEESFE)
Secured bank borrowings BEBRITER 17 2,011,934 1,887,632
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE 18 1,030,241 982,988
Total non-current liabilities, excluding FREBABEFHE(TERFEES
net assets attributable to unitholders E{/iFE AEEEETE) 3,042,175 2,870,620
Total liabilities, excluding net assets BEAE(TEREESEN
attributable to unitholders BEAELEESHE) 3,297,609 4,290,321
Net assets attributable to unitholders E&ENIEHAELEESE 3,909,686 3,787,301
Number of units in issue ERITESENEE 19 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
Net asset value per unit BESENNEEFE RMB3.47 RMB3.36
20 AR#¥3.47t ARM3.367T

The consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to 205 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, as the
Manager of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust (“China Merchants Commercial REIT”), on 16 March 2021

and were signed on its behalf by:

Guo Jin
pE
DIRECTOR
EFE

# 124 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020

F123E FB205EMEREMBWMENR T _—F = H
+RNBERERRERHEREETES([BER
BEERXESNERBABEREHNEET AR AT
MEZHEREETE - WA TIATRESRE

Yu Zhiliang
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS
NEEABRGEEFEZB R

meETE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EHZ=2020F 1231 BILFE

Issued Other Profits less
units reserve distribution Total
=5
BE&EBN Hipfd  RBARDR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR
(note 19)
(Hia19)
Units issued for acquisition of FUEEMTB A HE B
subsidiaries 1,162,025 - - 1,162,025
Units issued for initial offering FR2019F 12 A10B BB E
on 10 December 2019 FTERBN 2,305,934 = = 2,305,934
Unit issue costs EEBMBITMA (76,430) - - (76,430)
Excess of fair value of the Acquired ~ EURBEBHIEB A B(FE £47:723)
Subsidiaries (as defined in note 23) AR {EEBEWIER AR,
over acquisition cost (note i) ER(MF) = 379,499 = 379,499
Profit for the period, Rt RESBEEAD R
before distribution to unitholders HmEF = = 28,518 28,518
Distribution declared BERDIK - - (12,245) (12,245)
Total comprehensive income HAZENEBE
for the period - - 16,273 16,273
Deemed contribution from —ZEEESBUBFEAN
a substantial unitholder (note i) BAEEE (Hi7ti) - 2,126 - 2,126
Distribution commitment from —ZEFEESEUFHAN
a substantial unitholder (note i) DRE (B ) - (2,126) - (2,126)
Net assets attributable to unitholders  RA2019F12 A31 BES 81U
as at 31 December 2019 BEARGEETFE 3,391,529 379,499 16,273 3,787,301
Profit for the year, before distribution K&t RES BAIEA A DK
to unitholders FR@F - = 285,052 285,052
Distribution paid and payable BN RERDIE
~ Interim distribution paid —BRHHYIK = = (81,932) (81,932)
— Final distribution payable —ERRBDR = = (80,735) (80,735)
Total comprehensive income FREERGETR
for the year - - 122,385 122,385
Deemed contribution from —REEESEMFAAN
a substantial unitholder (note i) BYETE (B ti) - 61,338 - 61,338
Distribution commitment from *%Ex%/\“h?%ﬁ/\ﬁ’ﬂ
a substantial unitholder (note ii) DRAEEE (F 5t - (61,338) - (61,338)
Net assets attributable to unitholders 7202012 A31 HE & B
as at 31 December 2020 BEANELEEFE 3,391,529 379,499 138,658 3,909,686
Notes: i

(i) Upon completion of the acquisition of subsidiaries in 2019, China Merchants
Commercial REIT owns the property holding companies established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) through Frontier Shekou Commercial
Holdings Limited (“Frontier Shekou”). The amount represents excess of
fair value of the Acquired subsidiaries over acquisition costs amounting to
RMB379,499,000. Details are set out in note 23.

(i) Pursuant to the Distribution Per Unit (‘DPU”) commitment deed as descripted
in note iv of distribution statement, Eureka Investment Company Limited
(“Eureka”), a company with significant influence over China Merchants
Commercial REIT, shall make a cash payment to the DB Trustees (Hong Kong)
Limited (the “Trustee”) for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT of
an amount equal to the shortfall multiplied by the number of units at the record
date. The cash to be received from Eureka for the distribution commitment is
considered as deemed contribution from an unitholder.

U

(i)

R2019F T MBARKER  BERBEETESRS
38 Frontier Shekou Commercial Holdings Limited ( [ Frontier
ShekouJ)%ﬁﬁAEP%tf/\E ful(fmﬁj)ﬁiim%%hﬁx

c ZEREEWBHBAR A BERLMER A 2=
%E/\E%?g 499,0007¢ © # 1% %‘mﬂﬁuﬂs

REDRRMEVILNEESEUDR((BESEND
&) EGERRY - HHRARREFEESREEATE NG
RREABEBRLAA(HREDBAEEREESTESHOF
wAEEEET(BEB)ARAR([ZFEADEHRESMAR
SEESRERTANTE A HNESELHE - HptHk
7%?%5%?4@)13’]&%%&@% BEE B ANRIEL
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN Nl — 1
meRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 AILEFE

1.1.2020

to
31.12.2020
20201 H1H
=

==
2020%12H31H
NOTE RMB’000

Hiat ARBTT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1
Profit before tax and distribution to Rt RRBRESEMFHAA
Adjustments for: AT EELFAZE -
Increase in fair value of investment properties

REBBEERONBMA
REBRITFREOFSHRA

RHEEERERE

Interest income from structured deposits
Interest income from bank deposits
Interest expenses

Allowance for expected credit losses
Amortisation of loan front-end fee
Exchange gain

359,379

(26,032)
77

(235)
(6,246)
55,182
213
4,800
(132,730)

Operating cash flow before movements
in working capital
(Increase) decrease in trade and
other receivables
(Increase) decrease in amounts due
from related companies
Decrease in trade and other payables
Increase in amounts due to
related companies

B 5 M EMERIR

B 5 REMENTIERD

254,408
(8,324)

(1,523)
(644)

11,658

REmERE
ENTFREEMSH
([E3EFREBL])

Cash generated from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Withholding tax paid

255,575

(44,895)
(15,968)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES SEBFTERES T

194,712

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries
Addition to investment properties
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Placement of structured deposits
Withdrawal of structured deposits

Interest received

Y BB H B A RIFUR
REREMFE
FEBRBIETR
IR IEER

23 =
(8,968)
(321)
(192,914)
63,400
6,481

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

(132,322)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Distribution paid

New bank loans raised
Repayment of bank loan
Repayment to related companies

BERITER
FRE R RIER

ENESATHER
AT BT

Loan front-end fee paid
Proceed from issue of shares

(95,597)
255,216
(710)
(1,270,023)
(54,973)

53126 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEBRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE2020F12A31 B ILEE
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201 H1H 2019411 A15H
ES ES
20205128318 2019%F12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REEE (FTA) s
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REFEE (1,166,087) 4,157,804
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH ReRB\EESZEEWORD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENT EINFEE (1,103,697) 1,459,296
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F/HORER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR/PERIOD BEEEY 1,461,377 -
Effect of foreign exchange rate change SNETE R F B o & (2,360) 2,081
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS F/HPREER
AT THE END OF YEAR/PERIOD, REEEY
represented by bank balances and cash BNIRTTHEM RIS 355,320 1,461,377

T TEFR AEREEEREES 127;5:
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT

N \‘J"

DIRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 AILEFE

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201 A1H 2019511 H15H
= S
2020128310 2019612H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETF T
Profit for the year/period, KReTRESBENEEA
before distribution to unitholders DIREE /BRI F 285,052 28,518
Adjustments: R
Increase in fair value of investment properties BEMEND R EELN (26,032) (28,533)
Non-cash finance costs IR RERA 4,800 2,378
Exchange gain b 5 e (132,730) (6,963)
Allowance for expected credit losses TREEEEIE S 213 -
Depreciation e 77 3
Listing expenses EmRZ = 7,305
Deferred tax RIEFIIA 47,253 9,537
Overprovision of withholding tax in prior year TRIR R IB B RE (15,966) -
Total distributable income to A EESEMIFEADKEBA
unitholders (note (i) HREE () 162,667 12,245
Interim distribution, paid to unitholders ERNESEMIFEANPEDIR
(note (ii)) (Hizt() 81,932 -
Final distribution, payable to unitholders ENESBARHE AR DIK
(note (ii)) (Hrat i) 80,735 12,245
Total distribution for the year/period F /RS IREE 162,667 12,245
Payout ratio PIKELZE 100% 100%
Distribution per unit (“DPU”) BEHSENDIK
Proposed final distribution per unit to be paid BREXNNEGESBUSENIK
Before taking into account the effect of st R kAR RMBO0.1442 RMB0.0109
the distribution commitment BRI AR#0.1442t  ARM0.01097T
After taking into account the effect of s IRAEGE R R A RMBO0.1986 RMB0.0127
the distribution commitment (note iv) (Biz#0v) AR¥0.1986t ARM0.01277T

fiid
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT
IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the total distributable income is profit for the
year, before distribution to unitholders as adjusted to eliminate the effects of
Adjustments (as set out in the Trust Deed) which have been recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the relevant year. China Merchants Commercial REIT is required to distribute
to unitholders not less than 90% of its distributable income of each financial
period. The Manager’s policy is to distribute to the Unitholders an amount of
100% of annual total distributable income of China Merchants Commercial
REIT for each relevant period from 10 December 2019 (“Listing Date”) to 31
December 2022, and at least 90% of the total annual distributable income for
each financial year thereafter.

The interim distribution per unit of RMBO0.0726 for the six months ended 30
June 2020 is calculated based on the interim distribution of RMB81,932,000 for
the period and 1,127,819,549 units in issue as at 30 June 2020.

The proposed final distribution per unit of RMB0.0716 (2019: RMB0.0109) for
the year ended 31 December 2020 is calculated based on the final distribution
to be paid to unitholders of RMB80,735,000 (2019: 12,245,000) for the year
and 1,127,819,549 (2019: 1,127,819,549) units in issue as at 31 December
2020.

Pursuant to the DPU commitment deed entered into among, Eureka, China
Merchants Commercial REIT and the Trustee, Eureka has undertaken to make
a payment to the Trustee for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT if
the annualised provisional DPU is less than the annualised committed DPU for
the relevant periods as set out below:

Brat -

(i)

(ii)

(v)

BIEEFTRY A% PR ARE AR RESEUREAD
IRBFRER - WEABRLUERIIAMEFERE B RE
1@%@4&@&%’&(%@?#%?@%)%?/E BaRE*RE
?gﬁ/,ﬂ%‘fﬁuhﬁ/\ oIk E & E B R E R R D 2 90%
DIRBA - BIEANBR ARESSMHAADRER
PEEETESA2019F12 108 ([ EH BH ) E=2022
F12A31 A & HEFEHIR100% FE Al DR LREE - ThHE
ERBEBEBRFEZE DD IRFE AR ALRFER0% °

HZE20206 A30H LA A GE S BT D RARE
0.0726 7T Ty AR I ER A+ Hi 9 R A R #581,9382,000 7T R E &
20204F6 A30A M B 1TE & 8(11,127,819,549(E1H -

HE2020F 12 A AL FEBESBNMNERZLDIRA
R#¥0.07167T (20194 : AR¥0.01097T) HREF AR E
SBEMNFEAEAZNH&RESIRARKS0,7350007T (2019
F: AR#12,245,0007T ) & 7A2020F 12 A31 B B 3174
1,127,819,549(F (20194F :1,127,819,54918 ) & B8 (715 -

RigiE BERHMERTESEIEAMIUNEESE
I IREAZY - Tk R AGEF CEE SRS B IKER
AR F TR S B0 KA A FEAEL AR
AR REEEAESAZEAIT

Relevant period

LRI

Annualised
committed DPU
FBESENUDIRAE

Listing Date to 31 December 2019

12 months ending 31 December 2020
12 months ending 31 December 2021
12 months ending 31 December 2022

T HEE201912H31H

HZ=2020%F 12831 HIE12fE A
HZE20215F12A31H1E1218A
HZ=2022F 1231 HIE12fE A

HK$0.2360 per unit &4 8170.2360/5 7T
HIK$0.2360 per unit &£ < 8(70.2360/5 7T
HK$0.2541 per unit & ¢ 8170.254175 7T
HK$0.2614 per unit FE £ 8E(70.26145 7T

The final DPU for the year ended 31 December 2020 after taking into
account the effect of the distribution commitment is HK$0.236 (equivalent to
RMBO0.1986). The distribution for the period from and including the Listing Date
to 31 December 2019 and the interim distribution for the six months ended
30 June 2020 (details set out in notes (i) and (ii)) have been paid together to
individuals regarded as unitholders on the record date of the interim distribution
for the six months ended 30 June 2020. All distributions are settled in Hong
Kong dollars.

SRR RFGE 2% 2 RIEFES B HIRE E2020F
12 431 BIEFE R0.236F T (HHER ARKE0.19867T) ° B
EHEE(BEZE)E2019F12 A31 BN D IRERE
F20204F6 A30A 1E7<1E A 8 HE5 R (RIS SR HT k() K2 FiT
i) B — PR FREIZ 202046 A30 A 1L/ E A AR E 5
IR BB ES BAREAZAT « FTADIRAGAE TR
fif e

T ECTEFR AARARETES 129u
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GENERAL

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a Hong Kong collective
investment scheme authorised under section 104 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and its units are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”). China
Merchants Commercial REIT is governed by the deed of trust
dated 15 November 2019, as amended from time to time
(the “Trust Deed”), entered into between China Merchants
Land Assets Management Co., Limited (the “Manager”) and
the Trustee, and the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts
(the “REIT Code”) issued by the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission.

The principal activity of China Merchants Commercial REIT
is investment holding and its subsidiaries own and invest
in income-producing commercial properties in Shekou,
Shenzhen with the objective of producing stable and
sustainable distributions to unitholders and to achieve long
term growth in the net asset value per unit. The address of
the registered office of the Manager and the Trustee, are
Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
and Level 60, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road,
West Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional
currency of China Merchants Commercial REIT.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRM

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 AILEFE

—REF

RERRERTES A BREFTBEMIE
ST1EES NSO E104EERATNEE
ERNETE  EESBENRNEBHAT I
BRAGR(EBHIMDERLET - BEBE
EEAESTHERBEHEEARAR(ER
ADEZFEAR2019F11 B15H5] L HI{Z5ER
B ETEHERT) ([1E5E24 ) R BB BH L
EERERZEeRMNEEREETES
SAEFEESSA DATRE -

BrERmEEnEeNTBEERK AR E LR -
MmEMBARINEEER AES RIEERZEY
IwAEIREAYE  BEEARECEMNSS
ARBEBTERHEND RN ENEGESEMEE
FENRERIER - BB ARSITANEME
BEHbiE 9 Bl A E ST # 8+ 168-2005 512+
DR B KE 26122603 E 2606 F M &8 JL5E
L EBEE1IRIKE 5 EI560IE ©

FEMBHRERAARE(TARED 2 AR
B RBRARREREEESNIIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

1. GENERAL (continued)

China Merchants Commercial REIT and the entities controlled
by it (collectively the “Group”) have entered into various
service agreements in relation to the management of China
Merchants Commercial REIT and its property operations. The
fee structures of these services are as follows:

(i)

(i)

Manager’s fees
Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive:

(@) on a semi-annual basis, a base fee of 10.0% per
annum of the base fee distributable income; and

(b) on an annual basis, a variable fee of 25.0% per
annum of the difference in DPU in a financial year
compared to the preceding financial year, multiplied
by the weighted average number of units in issue
for such financial year (for the purpose of calculating
the variable fee only, the DPU shall be calculated
before accounting for the variable fee but after
accounting for the base fee for the relevant financial
year). No variable fee will be payable for the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022.

Trustee’s fees

China Merchants Commercial REIT pays the Trustee an
one-off acceptance fee of HK$180,000 upon Listing.
Regular trustee’s fee is calculated and paid semi-
annually as an ongoing fee of not more than 0.025% per
annum of the value of the investment properties (which
may be increased up to a maximum of 0.06% per annum
of the value of the investment properties) subject to a
minimum of RMB56,000 per month.

—RER(E)

BEBRLETES R BE(HE A%
B ERBRRALETRSNEERAYE
BETISERBHE - ZEREHBREE
W -

iy BEBEAEH
RIBEERY - BEABWIUATER :

(@ BFFHEANBAAEDIIREAG
HEF10.0%NERER : K

() iiﬁ%*Wﬁiﬁmiﬁﬁﬁﬁ
DIRER— AR REENEESE
MR Z ZRBRAZMREED %
TESEUMINETFIBETED
25.0%H)FENEBR (B EZHE
AmE  SESEMDIRGHRIAEE
FERF S ZE B RETD AT ERE
ATEREEABRETSTEER
FHE) - B LT AR Z=2022F12 A
STHILEMSEEMZEER -

(i) SFEAEH
HERRERTEESBR LTERTT
A— RS 232 180,000/ 7T © 124

THANERSSEFAERINIERR
EBR BTSN EEVEEEST
0.025% (e R m AL INEREMEEE
HEF0.06%)  EARKSEER/A
E#56,0007T °

T TEFRH AERBEEREES 1315 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

1.

GENERAL (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Operations manager’s fees

Under the operations management agreement, China
Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.” (A HEEEE (XY BRAR) (the
“Operations Manager”) is entitled to receive from the
PRC subsidiaries of China Merchants Commercial REIT
(the “PRC Subsidiaries”): (i) an amount equivalent
to 5.0% of the monthly rental income of the PRC
Subsidiaries, payable on a monthly basis; and (i) an
amount equivalent to 2.5% of the PRC Subsidiaries
semi-annual capital expenditure for refurbishment and
renovation of the properties, payable on a semi-annual
basis.

Property manager’s fees

Under the property management agreements, Shenzhen
China Merchants Property Holding Management Co.,
Ltd.* (RIIEEMEEEFR A A]) (the “Property
Manager”) is entitled to receive from the designated
account jointly maintained by the relevant PRC
Subsidiaries and the Property Manager: (a) with respect
to Garden City Shopping Centre, a fixed monthly fee of
RMB54,167 (approximate to RMB650,000 per annum);
and (b) with respect to the other properties, a monthly fee
equivalent to 12.0% of the sum of the fees and charges
(except air-conditioning charges and promotional fees)
and car parking fees they have collected.

The English names are for identification purpose only.

1.

—REB(E

(iii)

(iv)

EEETEANER

REBZETEGRZ  FAROLRERE
CRYIDERAR([EBERA ) BRERAH
HREAXEEESNTEMB AR ([F
BIFIE QR DUE : (IRE R EHELQ
AT AHESWAL0%M 2R (BIRAX
) R()AERTEKHE AT EYRE
&R BFHEBNFFEARZ25%NE
BESFFN—R) -

MEEBEANER

REMEE R RE  RNBEYWEERES
RAF([MEEEA BRSBTS
BRARIRYMEEBARXBGFEERETERP
B @QpEEmRmE -  BTABAR
#54,167 T (& HEF 4 AR %650,000
TL) ¢ RbO)BEEMYET E A E RN EUWER
HE AR (= AR RIERERIN &
FEBREEI2.0%MAE -

RXEBEHRSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
The Group has applied the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards and the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standard Board (the “lASB”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material
and IAS 8
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Except as described below the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS Standards and the amendments to IFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current year and prior period and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8
for the first time in the current year. The amendments provide
a new definition of material that states “information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information
about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also
clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken as
a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments'’

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions*

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 — Phase 25
and IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Ventures?

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments?

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and IFRS Practice Policies!
Statement 2
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates!

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to Annual Improvements to IFRS
IFRS Standards Standards 2018-20202

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

[ SR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE
2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. FERBIRR B RS RS 2 R ([ BFR B 5
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING HEER DIEET ZIK(,,
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)
New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not © ME AR 1B 14 R A R 37 5T B PR B RS R 5
yet effective (continued) BIR(EET AR (&)
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as B EFE1E 2T aBGEAEREH
Current or Non-current and related amendments to EREREEREBESR(—CE_EF) 2HBE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) &5
The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance ZEER A EE A EHREREERE A
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least e &b+ @A R IR B S R EEINE
twelve months from reporting date for classification of Bl NBaEBARIXIERE EhE
liabilities as current or non-current, which: ¥
e specify that the classification of liabilities as current o CIHHEBGEEENREHEAE AFEaRE
or non-current should be based on rights that are in Mo A REkIERE - & ;% ms ' 88
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, (BETSEE -

the amendments clarify that:

The classification should not be affected by () ZPBEIAZERELET_ERRNEG
management intentions or expectations to settle the B8 %El’]’zl_ﬁﬁi,ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%% )53

liabilities within 12 months; and

i. If the right is conditional on the compliance with (i) MRz RERILAE P25 R - BN
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met BERANELZEBRANAZERFTA
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender GH - ZEFNARREHEEEET
does not test compliance until a later date; and SIEENERTNFE &

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option o BEMBEAEBAETHN TEH%TE%J%
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer FREEERA NIRRT REITAS -
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do 1%%??@%!5%lf"??d‘/&@”%&ﬁf"fvﬂl
not affect its classification as current or non-current B 27 #EEREERRAAREATIA
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an B 2SR T EBH E AR IE
equity instrument applying IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: mp o
Presentation”.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 BEAEBR_Z-_ZTF+_A=1+—HHX

December 2020, the related terms and conditions stipulated el EEHERABEY AZ{%?&QHP)@J

in the agreements between the Group and the relevant BH B3R KAk Fﬁﬁgiﬁ{ HES - LEXR

lenders, the application of the amendments will not result in DHEAEENAE

reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned above, the B DA BTt 7 S ST B BR B TS SR 2 Bl o

Manager anticipates that the application of all other new and 1B AFEHY - FERRRTA EMHEET R E ET.[&REW

amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the RN R B AR e i 4 BHmEk

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. EEEAFE -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include the relevant provisions of the Trust Deed, the REIT
Code and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
HKSE.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis. except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 Lease (“IFRS 16”),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (“IAS
36").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for the financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of China Merchants Commercial REIT and the
entities controlled by China Merchants Commercial REIT.
Control is achieved when China Merchants Commercial REIT:

° has the power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a controlled entity begins when the Group
obtains control over the controlled entity and ceases when
the Group loses control of the controlled entity. Specifically,
income and expenses of controlled entities acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains controls until the date when
the Group ceases to control the controlled entity.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

If control of the service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.

Property management services

The Group provides property management services to the
tenants of the properties. Since customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits when service provided,
revenue from providing services is recognised over time in the
period in which the services are rendered. As the Group acts as
principal and is primary responsible for providing the property
management services to the tenants, the Group recognises
the fee received or receivable from tenants as its revenue.

Advertising income and air conditioning income are
recognised over time in the period in which the services are
rendered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs in relation to non-qualifying assets are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received. Such grants are presented under “other income,
gains and losses”.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rental and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified and accounted for as investment
properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
periods and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

For the purposes of measuring deferred for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. For contracts entered into
or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising
from business combination, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income (including rental income from office buildings
and a shopping centre) from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income when they arise.

When a lease contract contains a specific clause that provides
for rent reduction or suspension of rent in the event that the
underlying assets (or any part thereof) are affected by adverse
events beyond the control of the Group and the lessee so as
to render the underlying assets unfit or not available for use,
the relevant rent reduction or suspension of rent resulting
from the specific clause is accounted for as part of the original
lease and not as a lease modification. Such rent reduction or
suspension of rent is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers those payments
to occur.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

The Group applies IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (“IFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components
are separated from lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date/settlement date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

AUBRANEREEREAS
SR ()

=3k

Financial instruments (continued) SRTHRE)
Financial assets EREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and
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e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash o AWEREERTHHELSRSRE %W
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest EMEEATNREERNSENERS LT
on the principal amount outstanding. B e

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair FrEEMERMEERERITALBEE -

value.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL (representing structured deposits)
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
interest earned on the financial assets and is included in the
“other income, gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit losses (‘ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease
receivables (including trade related amounts due from
related companies). The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
()  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on bank balances has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if are determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (i)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

e  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

et is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with IFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when the Group transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In accordance with the Trust Deed, China Merchants
Commercial REIT is required to distribute to unitholders not
less than 90% of its distributable income for each financial
period and has a limited life of 80 years less one day from
the date of its establishment. Therefore, in addition to the
contractual distribution to unitholders, the units issued by
China Merchants Commercial REIT contain a contractual
obligation upon its termination to distribute a share of all
net cash proceeds derived from the sale or realisation of its
assets less any liabilities to its unitholders in accordance with
their proportionate interests in China Merchants Commercial
REIT at the date of its termination. Accordingly, the units
issued by China Merchants Commercial REIT are compound
instruments that contain both liability and equity components.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
it liabilities. Instruments, or components of instruments,
that impose on the China Merchants Commercial REIT an
obligation to deliver to the holders a pro-rata share of the net
assets only on liquidation are presented as equity only when
certain specific criteria are met.

Unit issue costs are the transaction costs relating to initial
public offering and listing of units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT are accounted for as a deduction from
the proceeds raised to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the transaction that otherwise would
have been avoided. Other transaction costs are recognised as
an expense.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

SR B RRNEREEREAS
SHBEE)

nlra?

SRMITAE)
cRBERERE)
b RNk =Y
RBERRY - BHRHEERAESARNES
BUHBEAD KT DR ESEMBREE AR 2S
IR ARI0% + B2 RS A AR FT 80 R
—B - Bt - BRESBELFEANENDIK
SN MERREERESRTHNESEURES
BHELE  ERILERRK  RESBEMIFAA
REIERHRERBRRREEES S - M
HESBURBAADKEENEREE (KA
B)MENREFE - AER - AEREE
FRESZHTNESENRESRENMERR
DHERTT A -

TRB EERYRBERN SIAL BN AT

=
= °

Bz TR

fat T A JhE B AN S B & & ) R ER A 5 (FRL
HARER)NERSLD - EEMAXRXLS
ER  2ERBRRREEAESERRE
BEMRUAISREEFETRHRAA  ETA
S TAMARE D AR -

HESBURTRAEEGRAREELBERE
BEFAESES BN LM ARNRHKAE -

TIREEMEFIRTIRIIRR - HEAB RIS
RPEEABNERPIEENASR - Hit
R PUATER BRI

KRIEREHER
REERBERAEBE NS (TERR « THE%
EmERIERERAE  CRIEERZSH
BERREAD N REMRERNEZEENERE
MR o

T ECTEFR AARARETES 155 7
.{ '



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Manager is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Manager has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Manager has reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred
tax on investment properties, the Manager has determined
that the presumption of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred tax
on changes in fair value of investment properties using EIT
rate at 25%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next twelve months.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages an
independent qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) to
perform the valuation. The Manager works closely with the
Valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The valuation report and findings would
be reported to the directors of Manager half yearly to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of
the reporting period based on the valuation performed by the
Valuer. In determining the fair value, the Valuer has based
on a method of valuation which involves certain estimates as
described in note 13.

Where the actual future market data varies, a material
adjustment on the fair values of investment properties may
arise. In relying on the valuation reports, the Manager has
exercised its judgment and is satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W#REoIEE
Revenue recognition Wz FERR
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020F1A1H 2019%11H15H
% £
2020F12H31H 2019412A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Rental income from office buildings BFERBEYTOES KA
and a shopping centre 312,544 22,913
Management fee income EBEWA 35,254 3,765
Carpark income BEAURA 7,559 863
Others Eih 14,768 1,218
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEERNREEFS PR
recognised over time 57,581 5,846
370,125 28,759

The Group’s investment properties are leased to tenants
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease
payments for some contracts depend on shopping centre’s
turnover pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in
respective rental agreements.

158 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020

AEEMRENEREELEAEREFHE
ARANNES - REBBHAEHRIEIIN
RGN - B BRANBEENRETFED
UL E KRR ©



T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

The gross rental income from investment properties includes
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate of RMB1,217,000 (2019: HK$85,000) for the current
year.

The Group had minimum lease payment receivables on lease
of office buildings and a shopping centre are as follows:

Wik & 2 BRE R (AE

REERELEYEMNBHS WA BIELIEE
RIgEEk L R AT B S RAREE1,217,000
JT(2019%F : 85,000/7T) °

AEERAETEER RN OORER
A HET -

1.1.2020 15.11.2019

to to

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H

£ E

202012831 2019512AH31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREETTT

Within 1 year 1FER 265,588 306,230
Between 1 and 2 years 1226 208,979 221,462
Between 2 and 3 years 283F 105,859 155,524
Between 3 and 4 years 3FR4F 47,547 58,380
Between 4 and 5 years AR5 28,896 27,109
Over 5 years 5L F 55,795 43,591
712,664 812,296

Others represent revenue from advertising income and air
conditioning income.

All services within the scope of IFRS 15 are for period of
one year or less, except for management fee income and
others which are provided for a period of one year or more.
For management fee income and other, the Group applied
the practical expedient in IFRS 15 to recognise revenue in
the amount that the Group has the right to invoice based
on the terms of the relevant agreements in which the Group
bills a fixed monthly amount. As permitted under IFRS 15,
the transaction price of all these services allocated to the
remaining performance obligations as at the end of each
reporting period is not disclosed.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the Manager, being the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM?”), that are used to make strategic
decisions. The Group’s reportable segments are classified as
(i) office buildings; and (i) shopping centre, which are based
on the types of properties held by the Group. Office buildings
segment aggregates the operating segments, each being an
individual office building, namely New Times Plaza, Cyberport
Building, Technology Building and Technology Building 2, on
the basis that the similar economic characteristic and nature
of services provided. There is no aggregation of operating
segment for shopping centre segment.

Segment revenues and result
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

Wi & 0 ZRE R (2

2 ERE R
AEERBEHEEAMERIEZERRA
(TEBEERRA DEMALBIAEHREORE
MRS BEEEKEDE - AREREAKE
s RBERIKB 2R MO BR/OBFE + Ki)
B o EREUR R R 1 K AR AR
WHEE  BrEoMELARTRBISTFED
MSHES - SBAE - BHRAERRERAE
THZREENE c WERBYTHODE
PEE A B oy HE

Pl S E S
AT SRR 2D BB A KB HEWRA R
DT o

BHZE2020512A31HLLEE

Office Shopping

buildings centre Total

BFE L) LSV et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETT AR¥Tnxt AR¥Tx

Segment revenue DE = 267,048 103,077 370,125

Segment results DECEAE 218,273 92,636 310,909

Exchange gain PE 5 Wiz 132,730

Other income EMUA 56

Manager’s fee EEAEHR (18,074)

Trust and other expenses {EE M EA R (6,308)

Finance costs BhE R (59,934)
Profit before tax and distribution Rt RBERESEN

to unitholders BB AD KA =R 359,379

Income taxes Frigi (74,327)
Profit for the year, before distribution R:tREEB{VIEAA

to unitholders IRV HEIRRER 285,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W& RoOSER(Z)

(continued)
Segment revenues and result (continued) DEREE R EE(E)
For the period ended 31 December 2019 HZE2019F12831H 1-HIME

Office Shopping
buildings centre Total
BFE Byt #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARKETT ARETRT

Segment revenue 7 E e 19,912 8,847 28,759
Segment results DEBFELE 36,009 11,126 47,135
Exchange gain PE 5 Wiz 6,963
Other income EAb YA 21
Manager’s fee EEANER (1,361)
Trust and other expenses EEMEMAY (2,031)
Listing expense WX (7,305)
Finance costs AR (2,378)
Profit before tax and distribution RETRBERESEN

to unitholders BB AD KA EA 41,044
Income taxes FrigHi (12,526)
Profit for the period, before **f&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ A

distribution to unitholders DIREIER R F 28,518
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the EWMH 2 SETBER A M A EB 25T
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note Eﬁlﬁ*ﬁlﬂ o IR B TE I 5 AL b H e
3. Segment profit represents the profit before tax earned by :FEWJ%U\&EWJ?K ?%%%QZ\ AN
each segment without allocation of exchange gain, certain E D ERE 2 BRI AR F BRI EBEER
other income and other unallocated operating expenses. This RARBIRD I REETEMENET=E ©

is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

T TEFRH AEREEETEES 161 7
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(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2020

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

L&)

BER ()

THEERAR

72020512 H31H

Office Shopping
buildings centre Total
BEFE BB AR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TRT AR®TR
Segment assets DEEE 5,391,434 1,697,897 7,089,331
Unallocated assets KO EE 117,964
Consolidated total assets e BEE 7,207,295
Segment liabilities DEPEE 880,665 250,281 1,130,946
Unallocated liabilities ROMBE 2,166,663
Consolidated total liabilities SEEARE 3,297,609

As at 31 December 2019 R2019%12H31H

Office Shopping
buildings centre Total
e By HaEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFTT AR®TT
Segment assets DEPEE 5,842,450 1,933,609 7,776,059
Unallocated assets ROMEE 301,563
Consolidated total assets RERAE 8,077,622
Segment liabilities DESRIE 1,080,643 343,892 1,424,535
Unallocated liabilities KOMBE 2,865,786
Consolidated total liabilities LeEaE 4,290,321
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RE I ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5,

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources, all investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, trade receivables, trade payables, tax
payables, deferred tax liabilities, certain bank balances and
cash, certain amounts due from related companies, certain
secured bank borrowing, certain other payables and certain
amounts due to related companies are allocated to operating
segments. Other corporate assets and liabilities (including
remaining bank balances and cash, amounts due from related
companies, certain other payables, certain secured bank
borrowings and certain amounts due to related companies)
are unallocated.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Wik o ERE R (E

THEEREREE)
RERDHBERARDEER - FIAREYE
ME - BENZE - BHREGUR - BHEN
R ENTIE  BEEHIBRAE - A TRITE
BEBRE  ETRKERARFE  ETHE
MIRTTESR - AN FIRIA RS T RSBk
RAFANEERLENH - B bXEENE
B(BEEREARRITESRNIRS - BRER AT
R~ A THEMEMNFUR - BT AEMRTE
FUARE TR R RIFIE) RO ©

Hithp FHE R
BZE2020512831HLEE

Office Shopping

buildings centre Total
BFE BB s st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT AR®BTR

Addition to investment properties NBINEYE 1,313 7,655 8,968
Addition to property, plant and NBUE - BER&E

equipment - 321 321
Increase in fair value of investment REMEN AL EEL

properties 5,687 20,345 26,032
Depreciation e - 77 77
For the period ended 31 December 2019 HZ=2019F12A31 8 IFHAME

Office Shopping

buildings centre Total
BriE B #Et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT ARBTT ARBTT

Increase in fair value of investment REYER A BEEIN
properties
Depreciation e

20,000 8,633 28,533
- 3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHZKRDEER(E)

(continued)

Geographical information IR E R

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from activities and AEENFBREHEREMNFPENERLE
customers located in the PRC and the Group’s non-current P mMAEBRRIEREBEESMNINPBE -

assets are all located in the PRC.

Information about major customers FRTEREFNER
For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue of HE2020F 12 A3THILEFE s AR
RMB96,876,000 (2019: RMB6,519,000) was derived from 96,876,0007T (20194 : A R ¥6,519,0007T)
the related companies which are group of companies under LYEN) NG Ezgé/‘ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%’ilﬁﬁﬁ
China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG”). A([HAERER DETH—HERQF] -
6. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES 6. MELERE
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H
z ES
202012831 2019F12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET ARKEFT
Advertising and promotion EENIERE 4,133 1,139
Agency fee RIE2E 365 1,236
Property management expenses MEERE 48,787 5,188
Operations manager’s fee CETEE 15,612 1,173
Other taxes EihFig 23,831 2,158
Others Efib 3,454 177
96,182 11,071
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

HApWA ~ W R ER

1.1.2020 15.11.2019

to to

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H

ES E

202012831 2019512AH31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETTT

Interest income from bank deposits RERITHEREOF BUA 6,246 632
Interest income from structured deposits RE LSBT B YA 235 -
Compensation income (note) wWEWA(FZ) 3,312 204
Government subsidy ERATHERL 1,338 -
Others Hth (93) 99
11,038 935

Note: Compensation income represented compensation income from
termination of lease contracts.

MANAGER’S FEE

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to
receive 10% per annum of the base fee distribution income
(the “Base Fee”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 as
remuneration. Base Fee distributable income is the amount of
the total distributable income to unitholders calculated before
accounting for the Base Fee payable for the year.

Bz - BB IER IEE S & MM B -

EEAEH

RIEEEERL) - BIE2020F12A31AILEE
EIEABEGFEWEREANE AR HREAR
10%([EAREBR NDIEAME - ERBEAES
R A B AT A B EARE B AT ER A
EL BB AD RO ALLEE

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H
£ ES
20205F12H31H 20194F12831H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Manager’s fee: TEAER
In the form of cash LARR &S 18,074 1,361

The Manager may elect at its sole discretion to receive the
Manager’s fee in the form of cash or entirely or partly in the
form of units. If no election is made, the most recent valid
election made by the Manager in a prior calendar year (if any)
shall apply and, if there is no such prior calendar year election
by the Manager, the Manager’s fee shall be paid in cash. The
Manager’s fee is 100% in the form of cash for the current
year.

EEAAREBHRBEERNRE I A2
MR UESEM T ARNEREAER - 10
TMELEE - AIEEARBREERF(E)EL
MEIHAMERKER  MEBEARBE
BEALEFELARER  REEABRKAR
X AFEEEABARKZEURSHA
XAt e
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. EERA
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020F1A1H 2019%11H15H
z ES
202012H31H 2019%12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITIE R SR 55,182 2,178
Amortisation of upfront payments ESERTERT R 4,800 200
59,982 2,378

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND DISTRIBUTION

10. R RBARESBNUFEADIK

TO UNITHOLDERS R R
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020F1B1EH 2019411 A15H
z E
20205F12H31H 2019412831H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT
Profit before tax and distribution to Rt RBBRESEMNFAA
unitholders has been arrived IR R TR (BEA)
at after charging (crediting): AT &IBBIER :
Auditors’ remuneration ZEE B & 2,400 1,400
Depreciation e 77 3
Trustee’s remuneration SEEAF 1,322 271
Principal valuer's fee L EmER 171 90
Bank charges RITFES 293 50
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF TR EULA (6,246) (632)

Interest income from structured deposits

B IR B I (235)




Sy o &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A TR RN
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE
11. INCOME TAXES 1. FriS#t
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H
ES E
202012831 2019512AH31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Current tax BIEATRIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) PRI ESH([RERER])
Current year/period NEFE /HifE 42,297 2,989
Underprovision in prior period BERET R 743 -
Withholding tax BERMBK
Overprovision in prior period BT EREBRERE (15,966) _
Deferred tax (note 18) RERIA(H7218) 47,253 9,537
74,327 12,526
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as AR AL ENARFE LRT EEE & BT & T
the Group has no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong AEFTERBUAF - BT ERLE B RS HIED
during the current year and prior period. B o
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin BEEBEZES((RBEZHES DHEAIR
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in B AEEBEMNTINABEZESHG
the BVI. w5 o
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the RIEFEAREMBIDZEMERE([BREHRE
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, BAD REEMSBEERMAE - R EHEB
the statutory income tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% NEIRAFERBEBRAEEMERER
for the current year and prior period. 25%
Details of the deferred tax are set out in note 18. RIETRTBRIFHIBE NI FE18 o

—E—F

—= =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

11.

12.

INCOME TAXES (continued)

The income tax expense for the year/period can be reconciled
to the profit before tax and distribution to unitholders as

follows:

1

11. Fr8Hi (&

1=

AEE/HEAEHAERG REERES
BRA AD RSN SRR T -

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H
S z
202012831 2019512AH31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARKEFT
Profit before tax and distribution Rt RBBERESEMNFE
to unitholders ADIKEY = F) 359,379 41,044
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% ZBRFTSH R 25%:TE HFIE 89,845 10,261
Tax effect of income not taxable for TR BB BERBRAZ
tax purpose B2 (33,668) (1,770)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for WETERIBZ R AEINZ
tax purpose HAxZBe 2 21,289 3,311
Deferred tax on earnings of Group’s PRC ANEE B R B B 2 R ALY
subsidiaries AT 12,074 696
Underprovision in respect of prior period B HRR AR 743 -
Overprovision in respect of withholding BT HRETEINT RE R
tax in prior period (15,966) -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries B ARREME A EREZEN
operating in other jurisdictions TRARE TR 10 -
Others Hih = 28
Income tax expense for the year/period HF R,/ BRAEHES 74,327 12,5626
BASIC EARNINGS PER UNIT 12. BESENELRER

The calculation of the basic earnings per unit before
distribution to unitholders is based on the profit for the year/
period, before distribution to unitholders of RMB285,052,000
(2019: RMB28,518,000) with the weighted average number of
units of 1,127,819,549 (2019: 1,127,819,549) in issue during

the year.

There were no dilutive potential units during the year
ended 31 December 2020 and period ended 31 December
2019, therefore the diluted earnings per unit has not been

presented.

1,127,819,5491&) 51 & -

é‘;.;;??168 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020

Kt RESBEUFEADKNEESEME
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& /AR N AR #285,052,0007T (20194
AR #28,518,00070) Br LAHARN B /TR E ¢
B HN#E S 15 801,127,819,549 (2019 4F

BRE E2020F 12 A31 H IEFE R E Z£2019
F12A31H I A E BT SRS BN - A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13. REWHE

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H
2 ES
202012831 2019512AH31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREETTT

FAIR VALUE NRfEE
At beginning of the year/period E9)/ 8840 6,609,000 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 23) WEEMB AR (Ht23) - 6,579,000
Additions during the year/period F/HRNRE 8,968 1,467
Fair value changes on investment properties REYMENN R BEE 26,032 28,533
At the end of the year/period EX /KR 6,644,000 6,609,000

The Group’s office buildings and a shopping centre are
investment properties which are located in Shenzhen, the
PRC and are measured using the fair value model.

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2020
by Cushman & Wakefield Limited (the “Valuer”). The Valuer
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

The Valuer adopted income approach — income capitalisation
method to arrive the valuation of investment properties as
at 31 December 2020. During the year ended 31 December
2020, there was change of valuation technique for one of
the Group’s investment property from discounted cash flow
analysis to income capitalisation method. The reason of
change is that the Manager believe income capitalisation
method is a more representative of fair value in the current
circumstance.

The income capitalisation method adopted by the Valuer has
taken into account the net rental income of a property derived
from its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing
market with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which has been then capitalised
to determine the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation
rate. The discounted cash flow analysis involves discounting
future cash flows of the property to its present value by using
an appropriate discount rate with due allowance for the
reversionary net income of the property, which is capitalised
with a terminal capitalisation rate.

AEENRSFERBYHLAREYE - N
REDRIN - AR AR BEBE -

LB YER2020F 12 A31 B HEEZ1TAR
NEN(EERD D) #ETER o GERMZEA R 1EE
B SR EETEEZ A EBREER K
%ﬁo

M2020F12 8318 » [HEMEAWAE — K
BERMEEBIR EYISEGE - BiE 20209612
AS1BIFERRE  AEB—RREWENE
B EFRIAAESRESMERE BIRAER(
5o BEIBARATEARAREER A
BEREEBRERRAREME -

HEMRARNREENMOED A RBREEN
PR,/ SRR AETISH ARG 2 NEES
WAFE - WERBE 2 ERRAENELE
BRE BEZESBNFRZEEEA R
BRMCABEAAREE - MRBEERENTH
KL FEE REIR R R AR IR R ERS
REHRE  YMWEZERRAFEELE
ERE  BURRENMERENE -

—ToREER BERABEEREES 1694
ifr e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE(ZE

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year/
period.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

1=

AEE B B A HE =R -

TREHNABEXFRENENRAAEE
(CERFAFEANEERTRBABE)WE
B ARREBERA BEAENEARENAIE
EREHAABEASETHIENRIRBES
F(E—FREE=AF) -

Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the 1hE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuationtechnique  Significant unobservable inputs
of financial postion hierarchy RMB'000 RMB'000  and key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
AEERGATBRAR MEE N0F  019F  (HEKGRER AEERALEE
RRNRENE 54 ARETR ARETT  8A38 ENNICERS YN MEBENBE
Property 1 - shopping mallin~ Level 3 1,587,000 1,559,000  2020: Income
Shekou, Shenzhen F=R5 capitalisation method
mE1 - L R 0005 - YEEAILE
The key inputs are
BB BER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
EHmRE generated by market average seling the lower the fair value.

(2) Reversionary yield
{RHEHE

price and the market average rental from ~ EHEERHS - 24 ER
comparable properties and adjustment to i
reflect the conditions of the office buildings,
0f 6.00%.
EHRRE (ERABNENTR TIER
R TR E NIRRT AR Y
ETEHRR)£6.00% °

Reversionary yield, taking into account of The higher the reversionary
yield generated by market average seling yield, the lower the fair

price and the market average rental from value.
comparable properties and adustment to ~ EEEHEHE - A1 EE
reflect the risk associated with the future i

rental, of 6.50%.
EHEEE(EH R BnEN T TIER

R T R E RO AR RY

BARESEHENER)A650% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GABBREME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWHE(Z)
Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the fhE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuation technique  Significant unoboservable inputs
of financial position hierarchy RMB'000  RMBI000  and key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
ASERGRIHR AR M N0E 0195 RERIRER AERE HEE
HEORENE 24 ARBTR ARETT G ENTTEERANS DB
(3) Monthly term rental  Monthly term rental is derived from the average  The higher the monthly
Al of the rental as stated in the existing rental term rental, the higher
agreements (note a) of RMB154 sq.m./ the fair value.
month. AfgER DrEEY
RESRERARERE (T AELET  &-
HEARE54T/Fhk/ A o
(4) Reversionary rental - Reversionary rental is derived from the average  The higher the reversionary
ik of the rental as stated i the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) of RMB209/sq.m./ value.
month, REEEHE  DABES
EERSREMRERE()IANTIR &
SARB20T/FAR/ A
2019: Discounted cash
flow analysis
19F : FEELTRE
A
The key inputs are
BiRE) 22
(1) Discount rate Discount rate, taking into account of the risk ~ The higher the discount
iR free factor and the risk premium including rate, the lower the fair

management risk, liquidity risk, transaction value.

risk and risk of property ftself and adjustment  BREE#E - A1 BEH
to reflect the conditions of the shopping i

centre, of 8.75% as at 31 December 2019
RO19512A317 - BRE(E A Maéal

ZRERAE BEERER EeER X
VEESELCEI A RGPS vk

DR B8.75% °

T TEFR AEREEEREES 1714; "
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GABBEREME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE(Z)
Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the 1hE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuation technique  Significant unobservable inputs
of financial position hierarchy RMB'000 RMB'000  &nd key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
BRI R MBE N0F 0195 BERIRER AERE\HEE
FRNRENE 0 ARETR ARETT 8AFB ENMTERRAE MEBENBE
(2) Monthly market rent  Monthly market rent is derived from the average - The higher the monthly
mEAkEs of the rental as stated in the existing rental market rent, the higher
agreements (note a) and the expected rental  the fair value.
upon expiry of the existing rental agreements Tz A4 HE - AL ER
of RMB201/sq.m./month as at 31 December ~ #5 »
2019,
10195128310 - R ARERERAEE
(e AR S T ER R AHER
AEREHERRS ARE0 T/ Ak
Fo
Property 2 - office buildingin -~~~ Level 3 868,000 868,000  Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen £=45 method
MR -NAIEPEETE W&EELE
The key inputs are
BiRE) 22
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
EHmRE generated by market average seling the lower the fair value.

prioe and the market average rental from ~ £HEHEHS - N4 EE
comparable properties and adjustment to HE -
reflect the conditions of the office buildings,
of 4.50% (2019: 4.50%).
RS RAREN T TIER
R TR E B R TR Y
BFEHR) A4.50% (20195 : 450%) °

(2) Reversionary yield  Reversionary yield, taking into account of The higher the reversionary

ERmHRE yield generated by market average selling yield, the lower the fair
price and the market average rental from value.
comparable properties and adjustment to  BREHEHS - A EE
reflect the risk associated with the future i

rental, of 5.00% (2019: 5.00%).

ERORE(E LA B ENTATIER
AT R R NERRTARRIR
BERRESBRERER) A5.00%(20195 :
5.00%) «
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REMF(E)
Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the fhE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuation technique  Significant unoboservable inputs
of financial position hierarchy RMB'000  RMBI000  and key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
ARERGRIHIRE MR 0% 2019F  ERGRERE TIBREAIEE
RELEELES h ARETR ARBTRL 8AHE EATMTBERARE DA FENEE

Property 3 - office buildingin -~~~ Level 3
Shekou, Shenzhen £=45
nE3-AR AL NHETIE

1,042,000 1,039,000

(3) Monthly term rental
Afg

(4) Reversionary rental

EHES

Income capitalisation
method

YEERE

The key inputs are

BiEALER

(1) Term yield
EHmgE

Term yield, taking into account of yield

Monthly term rental is derived from the average ~ The higher the monthly
of the rental as stated in the existing rental term rental, the higher
agreements (note a) of RMB102 sq.m./ the fair value.
month (2019: RMB97/sq.m./month). AfigHE - DAiEEY

RESRERARERE (T AELET  &-
BEARB02T/ TR/ B 095 : A
RO/ TAA/B)

Reversionary rental is derived from the average  The higher the reversionary
of the rental as stated in the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) of RMB112/sq.m./ value.
month (2019: RMB111/sq.m./montf). EEReER DARED
BREREHMEERA(IMINTIE &

SARB2L/ TR/ A (20195 - AR
Wi/ Fhk/R) o

The higher the term yield,
generated by market average selling the lower the fair value.
price and the market average rental fom  EEEREHE - A1 BE
comparable properties and adjustment to i
reflect the conditions of the office buildings,
of 4.50% (2019: 4.50%).

EHERE (R BNENTATIER
Ria TR E R ERE AN R
BFIRIUR) 54.50%(20195 : 450%) «

/,

T TEFRH AERBEETEES 1735 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HZE2020F12A31HILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE(E)
Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the 1hE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuation technique  Significant unobservable inputs
of financial position hierarchy RMB'000 RMB'000  &nd key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
BRI R M N0F 0195 BERIRER AERE\HEE
RENRENE 0 ARETR ARETT 8AFB EXTMBEEARR MEBENBE
(2) Reversionary yield  Reversionary yield, taking into account of The higher the reversionary
EHERE yield generated by market average seling yield, the lower the fair
price and the market average rental from value.
comparable properties and adjustment to  BEEHEHS - AHEE
reflect the risk associated with the future Tl o
rental, of 5.00% (2019: 5.00%).
BRORE (R anENTR TIER
Ris TR EHMRE AR
BRERTECABNER)£5.00%(2019% -
5,00%) °
(3) Monthly term rental - Monthly term rental is derived from the average  The higher the monthly
3l of the rental as stated in the existing rental term rental, the higher
agreements (note a) of RMB114/sq.m./ the fair value.
month (2019; RMB109/sq.m./month) RRgHs  ArEEE
RESRERAREHE (T AmEET  &-
BEARSNT/THA/ R2019E < A
E®100T/ AR/ R) -
(4) Reversionary rental  Reversionary rental is derived from the average  The higher the reversionary
ik of the rental as stated in the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) of RMB122/sg.m/month  value.
(2019; RMB120/sq,m./month). ESHeNs  DABES
EEReREFEERA(MOMINTIE &
SARBI27/THR/ (20195 : AR
107/ Thk/R) -
Property 4 - office buildingin -~ Level 3 1,082,000 1,082,000  Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen 5200 method
MR- RIE OB TE YRz
The key inputs are
BRE) 2R
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
FEmHR generated by market average seling the lower the fair value

price and the market average rental from

comparable properties and adjustment to

reflect the conditions of the office buildings,
of 4.50% (2019: 4.50%).

ERORR (A R EOTETIER

&m%?ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]@?&f SIEEINUA

BT B4 50%(2019% : 450%) °

FHOREER  DrEE
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE(E
Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the fhE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuation technique  Significant unoboservable inputs
of financial position hierarchy RMB'000  RMBI000  and key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
REERGRRHR MR 0% 2019F  ERGRERE TIBREAIEE
RELEELES h ARETR ARBTRL 8AHE EATMTBERARE DA FENEE

(2) Reversionary yield
{REERE

(3) Monthly term rental
Jak:Ea

(4) Reversionary rental

EEES

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average seling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.00% (2019: 5.00%).

EEORE(E R ENENTATIER
Ris TR EE M RETARENR
BERTESABNER)£5.00%( 20194 -
5,00%) °

Monthly term rental for each unit is derived
from the average of the rental as stated in
the existing rental agreements (note a) of
RMB101/sq.m./month (2019 RMB100/sq.
m./month.

RE&RERARE St Mol TR
SARBIOIL/ TR/ A (20195 - AR
#1007/ TR/ R) o

Reversionary rental is derived from the average
of the rental as stated in the new rental
agreements note b of RMB112/sq.m./
month (2019: RMB114/sq.m./month).

SR REMEEHA M0 TIE
SARB2L/ TR/ (20195 - AR
BT/ TR/ R) o

“IoTEEE AEREEERES 1757,

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EEmREES AR
i

The higher the monthly
term rental, the higher
the fair value.

AReHR  ArBEH

=]

R

0

The higher the reversionary
rental, the higher the fair

value.
EERsHs  NEE
% 0




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GARBRENE
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BZE20205F12 331 RILFE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. WEWE (&
Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the 1hE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuation technique  Significant unobservable inputs
of financial position hierarchy RMB'000 RMB'000  &nd key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
REERNGATBRAR MBE N0F 019 (HEKGRER AEERALEE
FRNRENE 0 ARETR ARETT 8AFB ENMTERRAE MEBENBE
Property 5 - office buildingin -~ Level 3 2,065,000 2,061,000  Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen FZ55 method
MERS-RRIEPEE TR WEERLE
The key inputs are
BB BER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
EHmE generated by market average seling the lower the fair value.

price and the market average rental from ~ FEIEEERHE - AL EE
comparable properties and adjustment to g
reflect the conditions of the office buildings,
4,00% (2019 4.00%).
EHRRE (RN TIER
R T RS E NIRRT Ry
BFEHR)A4.00% (20195 : 400%) °

(2) Reversionary yield  Reversionary yield, taking into account of The higher the reversionary
EHERE yield generated by market average seling yield, the lower the fair
price and the market average rental from value.
comparable properties and adjustment to  EEEEERHE - AL ERE
reflect the risk associated with the future HE -
rental, of 4.50% (2019: 4.50%).
BEDRE (R ENENTR TIER
R T RS EENERRTARENR
BERRESAREMER)54.50% (20194 :
4.50%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE (&

Investment properties Valuation
held by the Group in the [tE Relationship of
consolidated statement Fair value 2020 op1g  Valuation technique  Significant unoboservable inputs
of financial postion hierarchy RMB'000  RMB'000  @nd key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
AEERGAMIAR MfEE N0 0195 (HERGRER AERENTEE
RRNRENZ £4 ARETR ARETT & B EXTTHEGAYR MEENEE
(3) Monthly term rental  Monthly term rental for each unit is derived The higher the monthly
A from the average of the rental as statedin ~term rental, the higher
the existing rental agreements (note ) of the fair value.
RMB171/sq.m/month (2019: RMB161/sq.  AfeHE @ AR EES
m./month). 5
RS RERERERE (e Rl TR
SARBITIT/THk/ A(20198 : AR
BI61/TAR/R) o
(4) Reversionary rental  Reversionary rental is derived from the average ~ The higher the reversionary
ik of the rental as stated in the new rental rental, the higher the fair
agreements (note b) of RMB169/sq.m./ value.
month (2019: RMB165/sq.m./montf). EFmeNs  DABEE
EEEcREHEEHA()INTEE &
SARMI60T/ TAK/ A(20195 : AR
166/ THR/R) o
Notes: Wizt -

(@) Existing rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including
renewal agreements, which are signed before the end of the year/period.

(b) New rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including renewal
agreements, which are to be signed or negotiated after the end of the

year/period.

(@ HREMEHEERES AR NEERENHE

Eitk o

b) FHREBRREF HARRETREGENEAGE

MRS -

—ToTEsR ABRBRERES 1774,




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R AN
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12A31 B ILFE
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14. EZ R HEMEWFIE
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020F1B1H 2019911 H15H
S EY
202012831 2019F12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARKEFT
Trade receivables & 5 el s 1,654 348
Deferred rent receivable FEBCRTEE & 7,205 -
Deposit b - 400
8,859 748
Trade receivables represent lease receivables. Lease B RYGRIEEERKR - BRFEREY
receivables under rental of office buildings and a shopping POHENHERKFIE—RELERERY
centre are generally required to be settled by tenants within &30 AP LS °

30 days upon issuance of demand note.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, LT AREEREAHZYNE S EKRFIEN
presented based on the date of demand note: BRER AT
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201818 201911 R15H
ES E
2020128318 2019 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Within 1 month 1MEAR 304 188
More than 1 month but within 3 months HR1EAERMEAR 165 -
Over 3 months BiE3MEA 1,185 160
1,654 348
Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are AEEE Z RGBSR IEREEEARE
customers with aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,350,000 1,350,0007T (20194 = AR #160,0007T) 2
(2019: RMB160,000) which are aged over 30 days and past BERIE - ZEFERRBIES0A BR®mER
due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has HimEA R R E - MASE R BIELRERSE
not provided for impairment loss. Before accepting any new B - REMTAIEP 28 - AEEIRER
customers, the Group assessed the credit quality of trade and TR AOERERCHREE 5 R H A EWGRIE
other receivables based on historical default rates and the MEEEE  URANRERRSIHIRE MR
repayment records and considered adequate allowance has 1 o

been made at the end of the reporting period.

&
ej 178 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020

7




Sy o &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

15.BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND 15 SB{IT&SRBEESUREBHER
STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Bank balances carry interest at market rates of 0.01% to IRITE RN T0.01% £ 2.03% K T 35 F 51| K
2.03% per annum (2019: 0.00% to 0.3% per annum). (2019%F : 0.00%Z=0.3%HIFFIR)HE °
Bank balances and cash and structured deposits are RITEB MR NEBIEERTIA Ty Bt
denominated in the following currencies: 8

1.1.2020 15.11.2019

to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201 H18 2019411 A15H

S ES

2020%F12H31H 20194F12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AREFIT

RMB AREE 429,729 1,185,303

Hong Kong Dollar (‘“HK$”) Bo(Erxl) 55,105 276,074

484,834 1,461,377
Structured deposits represent products issued by banks in the ERMGREEAPESRITETHER &
PRC which pay interest rates that has an inverse relationship TR RETISF R R, o S &#E T
to the market interest rate. These structured deposits do KW HFETAE AT NS R HREBZRNSF
not meet the solely payments of principal and interest on the B MoBEARALBEFAERNTHRE
principal amounts outstanding and therefore are classified as E - BB TFINAREBEFEZFIBEH

financial assets at FVTPL. Details of fair value measurement of RHFFE29 ©

the structured deposits are set out in note 29.

TSR ABREEETES 17%*?? -'

/f i
v
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

16. E 5 R EMEBA IR

1.1.2020 15.11.2019

to to

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H

S z

202012831 2019F12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREEFT

Trade payables H PN 537 859
Other tax payables H A0 FERIBIIE 1,587 1,800
Rental receipt in advance TBUiES 8,351 1,883
Receipt on behalf of tenants (note) REMPYER(HEE) 10,078 12,519
Rental deposit received from tenants fEPKEIMESERE 54,661 57,679
Accruals and other payables e &R R EMENFIE 8,203 9,112
82,880 82,993

83,417 83,852

Note:

The Group collected the turnover of tenants, who operate food and beverage
business in a shopping centre, on behalf of them and is obligated to remit to
them every half month.

The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges
from 30 to 90 days. The following is an ageing analysis of

REBREKEP BT O MRS E R o SR BT S 1

BER  WASHEARBEPENR -

HERRASERHOEEHN F0E0R -
TXHINE2BARKEZAHZ2INZES

trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the FER ZRIBER IS DA -
end of each reporting period:

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201 A1H 2019411/ 15H
£ 2
2020F12831H 2019412A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARETTT
Within 1 month 1MEAR 159 621
More than 1 month but within 3 months HBR1EAERMEAR = 21
Over 3 months HBiE3ME A 378 217
537 859
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HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

17. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS 17. EEFBITER
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H
2 E
202012831 2019F12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBETT
Secured bank borrowings BHEMIRITER 2,021,954 1,901,832
Loan front-end fee EXRIEER (9,400) (14,200)
2,012,554 1,887,632
The maturity of the secured bank borrowings BEMRTEZOIHADOT
are as follows:
Within one year 15R 620 -
More than one year but not exceeding HBIB1E - B EE2F
two years 2,011,934 -
More than two years but not exceeding HBIB2F R ZNEF
five years - 1,887,632
2,012,554 1,887,632

As at 31 December 2020, secured banking borrowings with a
total amount of RMB1,905,484,000 (2019: RMB1,901,832,000)
bear interests at fixed rates of 2.18% to 4.5% per annum (2019:
fixed rates of 2.75% to 4.5% per annum). The remaining amount
of secured bank borrowing of RMB116,470,000 (2019: nil) bears
interest at Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus
0.9% per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, the current portion of secured bank
borrowing will mature in December 2021. As at 31 December
2020, the non-current portion of secured bank borrowings will
mature in December 2022 (2019: mature in December 2022).

As security for the term loans granted to the Group,
investment properties with an aggregate fair value of
RMB5,776,000,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB5,741,000,000) together with the assignments of sales
proceeds, insurance proceeds, rental income, revenue and
all other income generated from these properties have been
pledged to the bank.

B2020F 12 A31 H - MR ITIE B
A R #1,005,484,000 7T (2019 F @ A R¥&
1,901,832,000 7T ) ¥ 4% (&l & FF F| &£ 2.18[ 2 &
452 (20197 : BT FF K2 75F £ 45
E)FFE - B T2 BIEMIBITERRBEARE
116,470,000 7037 & /& $R 17 R 2 37 8 N FI| K
0.9EFHE o

202012 A31H - HEHIRTT(E AR ER
EBH 1 2021F 12 A 2 8 » 72020 12 A 31
A AEBRITERIERNHIE 9 155020224
12 AEIH(20194F : R2022412 AFIH]) -

{ERMAEER L EHERIER - 120205
1231 B AR BES &£ ARS5,776,000,000
JT(20194F : AR¥5,741,000,00070) B9 E
MEBREEMERIE - REER - ASlA
M EMEEENRE RATE ERA 2 EiE
B FIRTT

—ToTEER BERABEERES 1814
ifr e
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EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

18. DEFERRED TAX 18. IR IE
RREAMBIRREZIIME - BEHBEEE
RABCDEIEE - LT AREREEERNE
ZIEERRBEEE) REEE)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, the deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the major deferred tax liabilities
(assets) recognised and movements thereon during the
reporting period:

Withholding
taxon
retained  Provision for Change in
Accelerated earnings expected  fair value of
tax tobe credit  investment
depreciation  distributed losses properties Total
1T A EH
MERE  REBA EHEE RENF
ik AN BERE QABEED @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTT ARBTT ARt  ARETR
Acaquisition of subsidiaries WEHB A 162,528 8,782 (274) 802,415 973,451
Charged to profit or loss BNk 1,708 696 - 7,133 9,537
At 31 December 2019 72019612A31R 164,236 9,478 (274) 809,548 982,988
Charged (credited) to profit or loss EECEIIEIN) 28,724 12,074 (63) 6,508 47,253
At 31 December 2020 120206 12A31R 192,960 21,552 (327) 816,056 1,030,241

The PRC EIT Law requires withholding tax to be levied on FECESR A RERREERNEEERED

distribution of profits earned by PRC entities for profits
generated after 1 January 2008 at rate of 5% for Hong
Kong resident companies, or at rate of 10% for companies
incorporated in the BVI or Hong Kong that do not fulfil the
requirement as a Hong Kong resident company, which are
the beneficial owners of the dividend received. Deferred tax is
provided in full in respect of the undistributed earnings as at
31 December 2020.

é‘;.;;??182 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020

7

¥ B EABELBEEAMANINTESER
BHEMKIETTAEEREROERTENLE
(B B E S A)BL200841 A1HE
FREE B FETT DR BB AN TESORT - B
DRI A5% K 10% ° A20205E12 A31H - gtk
DEREF 2 HEHREEH TERE -
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19. ISSUED UNITS 10. B BTEESEN
Movements of units in issue are as below: BETESEMAOESIT
Number
of units RMB’000
BuEHE AREETF T
Units issued for acquisition of subsidiaries 7 -1 B 2Agt U BEEH B A 7
on Listing Date BITMES BN 377,819,549 1,162,025
Units issued for initial offering on PR LR REERT
Listing Date HWESEN 750,000,000 2,305,934
Units issue cost A B BITHRA - (76,430)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 20195 12A31B K
31 December 2020 202012 831 HVE: 1,127,819,549 3,391,529

20.

21.

22,

Upon the completion of the acquisition of Frontier Shekou,
China Merchants Commercial REIT issued 377,819,549 units
and made cash payment to Jumbo Pacific Holdings Limited
(“dumbo Pacific”) in exchange for all of the issued shares of
Frontier Shekou on Listing Date.

On Listing Date, China Merchants Commercial REIT issued
750,000,000 units at HK$3.42 per unit, amounting to
RMB2,305,934,000.

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT

The net asset value per unit is calculated by dividing the
net assets attributable to unitholders as at 31 December
2020 of RMB3,909,686,000 (2019: RMB3,787,301,000)
by the number of units in issue of 1,127,819,549 (2019:
1,127,819,549) units as at 31 December 2020.

NET CURRENT ASSETS

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s net current assets,
calculated as current assets less current liabilities, amounted
to RMB307,326,000 (2019: RMB48,630,000).

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s total assets less
current liabilities amounted to RMB6,951,861,000 (2019:
RMB6,657,921,000).

20.

21.

22,

R SE AU Frontier Shekout® © R BE%E
L E e ) £ B H [ Jumbo Pacific Holdings
Limited ( [ Jumbo Pacific | ) i—éﬁ ﬁ 377 819,549
AE e B RIEHIRESMRK 2 # Frontier
ShekouZz HFE EE1TRR (D ©

REMBE - %ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁéﬁgiafim%
& B {373.4278 70 3577750,000,000EE & B {7
A FEARME2 305,934,0007T °

BEESBENUNEERE

BEISEBEMNEEFETIIZN2020F 12
ABESENRFRAEABRGEEFEA
R # 3,009,686,000 7T (2019 F : A R #
3,787,301,0007T ) Br LA 202012 A31 H B 3%
17H91,127,819, 5491!(2019¢ :1,127,819,549
ENEEBAHE

REBEEFE

MR2020F 12 A31H » AEBNRBEEF
EBE(BERDEERABDEGBRHE) AARE
307,326,000 7t (20194 : A K # 48,630,000
JC) °

EERABERRBAE

MR2020F12A31H » AEBER KRB EERRED
B &5 A AREE6,951,861,0007T (20194 -
AR#6,657,921,0007T) °

T TEFRH AEREXETES 183 7
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HZE2020F12A31 B ILFE

23. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 23. WM B A A
On 25 November 2019, Treasure Supreme International MR20195F 11 A25H + BB ERTESHH
Limited, a subsidiary of China Merchants Commercial REIT, & ~ 7] Treasure Supreme International Limited
and the manager, entered into a sale and purchase agreement K& A B Jumbo Pacifics] 7 B & Wik - 1
with Jumbo Pacific, pursuant to which, consideration was in I - REZ = AREJumbo PacificZ{TE 4 &
the form of issuance of units and payment of cash to Jumbo R THAEE - AR Jumbo PacificiF B /Y
Pacific in exchange for all of the issued shares of Frontier Frontier ShekouZ #BE 17D - BB E
Shekou held by Jumbo Pacific. China Merchants Commercial EFEES 2019912 A10H [AJumbo PacificZs
REIT issued 377,819,549 units and made cash payment 17377,819,540(A K & B RAEFHIR ST -
to Jumbo Pacific in exchange for all of the issued shares of LAZZ #aFrontier ShekouZ B8 E B 1TH D © AU
Frontier Shekou on 10 December 2019. Upon completion BT - B RRE ¥Rt E S A Frontier
of the acquisition, China Merchants Commercial REIT owns Shekou R EffE AR - BT BIRK S H ) 4%
Frontier Shekou and its subsidiaries, which are property BARI([BUWEBHBAR ) °

holding companies established in the PRC (the “Acquired
Subsidiaries”).

RMB’000
AREET T
Cash He 4,185,714
Unit issued BEBITES BN 1,162,025
5,347,739
The fair value of 377,819,549 units of China Merchants RE PR ERTTES377,819540EE & BEAL
Commercial REIT, determined using the offer price of E"J’Afﬂgﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ1%_@@1}1%?5*%%3.42
HK$3.42 (equivalent to RMB3.08) per unit amounted to BILUBERARKI08ILEE - #HAAR
RMB1,162,025,000 in total. #51,162,025,0007T °
Consideration transferred SEENE
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of REE RN WEBEENEHARARENT
acquisition are as follows:
RMB’000
ARET T
Investment properties "EME 6,579,000
Property, plant and equipment ME - HE MR 294
Trade and other receivables H 5 Kk HAbEWEOR 8,033
Amounts due from related companies JfE W B RS N B FRIE 20,154
Bank balances and cash SRITEHR IR 1,206,770
Trade and other payables E 5 R EAENFRIE (105,213)
Current tax payables BIEffE A E (41,290)
Amounts due to related companies Rz NCIE e (3,631,644)
Deferred tax liabilities BIEHEAE (973,451)
3,062,653

é‘;.;;??184 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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23. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 23. WEBKIB AT (&)

Consideration transferred (continued)

The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB8,033,000. The gross contractual
amounts of those trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to RMB9,165,000 at the date of acquisition. The
best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows
not expected to be collected amounted to RMB1,132,000.

CEEREE)

R RN E 5 R EMERFIEN AR EER
B AREES,033,0007T - HUNEERE - :ZEE UK
BE S EEMEWNFIENENREAARE
9,165,0007T ° TEAIRBEMEME RS RER
WiE B Bl = HE A AR EE1,132,0007T °

Contribution arising on acquisition: IWEEERRE -
RMB’000
ARET T
Consideration transferred [REEELN 5,347,739
Less: repayment of amount due to a related company i : B et —EIREHE A 708 (2,664,585)
Net assets acquired BEEEFE (3,062,653)

Excess of fair value of the Acquired Subsidiaries BB E A RN AR EBE

over acquisition cost R R A AR ) R (379,499)

The acquisition is a transaction with an unitholder with
significant influence over China Merchants Commercial
REIT. The difference between the fair value of the net assets
acquired and the consideration is treated as a deemed
contribution from an unit holder and recognised in net asset
attributable to unitholders.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

W —HEES BAURFAALTHRS - M
ZETBEURBAAYARRRRETET AR
BEAFEN CHBEEFEN AR EEER
ERNERR - 2E2BEURAANRIELE
FRIE - WRESEMFA AEIEEEFER

i

Wi B B B 2 B Y 3R 0% HH R

RMB’000

ARET T

Cash consideration paid BENRENRE 3,912,367
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BWIERE MRS EEY (1,206,770)
2,705,597

T TEFR AEREEEREES 185;;
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EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

24. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES AND 24. 8 THELWERBRHEBEEN
RELATED ASSETS ARISING FROM HER

25.

N

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Amounts
due to Interest
related payable
companies Secured (included in
(non-trade bank other
nature) borrowings payables) Total
FEAF
E2) NG ERFIE
FIE(E BEMRT Gt AHM
BE5ME) fBR  FEARIE) e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETFT ARETT
Financing cash flows MERESRE (40,444) 1,892,314 - 1,851,870
Amortisation of upfront payments 2 $4RTEA 58 - 200 - 200
Acquisition of subsidiaries W R BT A 7] 3,620,922 - - 3,620,922
Distribution commitment offset IR AEGE K E (2,126) - - (2,126)
Listed expenses paid by related 2L NI
companies FmEA 6,862 - - 6,862
Issue costs accrued FESHEETTR AR 76,430 - - 76,430
Interest expenses lisk=5a - - 2,178 2,178
Settlement on acquisition WEEFRTE 2 i E
(note 23) (K15#23) (2,391,238) - - (2,391,238)
Exchange difference PE 5 =R - (4,882) - (4,882)
At 31 December 2019 2019512 A31H 1,270,406 1,887,632 2,178 3,160,216
Financing cash flows MERESRE (1,270,023) 254,506 (54,973) (1,070,490)
Amortisation of upfront payments B $HRTER{T X - 4,800 - 4,800
Interest expenses FEFMAX - - 55,182 55,182
Exchange difference M ZERE - (134,384) - (134,384)
At 31 December 2020 720205124318 383 2,012,554 2,387 2,015,324

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Other than those disclosed in note 23, the major non-cash
transaction for the period ended 31 December 2019 includes:

Unit issue costs and listing expenses amounting to
RMB35,986,000 and RMB6,862,000 for the period ended 31
December 2019 respectively, were paid by a related company

on behalf of the Group.

25. FERTERITAAS

FrBIsE23FT i BE & 4D
IHERNEZHR SR HEIE

BT o

33;;:?186 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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26. CAPITAL COMMITMENT 26. EAEIE
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020F1B1H 2019511 H15H
z S
2020512H31H 201912H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBFT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BETRERARA R E I B RE A
improvement works of investment properties STRBUREYESETIEY
contracted for but not provided in the BARREY
consolidated financial statements 15,209 8,331

27.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27. BEALTRBHIRS
TRANSACTIONS

REFFBERER - AREEEEA T M
BETHETT R OIS

During the current year and prior period, the Group entered
into the following transactions with connected and related
parties:

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
202051818 201911 A15H
z E
2020%12831H 2019F12A31H
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL BHLEE Wz ARETTT ARETTT
Rental income HEHA
Shekou TV wOBRA @&fc)
@Xk( 54 9
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (‘CM Bank’) BaRrRnEaR A= ([HBERT)) ) 5,278 322
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. BrE R REER AR AR
(‘CM Energy’) ([fEmEReR ) @ 5,330 390
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone HrEpe 0 TERERG
Holdings Co., Ltd (“CMSK") BRAR(AEea)) (@) 3,790 694
Sinotrans Shipping Limited (“Sinotrans Shipping”) B oMEY)7A B2 ]
(formerly known as “BEBEEEERAF ([homER )
China Merchants Logistics Holding Co., Ltd.") (AB[FERmREEERAR]) (@) 7,420 440
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) MEEEHEERAR
Co., Ltd. (“CM Real Estate’) ([BEEtE]) (a) 32,194 2,427

—e-eEsH AERBEERES 1872,
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27.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27.BEALTREBEIXE(Z)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

s é".-,?.

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020F1A1H 201911 A15H
2 £
2020%12831H 2019F12A31H
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BEAL BHHEE Kzt ARET T AREFL
China Merchants Investment REBREZRBRAR
Development Company Limited ([(AERRERR])
(“CM Investment Development’) (AIREDRYIm RN
(formerly known as “RY|T AR OB E EEERERAR])
%1858 A 7 China Merchants Shekou @&
Asset Management Co., Ltd.") @ke 7,857 410
China Merchants Life Insurance Company Limited BREFCMASRRINDER AT
(“CM Life Insurance’) ((BERCMASRE]) @ 1,835 9
China Merchants Commercial Property Investment JZYI[BHEREREBRAT
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (‘CMCP”) ([AEHE]) @ 11,841 705
China Merchants International RrEREREERMERAR
information Technology Co., Ltd. ([AEREER]) @&
(“CM Information Technology”) @k 3,278 200
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping FERRIAMEERDE
Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied”) (MFYIZEmRLR]) (@) 572 -
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Technology At QB FHm IR AR A7) @ &)
Co., Ltd (“Digital City Technology’) (T#FHmRHL ) @Ee) 3,260 -
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management #E#OMEER(RINERAR  (8)& ()
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (‘CM Shekou Enterprise’)  ([#B@ieOt%]) @k 361 -
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co., Ltd AYAEREBR A @é&(
(‘Shenzhen Ming Wah’) (FRYImRZE]) @ 868 -
China Merchants Xiong'an Investment RERELREERARDT @ &(c)
Development Co., Ltd (‘CM Xiong’an’) (EERHR]) @) 598 -
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd.  #EABRZEMEER AT @é&fc)
(“Minghua Shipping’) ([REMHE]) @xe 75 -
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd BN BB ER AT (@& (c)
(“Guangzhou Haishun Shipping’) ([EMEIBRTE ) @& 143 -
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd AEIESEREERAF @&
(‘Shenzhen Haishun Marine’) (DRYIBIESE]) @x() 185 -
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui Technology BRI REREER AR (@) & (c)
Co., Ltd (“Daojiahui Technology’) (BIRERE]) @&() 32 -
84,971 5,716
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27.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27.BEALTRBHEIXE(Z)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
202061818 2019511 H15H
ES E
202012831 2019512AH31H
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL LB et ARET T ARETTT
Car park income EEZINA
CM Information Technology i BB (= B R (@) & (c)
@& 33 -
CM Investment Development BREREERRE (@) & (c)
@& 79 -
Minghua Shipping RN @) 9 -
CM Real Estate BrEREmE (@) 222 9
CMCP BEEE @ 32 1
Sinotrans Shipping RINEWIR (@) 87 10
462 20
Interest income FlEHA
CM Bank BERT (h) 6,068 282
Building management fee income BFEEBNA
CMSK Bt n (@) 82 10
CM Information Technology R BRI E SR (@ &(c)
@%@ 584 18
CMCP BEEE @ 945 50
CM Investment Development BERREEE (@) & (c)
@)X« 1,192 44
CM Real Estate BrEE (a) 4,668 194
Shekou TV WwAOERAE @) 10 1
CM Bank BEET (h) 479 44
Sinotrans Shipping HINEWIR @ 1,341 70
CM Energy BrERBER (@ 1,044 70
Minghua Shipping AR (@ 6 -
Shenzhen Haishun Marine FEIEE=E @ &(c)
@) 15 -
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FEBERER (@) & (c)
@k 22 -
CM Xiong’an RERE (@) & (c)
@Xx(c) 115 -
CM Shekou Enterprise B (@) & (c)
@) 74 -
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping BN SIER (@) & (c)
@X%c) 12 -
Digital Gity Technology I E ST RIERET (@) & (c)
@XK(c) 139 -
Shenzhen Ming Wah RIIBREE (@) & (c)
@)Xk 121 -
10,849 501

—E-TEEu ARAMKERES 1894,
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27.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27.BEALTREBEIXE(Z)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020E1H1H 2019511 H15H
S z
202012831 2019F12H31H
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL BHH AR et AR%ET T ARBFT
Other income EHA
CMSK s @) - 5
cMoP HEHE @ 15 !
CM Investment Development BRERREER (@ & (c)
@x( 51 3
CM Real Estate BrEHE @ 459 26
Sinotrans Shipping FINEYDR (@) 3 5
CM Energy BrERER (@) 3 9
CM Information Technology B BB Bl @ &(c)
@x(c) 1 -
CM Bank R () 181 -
Digital City Technology TR (@ &(c)
@x(c) 2 -
715 55
Manager’s fee EEAEH
China Merchants Land Asset Management HEBEMEE
Co. Limited ARAT @) 18,074 1,361
Trustee’s remuneration FEREAF Y
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited EEEEL(ES)BRARF (b) 1,322 271
Principal valuer’s fee B ERTEF
Cushman & Wakefield Limited BERTAR AR (b) & (g)
)5 171 90
Property management expense YEEERE
Shenzhen Investment Promotion RIBEYEERE
Real Estate Management Co., Ltd ARAA]
(“SZ Investment Promotion”) FYIBE ) (@) 48,787 5,188
Operations manager’s fee EEEHE
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise B O rEER R
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd BRAT (@) 15,612 1,173
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27.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27.BEALTRBHIXE(Z)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Balances with connected and related parties are as follows: EREE A+ N EEEE T 2 aeRIAT ¢
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
2020F1H1H 2019F11815H
2 E
20205128318 2019%12A31H
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL BHHEE HizF AR¥ET T ARETFT
Amounts due from JEWL T AL B
Trade nature B5HE
CM Real Estate BraEiE (@) & (d)
@k - 1,073
CMCP BENE (@) & (d)
@%() - 602
SZ Investment Promotion wYIBE (@) & (d)
@E() 7,701 4,531
CMSK B A (@) & (d)
@%() 28 -
Non-trade nature (note f) FEE ZIEE (fEE)
Eureka s @&
@R 61,338 -
69,067 6,206
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27.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27.BEALTREBEIXE(Z)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201 A1H 2019511 H15H
ES S
2020%12831H 2019612H31H
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL BEL AR ik AR¥ET T ARETIT
Amounts due to JEFLUTALHE
Trade nature BHMHE
CM Information Technology B BB (E BRI (@) & (e)
YL 500 500
CMG HEREE (e 518 518
CM Investment Development BrERREsE @), (c) & (e)
@ - OFe) 773 345
CM Shekou Enterprise B A b (@) & (e)
PN 3,366 136
CM Energy BERER (@) & (e)
@k 1,211 1,211
Sinotrans Shipping R INEYDT (@ &(e)
@%@ 1,367 1,367
CM Life Insurance B RCMASRR (@) & (e)
@k 404 404
CM Bank HBERT () & (h)
5 (h) 1,019 1,019
Shekou TV AERS (@) & (e)
@K - 30
SZ Investment Promotion IR (@) & (e)
(a)&(e) - 1,173
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FERRER (@) &(e)
@K 127 -
Daojiahui Technology BRERER @), (c) & (e)
@ X 4 -
The Manager EEA (@) & (e)
@k 9,072 -
Non-trade nature (note f) EE SME (Hatr)
China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) Limited A& /& CEY) (a) & (9
BRAF @)L 363 352
Eureka hs @&
@km 20 40,370
Jumbo Pacific Jumbo Pacific (@) & (f)
R - 1,229,684
18,834 1,277,199
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27.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27. BEALTRBEHRIXE(Z

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201 H1H 2019511 A15H
z E
2020128318 2019612H31H
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAL BELERE sz ARBT ARETIT
Bank balance RiTHEE
CM Bank BRERT (h) 6,934 1,159,177
Deposits placed with the Group for AHE R EFYENNEE 7
the lease of the Group’s properties HEIEE
CM Information Technology B BB (E Bl (a) & (c)
@X%(c) 590 590
CMG EEREE 518 518
CMID BERREER (@ &(c)
@k 773 345
CM Energy B RagiR @) 1,211 1,211
Sinotrans Shipping RANEYITR (a) 1,367 1,367
CM Life Insurance BB MASRR (@) 404 404
CM Bank BERT (h) 1,019 1,019
Shekou TV WAERAE (@) - 30
Shenzhen Huanan Limited N ERBRAT (@) & (c)
@k 127 -
Daojiahui Technology AIRER (@) & (c)
@Xx() 4 -
6,013 5,484
Notes: Kt

(@)  These companies are the subsidiaries directly or indirectly held by CMG,
a substantial unitholder of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

(b)  These are connected party as defined in the REIT Code.
(c)  The English name is for identification purpose only.

(d)  The Group generally required amounts to be settled within 30 days after
issuance of demand note for its provision of rental and management
services to its related parties. The demand note would be issued on the
first working day of each month. The aging of the amounts are due within
one month based on the date of invoice.

(e)  The amounts due to related companies are aged within one month based
on date of invoice.

) The Group’s non-trade amounts due from/to related companies are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand or within one year.

(@ This company is the principal valuer of China Merchants Commercial
REIT. With effect from 4 December 2020, the principal valuer of China
Merchants Commercial REIT is no longer classified as Connected Person
under the REIT Code.

(h)  With effect from 4 December 2020, CM Bank is no longer classified as
connected parties under the REIT Code.

@ BERAREEREE(BERHEFTESZIR
B BHE N BERREEFENMNBAF -

b REEFAESTA ZEXISHREEAL -

€ EXEEEHRSE -

@  ANEE-REREHHRREEERERRENHER
BEHHROANGEETIA - EREXRSEAE—ET

35
EREH - BREFURMRRIZENE B P —EA
EIR

e FENEBASFENERERAEZHME—EAR -

O AEERREYRTENEEE QRIS S L SEAEIE
- R ERBERERSIR—FREE -

@ WATRABERHERTESNEMER - B20205

12A4RE - BERHEFEESNAKREMTES
REFERTRFMRENREAL -

(hy  B2020F12A48 8 BREARTTEBAETEST
BIFTARERIBEA T © :
rF
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R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EXEMmERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure it will be able to RNEBEREER  UFERH B ESER
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to g WEREBCEEREASEMFEAREE
unitholders through the optimisation of the debt and net assets EFEAESHEMNIFTA AL REALR - NE
attributable to unitholders. The Group’s overall strategy B 2 BRI AT E LA T B s e E) -
remains unchanged throughout the current year and prior
period.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which REEMEASERHBELSHBR S RNAESE
includes secured bank borrowings and non-trade nature BYHERFE(REAERRITERREN
amounts due to related companies, net of cash and cash AR EESMERE) UWENAEEES
equivalents, and net assets attributable to the unitholders of BUFBEARGEEFEH(BEERTARE
the Group, comprising issued units, other reserve and profits i ~ HtbREENRFIEDIK)
less distribution.
The Manager reviews the capital structure regularly. As part EIEATHEMEANGERE - (EAEFN—IE -
of this review, the Manager considers the cost of capital and EIEABEEEANRKAN NS EE RN EERE
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on [ - ENEIBANEESR  KEEBEBSED
recommendations of the Manager, the Group will balance its IR BITHES BN NETHENELOREGE
overall capital structure through the distributions or, issue of T P E R E AR -
new units as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption
of existing debts.
29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 20. €FTH
Categories of financial instruments SETEER
1.1.2020 15.11.2019
to to
31.12.2020 31.12.2019
20201 A1H 2019511 H15H
£ ES
2020F12A831H 2019612H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTIT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised costs B A ER e R E 426,041 1,467,931
Financial assets at FVTPL AR EEFA B2 HEE 129,514 -
Financial liabilities cRAas
Financial liabilities at amortised costs A B2 A E 2,242,498 3,252,943

5;%?194 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2020
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies, financial
assets at FVTPL (representing structured deposits), bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, distribution
payable, amounts due to related companies and secured
bank borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
certain of these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Manager
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate interest bearing bank balances,
structured deposits and bank borrowing. The Manager
considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable-rate bank balances and structured
deposits is limited due to their short maturities.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its
fixed-rate bank borrowings.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy in relation to its cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk. However, the Manager monitors interest
rate exposure on an on-going basis and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of HIBOR.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared assuming
the variable-rate interest bearing bank borrowing outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and reasonably possible change in interest rate.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower for
variable-rate interest bearing bank borrowing and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year would decrease/increase by RMB486,000.

Foreign currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the China Merchants Commercial
REIT have foreign currency denominated monetary item,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the Manager monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant currency risk should the
need arise.

2. ST E(Z

TRIEREE B FERBE
AEENTECHITIABREE SRR - &
WREHE R RIFIR ~ AR BEE ABSN S
BE(NEBLEEHR)  |RITEBLERE - BH
REMBEMNTIR - BADIK - BRI AR
HARABBERRITER - BELZFT TR T AN
HBEREMERRE - BETZEERTA
HE B 0 L g DA % A ] R 8 5 5 e o ) K SR Rt
T o B AT EEZ TR - ARERK
R B RO ERBUE & 151

WS EE

T a5z
AEETZmMYPRT SR ZRITAER - BB
UERLRITEERSREN AR - BEA
Ry R RIRITRER LSBT KA 2 HR
1o EfEAZReREMNXARBOEGR -

AEEZ A FHENEEREBETEBRITIER
B -

FEBRE T RS RATENERARERS T
5 I B 2 RIS o AT - BRAS
BERAEER  LHNEEEEEEEEA
R -

AEERSRENRRREBEFREBIRIT
FIFFE MBI -

BREDIM

ATNSRE DT THRERN RERREEER B 2%
EREEFTERITEENBFREEMRE -
MERRE BEIE A BIREF REABERA L7
Sk NERGOMEER, - I ER 2 BIER[RERE) o

HIAZ BRI R+ B 2 SBITIEEFE L F /T &
SOEEZE M A B SURIBIE  REME
N5 F g & R 4,18 A R #486,000

JC °

SNE R
BRREXERESE THEB R RRE AN
FHEMEKIRE - SAKEERINERR - K
5 B3R 5 0 S W5 STAE TSNS SR BRR - 2R
EEAGERINERR WEEARERHER
HhEAEKRR

—ToREER BERABEERES 1954
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R IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities, denominated in currencies other than
RMB at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

20. £@T R (&
SREAREERERIEE)

miE R (E)

S E R ()

REREIR - REBAARBUIMIEEST
ENEREEMEBRENEREEDT -

Assets BE

1.1.2020 15.11.2019

to to

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

20201818 20194118158

2 ES

2020F12H31H 2019F12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFTT

HKS$ BT 116,444 276,074
Liabilities af&

1.1.2020 15.11.2019

to to

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

20201818 20194118158

& E

20205128318 20195128310

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

HKS$ BT 2,153,407 181,016

United States Dollar (“USD”) ETT - 25,892

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of exchange
rate of the relevant foreign currency against RMB.
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HZE2020F12 A1 B ILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 20. TR (#Z
Financial risk management objectives and policies SREREEEERBEE)
(continued)
Market risk (continued) TSR (E)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SR ()
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% TRV AEBEBINE S HAEEE RN
increase and decrease in the relevant foreign currency BEEEEHER FFH R NFES% 2 BURE © 5% )
against the functional currency of the relevant group FEEEEMFTEYRRIERAREEENS
entities. 5% represents the reasonably possible change in IBEE) - REDMEBRIERERUINETE
foreign exchange rates if currency risk is to be assessed KRB EEIEE - WHE HIRIGREE R H)
by key management. The sensitivity analysis includes only S%MEE I - TRMIEE(BE)RTEIERH
outstanding relevant foreign currency denominated monetary G SN EREEHIFE R TN E5% R - BRE1& ) FIAY
items. The sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at EFACTBE) - EAEBEINE A RMERER 7
the year/period end for a 5% change in foreign currency 5% - YA EASEEBARNTZE -

rates. A positive (negative) number below indicates an
increase (decrease) in post-tax profit where the relevant
foreign currency weakens by 5% against RMB. For a 5%
strengthening of the relevant foreign currency against RMB,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

1.1.2020 15.11.2019

to to

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

2020F1H1H 20199118158

ES E

2020%F12H31H 2019%F12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBFIT

HK$ impact BT 101,848 (4,753)
USD impact ETHE = 1,295

—E—F

—= =
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amounts of these
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Other than concentration of credit risk on amounts due from
related companies, the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spreads over a number of
counterparties and customers.

Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of rental income receivables from
tenants. The Manager monitors their balances on an ongoing
basis. Credit evaluations are performed by the Manager
before rental agreements are entered into with tenants or
counterparties. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables individually
or based on provision matrix. In this regard, the Manager
considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Manager has applied the simplified approach in IFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. Except for credit-impaired tenants which are
assessed individually, the Manager determines the expected
credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix,
grouped by past due status.
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20. eWMIT A(#E

TREREERERBER(E)

FERRNBERNE

NS ERE PR EFRERTRENE
£ AAREEREEERAEREENZKAE
ERRREIINGEMHEIMRARANZFEEDN
AREE °

B M B 2 RSO 5 Btk LR - ARt
ENES PRI L P e
RHUFRES -

EZEWHR

B RWFABREKEP 2HE A - &2
ANSRBEZESRKTIANGES - EEAS
REBEPRXSGHFRILHERARNETEE
FHE o tbS - AREREEREEEERER -
8 5 M WRIR (AR s AR BB R )
EITRERME - Bt E - BEARRAEE
ZIEERRE AKRE -

EEACRABEBYHREERFOFRFT M
ET7E 8 5 R AR 2 IR E B BB
EEREE - RELREERENEPETE
AN - EEABBERRBEEETZE
HEWBEREEER - tiRaikesd -
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 20. &I E(&

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

As part of the credit risk management, the Manager uses
trade receivables’ aging to assess the impairment because
these trade receivables consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the tenants
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific tenant is updated.

To mitigate the risk of financial loss from default, tenants of
the rental properties are required to pay two months deposits
upon entering into leases. The Group has the right to offset
the deposits against the outstanding receivables should the
tenants default rental payments.

Tenants of the rental properties is required to settle the
demand note within 30 days. Rental is payable in advance
and interest is charged immediately on overdue balance at
the rate of 1% per day during the year/period. In addition,
the Manager is responsible for follow up action to recover
the overdue debt. The Manager also reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debtor regularly to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
debts. Based on the ECL assessment, loss allowance for
trade receivables of RMB213,000 (2019: Nil) had been
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020.

tREREEEERBEZ)

EERBRBERGE(E)
EREERREEN R BEAEREZE
WoRRERR A RE - B FE S RIGUAE
mAEAEALBARSHN/ MRS - AR
EPIREA ORFSN B FIRREES -

AT EIR L R RIBE P NIE S FHIARBE
BB R LA BBELERBZ KA
s BN AT SR EEREH AR - B/
DHETEHREREERN - NERAERTEH
FHHEEN RS -

RIHEEXEK M BIERER - BEWEZ
HPARFT ORI AMEAZEZE - HE
HPERAE - AEEEEARSEIFARER
Z FEWGRIR

HEWENBFLFEOKRRNEEEREE - F/
B - PAETELS RS - MBSt
RIS HFE1%BIEUEL o kb - EEAR
EIRETEAEEHEAER - B2 AR T
B SEERE ZEBERK 2 AT S5 -
REFEAKD Z EEERCHRERIE - B
BIEEEE &R - #iZ=2020F12H31H
IFFEERRBEFHEWEREBRBARE
213,0007C(20194F : ##) o
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Amounts due from related companies

The Manager has made periodic assessments as well as
individual assessment on recoverability based on historical
settlement records and adjusts for forward looking
information. In view of the strong financial capability of these
related parties under CMG in respect of amounts due from
related parties with gross carrying value of RMB69,067,000 as
at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB6,206,000) and considered
the future prospects of the industry in which these related
parties operate, the Manager does not consider there is a
risk of default and does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these related parties, and accordingly, no
impairment was recognised in respect of the amounts due
from related parties.

Bank balances

The Group mainly transacts with banks with high credit
ratings. The credit risk for bank balances is considered as
not material as such amount is placed in reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL on these balances
are by reference to probability of default and loss given default
by credit rating grades published by international credit rating
agencies and concluded that the expected credit losses are
insignificant and thus no impairment loss has recognised.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Manager believes that the Group will have sufficient working
capital for its future operational requirement.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities, which has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. The undiscounted amount
is calculated based on effective interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.
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TRAMASEREIFTET AR A ENF
BRAWBIEIA - THERRIBEA SR B R] 5 2R
FHRFERNERBEIRMRRSRERT
BEH - TRE/MNERASHESRE - KR
ReBHENREPRNERFNETE -
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GABERENTE
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HZE2020F12A31BILFE
29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 20. SR T A&
Financial risk management objectives and policies SREREEEERKEE)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESEM(E)
Weighted  On demand Total
average or 1-30 31-90 91-365 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate days days days years years  cash flows amount
T RER RERRS
TRE 108 31Z0R  91-365A 120 5% REEE RAEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR  AREFT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
31 December 2020 20205128318
Trade and other payables BSREMENTE = 18,070 833 12,411 14,613 23,110 69,037 69,037
Amounts due to related NG
companies T - 18,834 - - - - 18,834 18,834
Distribution payable AR - 142,073 - - - - 142,078 142,073
Bank borrowings RER
- fixed rate -E8 272 4313 8,625 30,433 1,955,077 - 2007448 1,896,625
- variable rate -2 1.59 145 291 1,392 118,143 - 119,971 115,929
183,435 9,749 53236 2,087,833 28110 2,357,363 2,242,498
31 December 2019 20195128317
Trade and other payables ERREBENTE - 16,603 3913 9,785 16,409 27,081 78,741 78,741
Amounts dlue to related JERERAT
companies B - 1207199 - - - - 1207199 1277199
Distribution payable AR - 14,371 - - - - 14,371 14,371
Bank borrowings R 275 4,357 8715 39,217 52080 190393 2008514 1,887,632
1,312,530 12,628 49,002 68698 1930967 3373825 3,262,943

T TEFR BAEARBXERELES 201

f

d
£
J'.

J/

'?rr
£
7 14

4 f




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI
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EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

29.

30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
Financial assets at FVTPL (representing structured deposits)
are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period
and the fair value measurement is categorised as level 2. The
fair value is determined by discounted cash flow where future
cash flows are estimated based on expected return.

The fair values of the other financial assets and financial
liabilities have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis.

The Manager considers that the carrying amounts of the other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank borrowings
had been secured by the Group’s investment properties
with carrying amounts of RMB5,776,000,000 (2019:
RMB5,741,000,000).

29.

30.

ST AE
SREARESEEERBEE)

EMIAZAREENE
BonBEMABZNEREE (BB ET
FORBEMRIRAABETE - MAREE
AEDBER/E M - HAKBREREENTEY
EREbE - RAEBERMBRBESREET

HibeMEENERAENRIABEIIREE
KRR RENMNAREEELETE -

EIEARR - AN G A M BHRE
mEMEHEEREBBENREEREEAR
EBERE -

AEEEF

R2020F12 A31H - AEBRIBITERDE
AREBKRBEEASARES776,000,0007T (2019
F - AR#ES5,741,000,0007T ) 8918 & 4 5 EIK
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

N BERBEERES2TENEAR

SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS

COMMERCIAL REIT

During the current year and prior period, and as at the date of
this report, the China Merchants Commercial REIT has direct
and indirect shareholdings/equity interests in the followings

subsidiaries:

A

RAFE R BERBEA RN ARE BH - 5
REEEFAESHATHBRREEER ME
AR PR KR

Place and date Shareholding/
of incorporation/ Issued and equity interest
establishment/ fully paid attributable to
registered and capital/ the Group as at
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital 31 December Principal activities
BBTR
HEMRL/ BRI/ BRER /R KREER128318
Lol NCIECT EEWEK A REHER  EERE/BREAER TEEK
2020 2019
2020 20194
% %
Directly held:
BERE
Treasure Supreme International Limited ~ BVI USD1 100 100  Investment holding
2 July 2019 1ET RERR
EBERHS
201957 H2H
Indirectly held:
BERFA -
Frontier Shekou Commercial Holdings BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited 16 April 2014 17T RERR
EBERHS
20144 F16H
Shekou Times Limited BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
23 April 2014 E REER
ERERHS
201454 F23A
Shekou Garden City Limited BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
23 April 2014 e REER
EEERHS
201454 F23H
Shekou Net Valley Technology Limited — BVI USD1 100 100  Investment holding
23 April 2014 E REER
HEERHS
201454 F23H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
EE2020F12 A1 BILFE

31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

N IBEREEEEECTEREL

|

Fﬁ!E
T
i
N—

Place and date Shareholding/
of incorporation/ Issued and equity interest
establishment/ fully paid attributable to
registered and capital/ the Group as at
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital 31 December Principal activities
2ETK
HEMRL B/ BRER R AEER12A318
Lol ENCECT HEWERAH REHER  EERE/REAER TEEK
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
% %
Indirectly held: (continued)
EERE - (&
Shekou Net Valley Technology BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
2 Limited 23 April 2014 17T RERR
HEERHS
201454 A23H
Shekon Net Valley Garden City BVI USD1 100 100 Investment holding
Cyberport Limited 23 April 2014 (E REER
HEERHS
201454 A23H
Shekou Times (Hong Kong)Limited Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
AR (EE)BRAA) 26 May 2014 AR REER
201455 H26H
Shekou Garden City (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
8 AR (BE)BRAA) 26 May 2014 ARE1T RER
2014457 26H
Shekou Net Valley Technology Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 ARET REER
W RBARHR (BB ) AR AT 0
2014%5A26H
Shekou Net Valley Technology 2 Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 AREIT REER
REARE B (EE)BR AR 0
2014954268

e
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12 A1 BILFE

31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

. FEREXETESZTEMEA

Place and date

of incorporation/

establishment/
registered and

Rl tE (&)
Shareholding/
Issued and equity interest
fully paid attributable to
capital/ the Group as at

Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital 31 December Principal activities
BETR
ML/ R, BRER M AEER12A318
KELEAE EEMAR A REHER  EERE/BRE&ER TEEK
2020 2019
2020F 2019F
% %
Indirectly held: (continued)
EERE - (B)
Shekou Net Valley Garden City Hong Kong RMB1 100 100 Investment holding
Cyberport (Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 AREATT KEER
WwORATEEREE(EE)ERAR )
201445 H26H
T O SR BLEEER AT The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
23 April 2014 AR ®2,000,0007T holding
th REREME
20144 H23H
RAYTERENEXEREREMER The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
24 April 2014 AR#2,000,0007T holding
th HEREME
20144 H248
YT RABEEEERAT The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
25 April 2014 AR H2,000,0007T holding
H HEREME
201464 H25H
MR AZHEEERER AR The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
24 April 2014 AR#2,000,0007T holding
R HEREME
20144 H248
FYTEBAEEEBRAR The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Investment properties
23 April 2014 AR#2,000,0007T holding
f HEREME
201454 H23H

“PoTEAH AEABRERES 205/,
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PERFORMANCE TABLE

AR

The period
from
For the 10 December
year ended 2019 to
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
20194
12H10H
HZE2020F 20194
12A31H 12H31H
ILEE HRfE
Net assets attributable to Unitholders ESBUIFEAEARBLEEFE
(RMB million) (AR¥EET) 3,910 3,787
Net assets per unit attributable to HeBUFAEAREEESENEEFE
Unitholders (RMB) (AR¥T) 3.47 3.36
(Equivalent to HK$) (FraET) 4.12 3.75
Highest traded unit price (HK$) e REE(ET) 3.36 3.42
Highest premium of the traded unit price to KR EBERTGES BN EEFEL
the net asset value per unit (Note i) =B (Mit) N/A N/A
Lowest traded unit price (HK$) HEXNZEEGET) 2.03 3.07
Highest discount of the traded unit price to KX BBEGES BN EEFEY
the net asset value per unit &oTiE 50.7% 18.2%
Market capitalisation (Note i) (HK$ million) & (A7) (B EET) 2,763 3,756
Units issued BETESEN 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
Annualised Provisional DPU vyield (Note iii) FEEEFES B RS R (H i)
N/A TE A 7.0% 6.1%
Notes: Hiat -
i The highest traded unit price is lower than the net asset value per unit  i. BRRREEEMR2020F12 A31 BESEHEARES
attributable to unitholders as at 31 December 2020. Accordingly, premium of ESBNZEEFE - At WESSRAREBEREESE

oA FE 2 M -

the traded unit price to the net asset value per unit has not been recorded.

MERFRNES BN TE2.45% 7T (20194F « 3.33%7T)
FACBEITESBNAE -

ii. Market capitalization is calculated based on the closing unit price of HK$2.45 i,
(2019: HK$3.33) times the unit issued as at end of the year.

FEESEMFRERERBRTES B AT HIRIIRA
1BEE A G B T{E2.45/8 T (20194F : 3.33% )51 H ©

i, The annualized net yield per unit is calculated based on the total distributable ii.
income per unit for the period and the closing unit price HK$2.45 (2019:
HK$3.33).
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

THE MANAGER

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited
Rm 26083-06, 26/F.

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3976 5300

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Huang Junlong

Executive Director
Mr. Guo Jin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Zhiliang
Ms. Liu Ning

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Hua

Mr. Lin Chen

Ms. Lau Sze Wan, Serena

RESPONSIBLE OFFICERS OF THE MANAGER
Mr. Guo Jin

Mr. Choo Chong Yao, Patrick

Mr. Zhong Ning

COMPANY SECRETARY OF THE MANAGER
Victon Secretarial Services Limited

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

B A

HERBHEERRATE
BB

T8 168-2005%
&P

BraBRRE
26182603-06%=

B 5 ¢ (852) 3976 5300
EEBACESE

EERFHTES
EIIELE
BITES

FPE A
FIITES

RTRKE
BlE it

B FTES
e

HRIEE

e e
BEAZREAER
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N GE=S e
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EEAZATWE
BEBMERBER AR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

INTERNAL AUDITOR
Ms. Chen Yan

TRUSTEE

DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited
PRINCIPAL VALUER
Cushman & Wakefield Limited
LEGAL ADVISORS
Baker & McKenzie

UNIT REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
01503

WEBSITE

www.cmcreit.com

RERERTED

HAGIERD

B e BERRHERISEIEAT
BNETLE
HEEEETARAT
&

EFKER183
B4

B E 4R o

01503

#a4k

www.cmcreit.com
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